Control and Detection of Enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli

by

Anna Marie Laidlaw

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Food Science and Technology

Department of Agricultural, Food and Nutritional Sciences University of Alberta

© Anna Marie Laidlaw, 2016

Abstract

Enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli (EHEC) is a pathogen that causes severe disease in humans and has a low infectious dose. Since foodborne EHEC outbreaks continue to be a problem worldwide, improved control and detection methods for EHEC on at-risk foods, such as spinach and beef, are essential. While new methods of control and detection may prove to be effective in broth or buffer, it is important that they are also tested in a food matrix since food systems are more complex and may lead to different results. A novel intervention method was developed to control EHEC on spinach and lettuce with a volatile antimicrobial from mustard, allyl isothiocyanate (AITC). AITC released from its precursor sinigrin in mustard meal was limited by the activity of mustard's endogenous enzyme myrosinase at 4°C. While the requirement of endogenous myrosinase in mustard meal to catalyze this reaction was known, decreased activity at refrigeration temperature was not, and made this antimicrobial intervention on produce impractical. Secondly, this work explored improving EHEC detection methods. Enrichment remains a necessary but lengthy step in pathogen detection methods and a major impediment to rapid detection. Therefore, decreases in the current validated enrichment times for EHEC detection were investigated with aim to reduce pathogen detection times. Individual lag phase of heat injured E. coli O157:H7 cells were measured to determine necessary enrichment times. However, decreasing enrichment times increased the probability of not detecting sublethally injured cells since sub-lethal cell injury significantly increased lag phases and therefore overall time to detection. Lastly, a major challenge of qPCR detection is the inability to discriminate between live and dead cells within a sample and this limitation could lead to false positive result. This is especially of importance when using this method for pathogen detection in food. The current work investigated five different detection methods to determine the

ii

concentration of viable EHEC cells on beef steaks after interventions of lactic acid, peroxyacetic acid and hot water and included 1) use of a DNA binding dye propidium monoazide (PMA) to prevent dead cell DNA amplification when used in conjunction with qPCR 2) PMA in addition to membrane emulsifying deoxycholate treatment to increase penetration of the dye and therefore increase accuracy of viable cell DNA amplification with qPCR quantification 3) mRNA and 4) rRNA qPCR quantification and 5) conventional plating. Treatment of samples with PMA and deoxycholate was reported in the literature to be successful in broth in preventing dead cell amplification in qPCR and within this research, the same treatment used within a food system confirmed these findings; however, it proved to be more complicated than in broth. While the combination treatment of PMA and deoxycholate prevented amplification of all DNA from dead cells, it also killed the sub-lethally injured cell population within samples and subsequently this rendered their DNA inaccessible for quantification in qPCR. This could lead to false negative result if the sub-lethally injured cells would have otherwise recovered and remained viable on the beef. Therefore, PMA with deoxycholate treatment requires further optimization before being considered for viable pathogen detection in qPCR. While mRNA and rRNA provided viable cell quantification in qPCR, it was more time and labor intensive and results had higher variability. Overall, conventional plating provided the most robust and reliable result for quantification of live EHEC cells on beef steaks after intervention.

Preface

This is an original work by Anna Marie Laidlaw. Supervisor Dr. Gänzle contributed to projects Chapters 2 and 3, and supervisors Dr. Yang and Dr. Gänzle contributed to projects in Chapters 4 and 5.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Dr. Michael Gänzle for the opportunity to work with him on these interesting research projects. I feel truly lucky to have had you as my PhD supervisor. For your insight, guidance, and humor that kept me laughing throughout the program: Thank you! I would like to thank Dr. Xianqin Yang who became my co-supervisor halfway through the program. Dr. Yang, thank you for giving me the invaluable experience of working in a microbiology lab at Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, for the exciting research projects, and for sharing your wisdom, providing support and always being available with quick replies. I would like to thank my committee members, Dr. Lynn McMullen and Dr. Leluo Guan for their important insight and feedback during my committee meetings, for providing me with guidance during my journey, and for being a vital source of information and support. To my colleagues in lab 2-50, it was a pleasure to work in such a supportive environment. Thank you for your kindness, support, help, and friendships. I would especially like to thank those who provided me with additional help: Petya Koleva, Fernanda Sanchez, Yuanyuao Chen, Lingxiao Zhang, Becca Duar, Janu Texiera and Katie Satchwell. I would like to thank Viterra for the mustard seed, Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada A Base Funding for project support and U of A's FSGR as well as the AFNS Department for the travel awards that allowed me to present work at the 65th annual conference of The Canadian Society of Microbiologists. Lastly, I would like to thank my family who was by my side through it all. To my knight in shining armor, Richard, who loved me, supported me and became my husband during this journey, thank you! Thank you to my sunrise and sunset, my partner in crime, and best friend forever, my little Missy. Thank you to Patches, my confidant, my shoulder to cry on, and my best friend, who always protected his family from the world outside of the backyard. To my parents, Ralph and Suzanne, for their unconditional love and support which without I would not be where I am today. Thank you for being such amazing role

models and I am beyond blessed to be your daughter. To my sister Bethany and brother-in-law Dave for cheering me on, for the love and support, for always making me laugh when I needed it, and for being my best friends: thank you!

This thesis is dedicated in cherished memory of our Missy and Patches, who were by my side throughout the 4 years of this program.

Abstract	ii
Preface	iv
Acknowledgement	v
Table of Contents	vii
List of Tables	xi
List of Figures	xii
List of Abbreviations	xiii
1. Inroduction	1
1.1 Enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli	1
1.2 Outbreaks	2
1.3 Control of EHEC on Food	3
1.4 Detection of EHEC on Food	4
1.5 Research Hypothesis and Objectives	7
2. A Review of Allyl Isothiocyanate Encompassing Food and Health: From Antimic Activity against Foodborne Pathogens and Sensory Effect on Food to Anti-Cancer Properties	robial 8
2.1 Introduction	8
2.2 Regulatory Aspects of AITC use in Food	10
2.3 Minimum Inhibitory Concentration	11
2.4 Mechanism of Action	12
2.5 AITC Intervention on Food	13
2.5.1 AITC Vapor	14
2.5.2 Liquid or Microencapsulated AITC	15
2.5.3 AITC in Food Packaging and Coatings	15
2.5.4 Mustard and Other Natural Sources of Sinigrin as a Precursor for AITC	20
2.5.5 Comparison of AITC Intervention Forms on Food	22
2.5.6 Multi-Hurdle Intervention Approach	23
2.6 Sensory Evaluation of AITC on Food	23
2.6.1 Effect of AITC on Food Flavor and Odor	24
2.6.2 Effect of AITC on Food Color	26
2.6.3 Other Sensory Effect of AITC on Food	27

Table of Contents

2.6.4 Range of AITC Concentrations on Various Food Products that correspond to	20
2.7 Stability of AITC during Storage	20
2.7 Stability of ATTC during Storage	20
2.8 Chemopreventive Properties and Health Benefits of AITC on Field	50
2.9 Balancing Preservation, Sensory and Regulation of ATTC on Food	33
3. Investigation Into a Novel Antimicrobial Intervention for the Control of EHEC and <i>Listeria</i> on Spinach and Lettuce Using Volatile AITC from Mustard	36
3.1 Introduction	36
3.2 Material and Methods	
3.2.1 Bacterial Strains and Inoculum	
3.2.2 Preparation of Filter Paper, Spinach and Lettuce	
3.2.3 Mustard Preparation	39
3.2.4 Sinigrin Extraction from Mustard and Quantification in HPLC	39
3.2.5 Use of Mustard Meal to Control Microorganisms on Spinach, Lettuce and Filter F	aper 41
3.2.6 Sampling and Microbiological Analysis of Filter Paper, Spinach and Lettuce	41
3.2.7 Data Analysis	42
3.3 Results	42
3.3.1 Sinigrin Quantification in Mustard Meal from Challenge Trials over 4 d at 4, 15 a 30°C	nd 42
3.3.2 <i>E. coli</i> O157:H7 Recovered on LB and <i>L. innocua</i> Recovered on TSA From Filter Paper Exposed to Mustard Meal at 4, 15 and 30°C over 4 d Storage	r 43
3.3.3 Total Coliforms and <i>E. coli</i> O157:H7 Recovered from Spinach and Lettuce After Exposure to Mustard Meal over 4 d at 4°C	45
3.4 Discussion	47
4. Effect of Sub-Lethal Heat Treatment on Growth and Detection of <i>E. coli</i> O157:H7 S Cells	ingle
4.1 Introduction	51
4.2 Materials and Methods	54
4.2.1 Bacterial Strains and Media	54
4.2.2 Inflicting Sub-lethal Injury to <i>E. coli</i> O157:H7 Cells By Application of Heat Treatments	54
4.2.3 Determination of Growth Curves in Spectrophotometer	55

124 Determination of Call Density in Supertranhatemater	56
4.2.4 Determination of Cell Density in Spectrophotometer	
4.2.5 Sampling of Heat and Cold Treated E. coli O157:H7 Over 24 h for qPCR Analysi	357
4.2.6 DNA Extraction and Quantification in qPCR	58
4.3 Statistical Analysis	59
4.4 Results and Discussion	59
5. Comparative Assessment of qPCR Methods to Distinguish Between Live and Dead Enterohaemorrhagic <i>Escherichia coli</i> on Meat	66
5.1 Introduction	66
5.2 Material and Methods	67
5.2.1 Preparation of Inoculum	67
5.2.2 Primers.	68
5.2.3 Preparation of Beef Steaks for Intervention and Control Samples	68
5.2.4 Lactic Acid or Peroxyacetic Acid Intervention	69
5.2.5 Hot Water Intervention	70
5.2.6 Sampling of Steaks after Intervention	70
5.2.7 PMA and Deoxycholate Treatment	71
5.2.8 Enumeration of <i>E. coli</i> O157:H7 on Beef Steaks	72
5.2.9 DNA Extraction and Quantification in qPCR	72
5.2.10 RNA Extraction and Quantification in RTqPCR	73
5.2.11 Statistical Analysis	74
5.3 Results	75
5.3.1 Quantification of E. coli O157:H7 on Beef in qPCR after Lactic Acid Intervention	75
5.3.2 Quantification of <i>E. coli</i> O157:H7 on Beef in qPCR after Peroxyacetic Acid Intervention	75
5.3.3 Quantification of <i>E</i> , coli Q157:H7 on Beef in aPCR after Hot Water Intervention	78
5.3.4 Enumeration of <i>E. coli</i> O157:H7 at 30 min on Beef Steaks After Intervention and After Treatment of Cells with PMA or PMA with Deoxycholate	70
5.4 Discussion	80
6. Conclusions and Future Direction	88
6.1 General Discussion	
6 1 1 Control	88
6 1 2 Detection	90

6.1.3 Importance of Testing Intervention Models in Food Systems unde	r Practical Storage
Conditions	
6.2 Future Direction	96
References	

List of Tables

Table 2.1. MICs of AITC against Foodborne Pathogens	. 12
Table 2.2. Use of AITC Vapor to Control Pathogens on Food	. 16
Table 2.3. Use of Liquid or Microencapsulated AITC for Control of Pathogens on Food	. 18
Table 2.4. Use of AITC in Coatings or Packaging Films to Control Pathogens on Food	. 19
Table 2.5. Sensory Evaluation of AITC in Food	. 24
Table 2.6. Instrumental Analysis (Colorimeter or Chromameter) of AITC's Effect on Food Control	olor 27
Table 2.7. Studies Documenting Anti-cancer Effect of AITC	. 32
Table 5.1. Plate Count Data in Log CFU/cm ² on LB and VRB for Enumeration of E. coli	
O157:H7 on Beef Steaks after Interventions of Lactic Acid, Peroxyacetic Acid and Hot Water	•
and after Treatment of cells with PMA or PMA with Deoxycholate	. 80

List of Figures

Figure 2.1. Different Forms of AITC Intervention on Food
Figure 3.1. Sinigrin Quantified in 10 g/L Mustard Meal Samples from Challenge Trials over 4 d Storage at 4, 15 or 30°C
Figure 3.2. (A) <i>E. coli</i> O157:H7 Recovered on LB Agar from Filter Paper exposed to 10 g/L Mustard Meal or 10 g/L Autoclaved Mustard Meal over 4d at 4 or 30°C (B) <i>L. innocua</i> Recovered on TSA from Filter Paper Exposed to Mustard over 4 d at 4, 15 or 30°C 44
Figure 3.3. Total Coliforms Recovered on VRB Agar (A) and Total Mesophilic Microorganisms Recovered on PCA (C) from Spinach, and <i>E. coli</i> O157:H7 Recovered on CTSMAC Agar (B) and Total Mesophilic Microorganisms Recovered on PCA (D) from Lettuce, Exposed to Mustard Treatment over 4 d at 4°C
Figure 4.1. Cell Counts of Heat Treated <i>E. coli</i> O157:H7 Prior to Estimated Single Cell Detection in Spectrophotometer, Plated on LB and VRB
Figure 4.2. Percent Cumulative Frequency of Estimated Single <i>E. coli</i> O157:H7 Cell Growth Detection in Spectrophotometer Every 30 min for 120 h at 25°C
Figure 4.3. Growth of (A) 1-10 or (B) 10-100 <i>E. coli</i> O157:H7 cells/mL in LB Broth After Heat or Cold Treatment over 24 h and Quantified by qPCR
Figure 5.1. Experimental Flow Chart for Each Trial
Figure 5.2. Correlation of Cell Counts on LB Agar and (A) qPCR DNA Quantification of <i>E. coli</i> O157:H7 Recovered from Beef after LA Intervention and PMA or PMA + DC Treatment or (B) qPCR RNA Quantification of <i>E. coli</i> O157:H7 Recovered from Beef after LA Intervention 76
Figure 5.3. Correlation of Cell Counts on LB Agar and (A) qPCR DNA Quantification of <i>E. coli</i> O157:H7 Recovered from Beef after PA Intervention and PMA or PMA + DC Treatment or (B) qPCR RNA Quantification of <i>E. coli</i> O157:H7 Recovered from Beef after PA Intervention 77
Figure 5.4. Correlation of Cell Counts on LB Agar and (A) qPCR DNA Quantification of <i>E. coli</i> O157:H7 Recovered from Beef after HWW Intervention and PMA or PMA + DC Treatment or (B) qPCR RNA Quantification of <i>E. coli</i> O157:H7 Recovered from Beef after HWW Intervention 79

List of Abbreviations

AITC	Allyl Isothiocyanate
CDC	Centers for Disease Control
cDNA	Complimentary Deoxyribonucleic Acid
CFU	Colony Forming Units
CTSMAC	Sorbitol MacConkey Agar with Cefixime Tellurite
DC	Deoxycholate
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic Acid
EFSA	European Food Safety Authority
EHEC	Enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli
FDA	United States Food and Drug Administration
Gb3	Globotriaosylceramide
GRAS	Generally Regarded As Safe
НС	Haemorrhagic Colitis
HPLC	High Performance Liquid Chromatography
HUS	Haemolytic Uraemic Syndrome
HW	Hot Water
LA	Lactic Acid
LB	Luria-Bertani
LCMS	Liquid Chromatography Mass Spectrometry
LD ₅₀	Lethal Dose, 50%
LEE	Locus of Enterocyte Effacement
MIC	Minimum Inhibitory Concentration
mRNA	Messenger Ribonucleic Acid
OD	Optical Density

PA	Peroxyacetic Acid
PBS	Phosphate Buffered Saline
PCA	Plate Count Agar
PMA	Propidium Monoazide
qPCR	Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction
RH	Relative Humidity
RNA	Ribonucleic Acid
rRNA	Ribosomal Ribonucleic Acid
RTE	Ready-to-eat
RTqPCR	Reverse Transcription Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction
STEC	Shiga Toxin-producing E. coli
STX	Shiga-like Toxin
TSA	Tryptic Soy Agar
TSB	Tryptic Soy Broth
USDA	United States Department of Agriculture
VRB	Violet Red Bile
WHO	World Health Organization

1. Introduction

Every year, over 33,000 foodborne illnesses occur in Canada due to shiga-toxin producing *Escherichia coli* (STEC; Thomas et al. 2013). Enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* (EHEC), a sub-group of STEC, is an important foodborne pathogen as it has a low infectious dose and causes severe disease in humans. Prevention of EHEC infection is difficult due to a broad range of sources that can contaminate our food supply. Novel interventions to eliminate EHEC on food, in addition to increased accuracy for viable EHEC detection on food, are essential to increase food safety and reduce the risk of infection.

1.1 Enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli

E. coli is a Gram negative, rod shaped, facultative anaerobe. Most strains of *E. coli* are commensal and exist as part of a healthy intestinal flora of humans and animals. Acquisition of virulence factors enables *E. coli* strains to cause disease and EHEC is a pathovar that contains *eae* genes for attachment and effacement and *stx* genes for shiga toxin production (Caprioli et al. 2005). Both are required to cause severe disease in humans including haemorrhagic colitis (HC) and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS; Bach et al. 2002; WHO 2015). EHEC's *eae* gene allows the microorganism to adhere to epithelial cells and colonize the human intestinal tract, leading to lesions and effacement of microvilli (Caprioli et al. 2005; Kaper et al. 2004). Genes responsible for lesions are found on the locus of enterocyte effacement (LEE), which is composed of 3 major regions: a type III secretion system, intimin and its receptor Tir for adhesion, and lastly, proteins for lesion formation (Delahay et al. 2001). EHEC's *stx* gene is responsible for the production of shiga-like toxins. Human receptors for this cytotoxin are on endothelial cells that express globotriaosylceramide (Gb3), which are primarily found on the renal cortex (Obrig and Karpman 2012). Their attachment to Gb3 prevents subsequent protein

synthesis causing cell death; this is the main cause of HUS and renal failure in patients (Karpman et al. 1998; Jacewicz et al. 1999).

EHEC has a very low infectious dose of only ≤ 10 cells (Willshaw et al. 1995). Initial symptoms of infection include abdominal cramps and diarrhoea, which resolves in the majority of cases within 5 to 10 d (Tarr 1995). However, infection can progress to HC characterized by severe abdominal cramps, bloody stool and colonic mucosal edema. In more severe cases, HC can develop into HUS leading to haemolytic anaemia, thrombocytopenia, acute renal failure, and death in 3-5% of cases (WHO 2015; Mele et al. 2014; Buchanan and Doyle 1997; Bach et al. 2002). Children and the elderly are most susceptible to EHEC infection, as well as the sick and immunocompromised, due to underdeveloped or weaker immune systems (Mayer et al. 2012).

There is no treatment for patients with progressed infection. Antibiotics are counterproductive and current strategies are inadequate in that they can only provide supportive care to alleviate symptoms with rehydration, blood transfusion and dialysis (Szych et al. 2014; Sockett et al. 2014). Until further notice, prevention of infection through control and detection of EHEC in our food supply is the only tool we have to reduce illness outbreaks.

1.2 Outbreaks

The primary source of EHEC is ruminants with cattle as a major reservoir, where they are able to colonize the intestinal tract without inducing disease (Naylor et al. 2003; Lim et al. 2007; Ferens and Hovde 2011; Brown et al. 1997; Doane et al. 2007; WHO 2015). In beef plants, EHEC contamination of a carcass can occur by transfer of intestinal contents during evisceration or upon removal of hide during skinning (Blagojevic et al. 2012; Ferens and Hovde 2011). Not surprisingly, raw or undercooked meat products are common sources of an EHEC outbreak

(Rangel et al. 2005; Brandt et al. 1994; Tuttle et al. 1999). In addition, EHEC is now one of the leading causes of produce outbreaks, including spinach, in the United States due to the microorganism's ability to survive outside of the host in environments such as soil and water (Ogden et al. 2001; Avery et al. 2008; Maule 2000; Olsen et al. 2002).

The consumption of contaminated food is the main route of transmission of EHEC illness outbreaks in humans (Rangel et al. 2005). It is estimated that both O157 and non O157 *E. coli* cause 33,500 cases of disease annually in Canada and an estimated 256,000 cases in the United States (Thomas et al. 2013; CDC 2015a). Furthermore, the annual cost associated with *E. coli* O157:H7 illness alone is estimated to be 26.7 and 405 million in Canada and the United States, respectively (Frenzen et al. 2005; Sockett et al. 2014). With the vast number of outbreaks and costs associated with infection, improved food safety measures are needed.

1.3 Control of EHEC on Food

Lactic acid, peroxyacetic acid, and hot water or steam application are interventions routinely used in meat packing plants to decontaminate carcasses (Gill and Landers 2003). While these interventions can reduce pathogens on food (Carlson et al. 2008), complete elimination is difficult since the food's matrix provides protection and enables survival. This creates a need for new and improved intervention methods to increase the control of pathogens on food. The use of mustard, a natural antimicrobial, could be one such method. Specifically, black and brown mustard seed contain high concentrations of the glucosinolate sinigrin (Antonious et al. 2009). When the seed's endogeneous enzyme myrosinase catalyzes the hydrolysis of sinigrin, antimicrobial allyl isothiocyanate (AITC) is released (Shofran et al. 1998; Delaquis and Mazza 1995). AITC has a broad antimicrobial spectrum with potent multi-targeted activity including membrane disruption and enzyme inhibition through interaction with amino acid residues and thiol groups (Luciano and Holley 2009; Lin et al. 2000). Furthermore, it has the ability to kill pathogens such as *E. coli* O157:H7 on a variety of food products including beef and spinach (Nadaraja et al. 2005a; Obaidat and Frank 2009a). However, use of mustard as an intervention on food is not without challenges since effective AITC release from sinigrin is influenced by factors such as storage temperature and humidity (Dai and Lim 2014). Moreover, the antimicrobial's properties also limits its use as an intervention in food: AITC's pungent aroma and spicy flavor may decrease the sensory quality of food, and its volatility makes the compound unstable in addition to causing irritation to exposed workers (Nadaraja et al. 2005b; Sekiyama et al. 1994). Further research investigating optimal conditions for mustard AITC intervention would be beneficial, since AITC is a strong antimicrobial and its use from mustard, a natural source, would provide a clean label on food products (Khan and Abourashed 2009).

1.4 Detection of EHEC on Food

In 1994, the United States Department of Agriculture declared *E. coli* O157:H7 an adulterant in raw ground beef. Six additional non-O157 EHEC strains have recently been added to this list (O26, O45, O103, O111, O121, and O145) and along with O157, there is a zero-tolerance policy for these microorganisms in non-intact beef products in the United States (Brooks et al. 2005; USDA 2012). Similarly in Canada, raw beef is prohibited to be sold if tested positive for *E. coli* O157:H7 (Health Canada 2015a). While testing for *E. coli* O157:H7 in beef is required, it is not mandatory for produce such as spinach and lettuce (FDA 2013). Needless to say, there is a need for rapid and accurate detection methods for viable EHEC in food to retain quality and ensure safety.

Culturing methods are effective in detecting viable bacterial cells in a sample. In addition, these methods are simple and cost effective; however, they are time consuming (Sidari et al.

2011). Advances in technology have lead to improved molecular methods of detection such as real time quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR). qPCR provides rapid and selective detection of microorganisms in samples, but is more complex and costly compared to conventional plating. qPCR is a commonly used detection technique for government regulatory agencies in both Canada and the United States have validated methods for EHEC detection on food that use qPCR (USDA 2015a; Health Canada 2015b; Bettelheim and Beutin 2003). Still, qPCR detection does not come without limitations. Two major barriers to successful rapid and accurate detection of EHEC by qPCR include the requirement of a lengthy enrichment step prior to analysis and the inability to distinguish between live and dead cell DNA (Wu et al. 2015). Finding solutions to these limitations would greatly increase the efficiency of qPCR pathogen detection in food.

Enrichment is a laboratory technique in which a culture or sample is added to an appropriate nutritional medium and incubated under optimal conditions (temperature, pH) that favors the growth of the culture or target microorganisms within the sample (Brehm-Stecher et al. 2009). It is an essential pre-step to pathogen detection on food: it increases low counts of target pathogen in samples, resuscitates injured or stressed cells and dilutes food inhibitors and background microflora (Dwivedi and Jaykus 2011). It is therefore often used prior to other detection methods, including conventional plating and molecular methods such as qPCR. However, its lengthy time creates a challenge with use; when coupled with rapid detection methods such as qPCR, enrichment increases overall detection time from hours to days (Brehm-Strecher et al. 2009; Ge and Meng 2009). On the other hand, enrichment can fail to detect sub-lethally injured cells if length of time is shortened, since injured cells have a longer lag phase (Li et al. 2006). Current standard enrichment time for *E. coli* O157:H7 detection in ground beef (75 g) and leafy

greens (25 g) requires 7 - 24 h to complete (Health Canada 2015b). Investigation into current enrichment time would be beneficial to determine whether these times are sufficient to detect an injured cell population, and if enrichment times could be decreased to increase speed of overall detection without risk of false negative result.

The other limitation of qPCR is that it is unable to discriminate between live and dead cells. This creates a major problem for pathogen detection on food, since it can lead to false positive result by detecting dead cell DNA within a sample (Wang et al. 2013a; Wu et al. 2015). RNA quantification in qPCR may be able to better quantify viable EHEC cells in a sample since RNA degrades rapidly upon cell death (Nocker and Camper 2009). However, RNA quantification is more complex, time consuming, and has a higher risk of sample loss due to its rapid degradation upon cell death, and therefore may not provide a practical alternative to DNA quantification. Recently, a method has been proposed to differenciate live and dead cells in qPCR by use of a DNA binding dye, propidium monoazide (PMA). PMA is a photo-inducible DNA binding dye that penetrates only into cells with compromised membranes, intercalates with DNA and upon exposure to light, forms covalent bonds with nucleic acid bases to subsequently prevent amplification (Elizaquivel et al. 2014). Unfortunately, PMA may be excluded from dead cells with intact membranes and therefore overestimation of live cells still remains an issue (Patcholewicz et al. 2013). However, PMA used in conjunction with an emulsifier, deoxycholate, can enhance PMA penetration by permeabilizing membranes of dead cells whereas viable EHEC cells have a high tolerance to bile salts due to the outer membrane (Yang et al. 2011). Investigation into this treatment may help resolve the issue of dead cell DNA amplification leading to false positive result in qPCR.

1.5 Research Hypotheses and Objectives

Effective control and detection methods for pathogens on food are critical to ensure a safe food supply and prevent human infection. Continued foodborne illness outbreaks indicate that current methods require improvement. My first hypothesis is that antimicrobial AITC released from mustard meal can be used as an intervention to control pathogens on food. My second hypothesis is that detection methods can be enhanced by a) decreasing EHEC enrichment time and b) preventing dead EHEC cell detection in qPCR.

Research aimed to meet the following objectives:

- 1. With respect to the first hypothesis, conduct a literature review to compare the effect of AITC intervention on food in relation to food sensory quality and health (Chapter 2).
- With respect to the first hypothesis, determine the efficacy of a novel AITC intervention by investigating its use as a volatile gas released from mustard meal to control EHEC on spinach and lettuce at refrigerated temperature (Chapter 3).
- 3. With respect to the second hypothesis, investigate necessary enrichment times through analysis of lag phases of heat injured individual EHEC cells with spectrophotometer measurement, and growth of heat injured EHEC cells over 24 h with qPCR quantification (Chapter 4).
- 4. With respect to the second hypothesis, evaluate five different detection methods to determine the most accurate method to quantify viable EHEC cells on beef steaks after intervention, including PMA treatment or PMA with deoxycholate treatment prior to qPCR DNA quantification, mRNA and rRNA RTqPCR quantification, and conventional plate count method (Chapter 5).

2. A Review of Allyl Isothiocyanate Encompassing Food and Health: from Antimicrobial Activity against Foodborne Pathogens and Sensory Effect on Food to Anti-cancer

Properties

2.1. Introduction

Consumers prefer a clean, all-natural label on food to foods labeled with chemical preservatives or intervention technologies such as irradiation, and industry is happy to comply with the wishes of consumers (Sloan 2014; Tiwari et al. 2009; Heath 1981; Yeung and Morris 2001). Biopreservatives such as phages and bacteriocins provide food with clean label; however, a disadvantage to their use is that they are specific to one target microorganism (USDA 2015b; Cleveland et al. 2001). Natural antimicrobials such as organic acids and essential oils also provide a clean label and have the benefit of being non-specific which enables them to target a wide range of microorganisms; however, they also interact with food matrix and can change food properties such as pH, flavor and color (Perricone et al. 2015; Lucera et al. 2012). In this case, a balance needs to be achieved between antimicrobial efficacy and sensory quality of these preservatives on food if they are to be used as a practical intervention by industry. Allyl isothiocyanate (AITC) is a compound naturally found in cruciferous vegetables and is the main compound in mustard essential oil (Shofran et al. 1998, FDA 2015a). It has antimicrobial properties and has been approved for use as a preservative in the United States and Japan (Sekiyama et al. 1994; FDA 2014a). Moreover, when AITC is used from a natural source, it does not require listing as a synthetic preservative (Khan and Abourashed 2009). However, its use comes with challenges related to volatility as well as antimicrobial efficacy and sensory quality in food. In addition, AITC is responsible for the pungent odor and spicy flavor characteristic of wasabi, horseradish and mustard which may affect sensory quality of food.

Concentrations of AITC effective in killing pathogens on some food products have also shown to have acceptable sensory quality (Table 2.2, 2.3 & 2.5). Furthermore, AITC is versatile in that it can be applied to food in various forms such as a vapor, liquid or as a natural ingredient such as mustard powder (Figure 2.1, Table 2.2 & 2.3). In addition, new forms of AITC have been developed to control volatility and increase manageability for practical use as an intervention, including packaging films, coatings, and microencapsulation (Figure 2.1, Table 2.3). Interestingly, AITC is also linked to cancer prevention, a devastating disease that kills many people (Table 2.7). The objective of this review is to discuss AITC's antimicrobial efficacy and sensory effect on food as well as AITC's anti-cancer effect.



Figure 2.1. Different forms of AITC intervention on food

2.2. Regulatory Aspects of AITC use in Food

AITC and mustard essential oil (>93% AITC) are generally regarded as safe (GRAS; FDA 2015a). However, AITC exposure can cause irritation to skin, eyes and respiratory tract, and is therefore prohibited for use in topical cosmetic products in Canada (Health Canada 2014; CDC 2015b). Furthermore, consumption of AITC (40 μ L, 0.125% AITC) can cause irritation to oral cavity (Simons et al. 2003) and may also cause gastrointestinal irritation (CDC 2015b). Although no toxicity studies are currently available for humans, the level of toxicity in mice (LD₅₀) is approximately 310 mg AITC/kg body weight (WHO 2006; EFSA 2010) and based on this data levels of AITC used in food research (Tables 2.2-2.4) are likely safe for human consumption without harmful effect. In addition, some natural plant sources of AITC such as mustard have recently been listed as an allergen (Health Canada 2012a). However, AITC and mustard essential oil likely are not allergenic as the protein that causes allergic reaction is removed during processing and only trace amounts remain (Lerback et al. 2004, EFSA 2007).

The addition of AITC to food is regulated in many countries as a preservative or flavor enhancer. AITC has been approved for use as a preservative in food systems in the United States and Japan, and approval is currently being sought after in Europe (FDA 2014a; Sekiyama et al. 1994; EFSA 2010). In the US, the amount of AITC allowed as a preservative on food is 30-50 ppm AITC or 200 μ g AITC per L air in vapor phase (FDA 2005; FDA 2014a). Though not approved as a preservative in Canada, it is used as a flavor enhancer (Health Canada 2015c). While there is no maximum amount listed when used for this purpose, use is usually limited by its pungency. The FDA states that when used as a food additive, AITC should be used in the minimal quantity required to produce the intended effect (FDA 2015b). Furthermore, AITC is already present in condiments such as mustard, wasabi, horseradish, and foods to which these condiments are an ingredient and these levels are not regulated as AITC has not been added but rather is present naturally from the hydrolysis of its precursor compound sinigrin (Delaquis and Sholberg 1997; Shofran et al. 1998). AITC released from sinigrin in plant sources used as a preservative agent would provide a clean, all-natural label on food products. On the other hand, use of AITC in food systems is regulated in any form; pure AITC and volatile mustard oil are similarly regulated due to the essential oil's high concentration of the compound; however, they are listed differently on a food label as the source, either synthetic or natural, needs to be indicated (Khan and Abourashed 2009). Consumers are becoming increasingly discriminative in their food choices leading to a demand for all-natural food products. Therefore, the use of AITC from natural plant sources as a food preservative would satisfy this request (Sloan 2014; Tiwari et al. 2009; Heath 1981).

2.3. Minimum Inhibitory Concentration

AITC's minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) against several foodborne pathogens has been investigated (Table 2.1). There is no indication that resistance differs between microorganisms as AITC has a broad antimicrobial spectrum and kills both Gram negative and Gram positive bacteria. MICs of AITC against foodborne pathogens are influenced by temperature. While MICs on Table 2.1 were carried out between 30-37°C, a reduction in temperature to 21°C reduced the MIC of *Listeria monocytogenes* from 100 to 40 mg/L and for *Salmonella* Typhimurium from 80 to 10 mg/L (Olaimat and Holley 2013). Moreover, pH also affects AITC inhibitory concentrations on pathogens. MICs on Table 2.1 were carried out at neutral pH; however, an increase in pH leads to an increase in MIC. For *Escherichia coli* O157:H7, MICs increased from 25 mg/L at pH 5.5 to 500 mg/L at pH 8.5, respectively, and for

L. monocytogenes, MIC increased from 27 mg/L at pH 5 to 100 mg/L at pH 7 (Luciano and Holley 2009; Miyague et al. 2015).

Species	MIC range (mg/L)	Reference
Escherichia coli	30-300	Luciano et al. 2009; Borges et al. 2015; Dussault et al. 2014; Kyung and Fleming 1997; Palaniappan and Holley 2010
Salmonella spp.	30-300	Olaimat and Holley 2013; Dussault et al. 2014; Palaniappan and Holley 2010; Kyung and Fleming 1997
Bacillus cereus	300	Dussault et al. 2014
Listeria monocytogenes	75-300	Olaimat and Holley 2013; Lara-Lledo et al. 2012; Borges et al. 2015; Dussault et al. 2014; Kyung and Fleming 1997; Miyague et al. 2015
Pseudomonas spp.	100-300	Borges et al. 2015; Dussault et al. 2014
Staphylococcus aureus	15-300	Borges et al. 2015; Dussault et al. 2014; Palaniappan and Holley 2010; Kyung and Fleming 1997
Campylobacter jejuni	5-200	Borges et al. 2015; Dufour et al. 2012

Table 2.1. MICs of AITC on Foodborne Pathogens

2.4. Mechanism of Action

Isothiocyanates are reactive molecules and react readily with glutathione, amino acids and proteins including sulfhydryl, alcohol and thiol groups and water; upon reaction, AITC degrades into other non-antimicrobial products (Shofran et al. 1998). Due to its high reactivity with many compounds, AITC is a non-specific antimicrobial that has multi-targeted activity with several mechanisms of action. One mode of action is enzyme inhibition due to the isothiocyanate group's interaction with amino acids and thiol groups (Lin et al. 2000a; Turgis et al. 2009;

Cejpek et al. 2000; Luciano et al. 2008). Moreover, AITC inhibits carriers in the electron transport chain, leading to loss of cell viability due to inhibition of cell respiration (Kojima and Ogawa 1971). AITC also causes cell membrane damage, due to both protein interaction as well as its oxidative activity leading to disintegration of disulfide bonds, key regulators of the homeostasis of the cell (Luciano and Holley 2009). All damage that is inflicted to a cell has yet to be fully explored; however, AITC likely interferes with various essential proteins for cell viability.

Due to AITC's non specific binding to proteins, its use in a food system can present a challenge if foods are abundant with these compounds. Rather than exerting effect on microorganisms present, AITC may bind to alternative reaction partners in the food matrix and be neutralized. This is also true for other non-specific antimicrobials such as sodium hypochlorite, a strong oxidizing agent in buffer or on hard surfaces, but when used in the presence of organic matter is inactivated (McDonnell and Russell 2009; CDC 2009).

2.5. AITC as an Intervention on Food

AITC can control pathogens on at-risk foods including meat and produce (Tables 2.2 and 2.3). However, application of the antimicrobial differs within a food system; concentrations of AITC required for antimicrobial effect vary with food composition and moreover, food matrix can protect cells and enable survival (Schirmer and Langsrud 2010). While AITC's antimicrobial action involves binding to the amino acids and proteins in microorganisms, foods that are abundant in these compounds gives AITC an alternative binding site and neutralizes its antimicrobial effect (Ohta et al. 1995). Within food systems AITC is adaptable as an intervention which allows it to be tailored to food product, with different forms including liquid, vapor, coatings and packaging films and natural plant sources (Figure 2.1). For food surfaces easily

bruised such as the tender skin or leaves of produce, AITC vapor may be the best method of application. However, in ground beef patties or sausages, mustard powder could be the best method of application since it is already used as a flavoring agent in these products and can be directly mixed into meat batter to provide antimicrobial activity throughout the product.

2.5.1. AITC Vapor

AITC is volatile and therefore can be applied in vapor form as an intervention on food. AITC is vaporized into headspace by placing a source of AITC with a food product in a closed environment. Different sources from which AITC can be volatilized include liquid solutions, beta cyclo-dextrin inclusion complexes, calcium alginate beads, desorption from deoiled brown algae or brown seaweed matrices or vapor generating films and labels (Lin et al. 2000; Piercey et al. 2012; Seo et al. 2012; Chen et al. 2013; Winther and Nielsen 2006; Siahaan et al. 2013; Siahaan et al. 2014). AITC volatilization from these sources can be hard to control and factors that influence rate of volatility include vapor pressure, temperature and humidity (Sekiyama et al. 1994).

There is a wide range of AITC vapor concentrations effective in killing pathogens on food (Table 2.2). AITC gas is more effective on produce than on meat. On spinach, concentrations as low as 4 µL AITC vapor per L headspace reduced *E. coli* O157:H7 by 4 log CFU but higher concentrations of at least 450 mg AITC gas per L headspace were required on meat for similar antimicrobial activity (Obaidat et al. 2009a; Muthukumarasamy et al. 2003). This relates to mode of action as AITC readily reacts with sulfhydryl groups of which meat has many, and produce does not. This causes AITC to become neutralized and therefore requires higher concentrations of the antimicrobial for observable effect on meat. In addition, AITC's antimicrobial effect is more pronounced on pathogens inoculated onto intact produce surfaces as opposed to cut or damaged produce surfaces, as the latter enables the food's matrix to provide increased protection from the intervention and a better attachment site for the microorganism (Obaidat and Frank 2009a, 2009b). Overall, AITC vapor activity is temperature dependant and is more lethal at higher temperatures (Seo et al. 2012, Chen and Brody 2013, Obaidat and Frank 2009a, 2009b).

2.5.2. Liquid or Microencapsulated AITC

AITC can also be applied as liquid intervention (Table 2.3). However, there are few studies on the efficacy of liquid intervention on food and of these studies, a wide range of AITC concentrations are used (2 mg/L - 9.5 mg/L) which are not always effective. Since AITC in liquid form, similar to vapor form, is highly unstable it creates challenge for practical use as an intervention. Microencapsulated AITC has been developed to overcome this limitation and has successfully reduced *E. coli* O157:H7 on dry cured hams and in beef and sausages (Table 2.3).

2.5.3. AITC in Food Packaging and Coatings

An alternative method of AITC intervention is incorporation into packaging and coatings of food (Table 2.4). Two main types of coatings for direct application to food have been developed: non edible coatings (polylactic acid-based) beneficial for non consumed surfaces of food (rinds, egg shells), and edible coatings (chitosan-based) beneficial for use on surfaces of foods that are consumed (vegetables, cooked Ready-To-Eat (RTE) shrimp). In a study comparing both types of AITC incorporated coatings, polylactic acid based coatings were slightly less effective than chitosan based coatings for reduction of pathogens on food; however, this is not surprising since chitosan also has antimicrobial activity which creates an additive effect (Jin et al. 2013). Food composition also plays a role in antimicrobial efficacy of coatings; application of 9 μ L/cm² AITC was less effective for *Salmonella* spp. reduction on egg shell than on the surface

Food	AITC	Pathogen	Initial Incompation	Antimicrobial Activity	Reference
	Concentration		Inoculation		
Lettuce	100 µL/L	S. Montevideo	8 log CFU/g	8 log CFU/g reduction in 2 d at 4°C	Lin et al. 2000b
	50 µL/L		8 log CFU/g	1 log CFU/g reduction in 2 d at 4°C	
	88 µL/L	<i>E. coli</i> O157:H7	7 log CFU/g	7 log CFU/g reduction in 2 d at 4°C (undetected)	
	$25 \ \mu L/L$		7 log CFU/g	1 log CFU/g reduction in 2 d at 4°C	
Lettuce	4 µL/L	<i>E. coli</i> O157:H7	5.8 log CFU/leaf	4.2 log CFU/leaf reduction in 4 d 4°C	Obaidat and Frank 2009a
Spinach	4 µL/L	<i>E. coli</i> O157:H7	5 log CFU/leaf	4 log CFU reduction 4 d at 4°C	
Spinach	68 mg/L	<i>E. coli</i> O157:H7	5.6 log CFU/leaf	2.6 log CFU/leaf reduction at 4°C by 5 d (85% RH)	Seo et al. 2012
Spinach	50g/L	<i>E. coli</i> O157:H7	6 log CFU/g	>5 log CFU/g reduction after 2 days at 4°C	Huang et al. 2012
Tomato (whole)	8.3 µL/L	<i>E. coli</i> O157:H7	7.8 log CFU/ site	5 log CFU/site reduction in 4 d at 4°C	Obaidat and Frank 2009b
	33.3 µL/L			>4 log CFU/site reduction in 10 d at 10°C	
				>3.5 log CFU/site reduction in 10 d at 25°C	
	8.3 µL/L	S. Enteriditis	7 log CFU/ site	>4 log CFU/site reduction in 4 d at 4°C	
	33.3 µL/L			>5 log CFU/site reduction in 7 d at 10°C	
				>2 log CFU/site reduction in 7 d at 25°C	
Tomato (whole)	125 µL/L	S. Montevideo	8.6 log CFU/g	8 log CFU/g reduction in 2 d at 13°C	Lin et al. 2000b
Tomato (whole)	40 µL/L	S. Typhimurium	N/A	>5 log CFU/g reduction in 18 h at 22°C (undetected)	Yun et al. 2013

Onion (cut)	200 µL/L	L. monocytogenes	3.5 log CFU/g	2.5 log CFU/g reduction after 10 d at 5°C	Piercey et al. 2012
Alfalfa Sprouts	200 -500 mg/L	S. Typhimurium	7.5 log CFU/g	7.5 log CFU/g reduction 4 d at 10°C (undetected)	Weissinger et al. 2001
Raw ground beef	450 mg/L	<i>E. coli</i> O157:H7	6 log CFU/g	>3 log CFU/g reduction after 21 d at 4°C	Nadaraja et al 2005a
Raw ground beef	1300 mg/L	<i>E. coli</i> O157:H7		5 log CFU reduction after 25 d at 4°C	Muthukumarasa my et al. 2003
Raw chicken breast	600 ug*/container	L. monocytogenes	4 log CFU/g	< 1 log CFU/g reduction at 4°C after 21 d (1.2 µg/h release rate)	Shin et al. 2010
	600 ug*/container	S. Typhimurium	4 log CFU/g	1 log CFU/g reduction at 4°C for 12 d (1.2 μg/h release rate)	
Raw catfish fillets	0.04 mg/L	P. aeroginosa	3.5 log CFU/g	0.8 log CFU/g reduction after 1d at 8°C	Pang et al. 2013
Cooked ham (sliced)	0.4 mg/L	L. monocytogenes	4 log CFU/g	Did not inhibit growth, no reduction at 4°C by 28 d	Chen and Brody 2013

*container size unknown

Food	AITC Concentration	Pathogen	Initial Inoculation	AITC Antimicrobial Activity	Reference
			Liquid		
Raw tuna (fatty)	50 mg/L	Vibrio para- haemolyticus	2 log CFU/mL	Growth inhibited at 37°C in 8 h	Hasegawa et al. 1999
Raw tuna (lean)				No inhibition; grew 4.5 log CFU/mL at 37°C in 8 h	
Raw egg	9.5g/L	Yersinia pestis	1 log CFU/mL	1 log CFU/mL reduction by 11 d at 4°C	Gurtler et al. 2010
Fermented cabbage	2g/L	<i>E. coli</i> O157:H7	6 log CFU/g	Inhibited growth, no reduction in 4 d at 10°C	Inatsu et al. 2005
		S. Enteriditis	6 log CFU/g	Inhibited growth, no reduction in 4 d at 10°C	
		S. aureus	6 log CFU/g	Inhibited growth, no reduction in 4 d at 10°C	
		L. monocytogenes	6 log CFU/g	Inhibited growth, no reduction in 4 d at 10°C	
		Mie	croencapsulatio	n	
Dry cured ham	0.2 mg/kg	<i>E. coli</i> O157:H7	7 log CFU/g	3.2 log CFU/g reduction in 45 d ripening	Graumann and Holley 2009
	0.3 mg/kg			5.7 log CFU/g reduction in 45d ripening	
Fermented sausage	500 mg/kg	<i>E. coli</i> O157:H7	6.5 log CFU/g	4.75 log CFU/g reduction in 28 d ripening	Chacon et al. 2006a
	750 mg/kg			6.5 log CFU/g reduction in 21 d ripening	
	1000 mg/kg			6.5 log CFU/g reduction in 16 d ripening	
Raw beef (chopped)	4980 mg/kg	<i>E. coli</i> O157:H7	8 log CFU/g	8 log CFU/g reduction,18 d,4°C	Chacon et al. 2006b
	28 28 mg/kg			3 log CFU/g reduction,18 d, 4°C	
	333 mg/kg			No reduction in 18 d at 4°C	

Table 2.3. Use of Liquid or Microencapsulated AITC for Control of Pathogens on Food

Food	Concentration	Pathogen Targeted	Initial Inoculation Level	Antimicrobial activity	Reference			
Coating (applied directly to food)								
Cantaloupe (whole)	$9 \ \mu L/cm^2$	Salmonella spp.	6.8 log CFU/cm ²	5.6 log CFU/cm ² reduction after 24 h at 10°C	Chen et al. 2012			
Raw shrimp (whole)	$\sim 3 \ \mu L/g$	L. innocua	8.2 log CFU/g	4.48 log CFU/g reduction after 2 h at room temperature	Guo et al. 2013a			
Cooked shrimp (whole)	$\sim 3 \ \mu L/g$	L. innocua	7.75 CFU/g	>5.5 log CFU/g reduction after 1 d at 4°C	Guo et al. 2013b			
Egg shell	$3 \ \mu L/ \ cm^2$	S. enterica	6.8 log CFU/cm ²	1.1 log CFU/cm ² reduction after 1 d at 22°C	Jin et al. 2013			
	$9 \ \mu L/ \ cm^2$		6.8 log CFU/cm ²	1.7 log CFU/cm ² reduction after 1 d at 22°C				
Raw chicken breast	25 μL/g†	C. jejuni	6.18 log CFU/g	3.74 log CFU/g reduction in 5 d at 4°C	Olaimat et al. 2014			
	50 µL/g†		6.18 log CFU/g	>6 log CFU/g reduction in 5 d at 4°C (not detected)				
		Packag	ing film or con	tainer				
Liquid egg albumin	0.5% AITC (coated container)	Salmonella spp.	7 log CFU/mL	7 log CFU/mL reduction after 21 d at 10°C (not detected)	Jin and Gurtler 2011			
Cooked chicken (shredded)	28% AITC (film)	<i>S</i> . Choleraesuis	5.7 log CFU/g	2.8 log CFU/g reduction in 10 d at 4°C	Dias et al. 2013			
Cooked turkey (sliced)	5% AITC* (film)	L. monocytogene s	5 log CFU/g	>4 log CFU/g reduction after 35d at 10°C	Guo et al. 2015			

Table 2.4. Use of AITC in C	Coatings or Packaging I	Films to Control Pathogens of	n Food

*coating or film contains 1.5-2% chitosan and 2% lactic, acetic and levulinic acid

 \dagger coating or film contains 0.2% K-carrageenan and 2% chitosan

of whole cantaloupe (Chen et al. 2012; Jin et al. 2013). AITC can also be incorporated into packaging films or containers (Table 2.4). Similar to coatings, packaging can be chitosan or polylactic acid based and have successfully reduced pathogens on food with incorporation of 0.5-28% AITC (Table 2.4) and AITC plays the main role in their antimicrobial activity (Guo et al. 2015). As AITC antimicrobial packaging and coatings are relatively new, further optimization on concentrations effective against target pathogens on various food matrices and under different storage conditions are warranted.

2.5.4. Mustard and Other Natural Sources of Sinigrin as a Precursor for AITC

Natural plant sources can also be used as a vector for AITC release in food interventions. Cruciferous vegetables of the plant family *Brassicaceae* including cauliflower, garlic, Brussels sprouts, collard greens and mustard naturally contain AITC in the form of a stable precursor compound, the glucosinolate sinigrin. Black, brown and Oriental mustard seed contain the highest levels of sinigrin as compared to other cruciferous vegetables, and therefore focus has been given to these species for AITC intervention in food safety systems (Antonious et al. 2009).

Within the mustard seed, volatile AITC is stabilized in the form of sinigrin. AITC production from sinigrin can occur in two ways upon disruption of the seeds tissues. When no heat treatment is applied to mustard meal (also called "hot" or "non-deheated" mustard), endogenous enzyme myrosinase within the seed catalyzes the hydrolysis of sinigrin to release the AITC. By this method, AITC is the major compound produced at neutral pH, and the only product of this reaction to have antimicrobial activity (Shofran et al. 1998; Brabban and Edwards 1995; Antonious et al. 2009). If mustard meal is subjected to heat treatment ("deheated" mustard), the plant's myrosinase enzyme is inactivated and instead, some microorganisms (including pathogens such as *E. coli* O157:H7) that contain enzymes with myrosinase-like

activity can catalyze the hydrolysis of glucosinolates to isothiocyanates. In this manner, it is hypothesized that these microorganisms unintentionally release AITC while trying to extract a glucose molecule, and in doing so, are killed (Luciano et al. 2011). Both deheated and nondeheated mustard meal have been investigated as interventions in food, and interestingly, a combination of the two may be the most lethal (Cordiero et al. 2014).

Mustard seed meal is the most investigated natural source of AITC in food safety research. Similar to pure AITC, it can be applied as intervention in different forms including AITC released from sinigrin in mustard meal as vapor, mustard meal directly added as an ingredient in food products, or mustard meal incorporation into food packaging films. Since mustard is already used in the meat industry as a binder, filler and flavoring agent, it could also be used as an antimicrobial in these same products without the need to add new ingredients as preservative agents. Direct application of mustard meal (2% -20%) as an ingredient in ground beef and dry fermented sausages has successfully reduced E. coli O157:H7 by up to 5-7 log CFU/g (Cordiero et al. 2014; Nadaraja et al. 2005a). Furthermore, mustard incorporated into packaging film successfully reduced E. coli O157:H7 and L. monocytogenes on fresh beef and RTE bologna sausages with 1300 ppm mustard sinigrin and 5% mustard, respectively, by $> 4 \log$ CFU/g (Herzallah and Holley 2015; Lara-Lledo et al. 2012). Efficacy of mustard intervention is influenced by concentration, storage time and temperature, target species and food matrix. There is some research on other natural sources of AITC for intervention on food which has included cauliflower juice, horseradish vapour and fresh garlic, all of which have shown lethal activity against foodborne pathogens (Brandi et al. 2006; Delquis and Mazza 1995; Ward et al. 1998; Al-Delaimy et al. 1971).

2.5.5. Comparison of AITC Intervention Forms on Food

AITC vapor intervention has been extensively researched and has proven efficacy in controlling pathogens on food (Table 2.2). Intervention studies with liquid AITC are few and available research suggests it does not have strong effect on pathogens in food. Liquid AITC was not able to reduce pathogens in a low pH food (kimchi), which was surprising since AITC had stronger inhibitory effect at lower pH in broth (Luciano and Holley 2009; Inatsu et al. 2005). Microencapsulated AITC is a recent development but shows promise as an effective intervention. The concentration of AITC required for effective control of pathogens on meat is dependent on whether AITC is applied to surface only or within a meat batter. This is because the latter leads to increased surface area of meat that comes into contact and possible react with the antimicrobial (such as protein amine and thiol groups), thus reducing its efficacy. AITC vapor is effective in killing surface pathogens on fresh ground beef at 450 mg/L. Microencapsulated AITC can either be added onto meat product surfaces or mixed as an ingredient into meat batter; when added onto the surface of dry cured hams, 0.3 mg/kg was effective in reducing pathogens but when added into fresh ground beef, a concentration of 333 mg/kg had no effect on pathogen reduction (Graumann and Holley 2009; Nadaraja 2005b; Chacon et al. 2006a). This suggests AITC intervention is best suited for surface decontamination of meat.

There are many influences on efficacy of AITC. Temperature plays a major role in AITC efficacy but differs with AITC form and target pathogen (Olaimat and Holley 2014). Other factors include increased pathogen survival after AITC exposure when in a nutrient rich matrix or medium, at neutral to acidic pH (Luciano and Holley 2009; Miyague et al. 2015), dry (Park et al. 2000), high fat content (Hasegawa et al. 1999), and on cut or damaged produce rather than
intact surface (Obaidat and Frank 2009a, 2009b). AITC form and concentration, food matrix, storage time and temperature, and species targeted needs to be considered for effective intervention application.

2.5.6. Multi-Hurdle Intervention Approach

AITC is also useful in a multi-hurdle intervention approach. AITC has been used in conjunction with modified active packaging (MAP) with atmospheres of 100% N₂ to 70-50% N₂ and 50-30% CO₂ to increase intervention lethality on food (Nadaraja et al. 2005a; Shin et al. 2010; Pang et al. 2013). The efficacy of AITC can also be increased when used in combination with other antimicrobials. Use of chitosan with AITC had synergistic effect against foodborne pathogens (Inatsu et al. 2005; Jin et al. 2013). Furthermore, its application in a step wise intervention successfully increased antimicrobial effect when used with chitosan coating combined with cryogenic freezing (-75°C, 2 min) and an ozone wash (1.9 ppm ozone) to reduce *L. innocua* on shrimp (Guo et al. 2013a). AITC (2 mg/L) has also increased lethality of intervention when used in combination with high hydrostatic pressure (600 MPa; Raouche et al. 2011).

2.6. Sensory Evaluation of AITC on Food

Sensory quality of food can be influenced by the application of AITC as an intervention. Though pure AITC is colorless, its oxidative properties may cause undesirable color changes to food (CDC 2015b). Furthermore, AITC has a spicy flavor and pungent aroma which can be transferred to food (Sekiyama et al. 1994). AITC has a flavor threshold of 375 ppm and if present in higher amounts than this in food, its odor and flavor can be sensed (Belitz et al. 2004). Different food products are affected differently by AITC exposure; while some foods remain unaffected, others have unacceptable changes in odor, flavor, smell, texture and color. The

changes in sensory quality of food are dependent on food composition, storage temperature, duration of exposure and AITC concentration and form (Tables 2.5 and 2.6).

2.6.1. Effect of AITC on Food Flavor and Odor

Analysis of flavor and odor changes to food with application of AITC was conducted by panelists using hedonic scales for assessment (Table 2.5). Grain products were only acceptable with minimal AITC exposure (<1 mg/L), as unacceptable changes to flavor and aroma occurred in rice and bread at higher levels (1 mg/L-2 mg/L) after only 1-2 d storage (Nielsen and Rios 2000; Kim et al. 2002). On the other hand, raw cabbage had acceptable flavor and odor with up to 50 mg/L AITC vapor after almost two weeks of storage (Banerjee et al. 2015). For mustard powder, 5-10% was acceptable in ground beef patties whereas at 20%, patties were deemed too spicy and brittle (Nadarajah et al. 2005). Liquid or microencapsulated AITC added to fermented sausages at 0.5 g/kg was slightly spicy but acceptable in flavor while levels above this (0.75-1 g/kg) were deemed unacceptable (Chacon et al. 2006b). Similarly in kimchi, acceptable flavor and odor was observed with <1 g/kg AITC; levels above this were unacceptable (Inatsu et al. 2005). Moreover, length of AITC exposure influences food sensory quality. In lightly fermented cabbage, 2 g/kg was acceptable but in kimchi (a prepared fermented cabbage dish), 2 g/kg was found to be unacceptable. While both were stored at 10°C, in the former study storage time was only 1 d and the latter, 2 weeks, and therefore time of exposure to AITC could explain the discrepancy between the two studies (Ko et al. 2012; Inatsu et al. 2005). Interestingly, other foods had improved sensory quality with increased storage time after initial AITC application because food lost pungency over time; semi-hard cheese applied with 93 mg/L AITC vapour had a strong mustard flavor and was unacceptable after 1-3 weeks, but at 12 weeks, mustard flavor had dramatically decreased and flavor was acceptable (Winther and Nielsen 2006).

Food	Form of AITC	Concentration	Sensory Quality	References			
Trained Panelists							
Cabbage (shredded)	Vapor	5-50 mg/L	Acceptable taste, texture and aroma after 12 d at 10°C	Banerjee et al. 2015			
		100 mg/L	Acceptable taste and texture, unacceptable aroma after 12 d at 10°C				
Lightly fermented cabbage	Liquid	2 g/kg	Acceptable color, taste, texture and odor after 1 d at 10°C	Inatsu et al. 2005			
Kimchi	Microen- capsulated	≤1 g/kg	Acceptable taste and odor after 15 d at 4 or 10°C	Ko et al. 2012			
		1.5-2 g/kg	Unacceptable odor and taste after 15 d at 4 or 10°C				
Rice	Vapor	2 mg/L	Unacceptable odor after 12 h and taste after 2 d at $10^{\circ}C$	Kim et al. 2002			
			Untrained Panelists				
Cooked ground beef	Mustard Flour	5-10%	Acceptable level of spiciness	Nadarajah et al. 2005b			
		20%	Unacceptable level of spiciness and texture (too brittle)				
Fermented sausage	Microen- capsulated	0.5g/kg	Acceptable level of spiciness	Chacon et al. 2006a			
		0.75-1 g/kg	Unacceptable level of spiciness				
Rye bread	Vapor	<1 mg/L	Acceptable aroma and taste after 1 d at room temperature	Nielsen and Rios 2000			
		2.4 mg/L	Unacceptable flavor and aroma after 1 d at room temperature				

 Table 2.5. Sensory Evaluation of AITC in Food

2.6.2. Effect of AITC on Food Color

Hot dog

bread

Color changes after AITC application to food has been assessed by use of a colorimeter or chromameter (Table 2.6). No observable color changes occurred on rice with 1-2 mg/L AITC vapor. On dark meat such as beef, mustard powder has little influence on color change but on a light colored meat such as pork, slight yellowing is observed with 2% mustard and was still acceptable (Saleemi et al. 1993). At 300 µg/container, pure AITC vapor did not affect the color of raw chicken breast but at 600 µg AITC, the surface became discolored (Shin et al. 2010). Color changes were also observed on produce where 30 mg/L to 25 g/L (2.5%) AITC vapor caused spinach to turn brown within 4-8 d, and browning was accelerated with increased concentrations of AITC and temperatures (Obaidat and Frank 2009a; Huang et al. 2012). However, on raw cabbage the opposite trend was observed. Higher concentrations of AITC (50-100 mg/L) prevented blackening of raw cabbage edges compared to low concentrations (5-10 mg/L) or untreated controls (Banerjee et al. 2015). Furthermore, AITC application can also cause loss of color to produce, as 40 mg/L AITC was observed to reduce redness of tomatoes (Yun et al. 2013). AITC effect on color differs greatly depending on food composition, AITC concentration and storage time and temperature.

Food	Form	Concentration	Effect on Food Color	Reference
	AITC			
Cabbage (shredded)	Liquid	1 mL/L	No color change after 5 d at 10°C	Hamanaka and Izumi 2008
Cucumber (sliced)			No color change after 5 d at 10°C	
Cabbage (shredded)	Vapor	5-10 μL/L	Discoloration (blackening of edges) by 12 d at 10°C	Banerjee et al. 2015
	Vapor	50-100 µL/L	No color change by 12 d 10°C	
Tomatoes (whole)	Vapor	40 mg/L	Discoloration (reduced redness) after 21 d at 10°C	Yun et al. 2013
Raw chicken breast	Vapor	302 µg/container*	No color change after 21 d at 4°C	Shin et al. 2010
		604 μg/container*	Discoloration (yellowish green) after 18 d at 4°C	
Cured ground pork	Mustard Powder	2%	No adverse effect on color after 20 d at 4°C (slight yellowing)	Saleemi et al. 1993
Cooked ground pork			No adverse effect on color after 20 d at 4°C (slight yellowing)	

Table 2.6. Instrumental Analysi	s (Colorimeter or Chromameter)) of AITC's Effect on Food Color
		,

*container size unknown

2.6.3. Other Sensory Effect of AITC on Food

In addition to flavor, odor and color changes to food, other effects to food after AITC application have been observed. AITC concentrations of 50-500 mg/L greatly reduced quality of alfalfa seeds by decreasing seed viability and preventing germination (Park et al. 2000; Weissinger et al. 2001). AITC application can also cause loss of nutrients and phytochemicals in produce, such as vitamin C and lycopene in tomatoes (Yun et al. 2013). In addition, AITC intervention can influence texture; it caused undesired softening of tomatoes (AITC vapour; Yun et al. 2013) and brittleness in ground beef patties (mustard powder; Nadaraja et al. 2005a) while on the other hand, improved the texture of kimchi (microencapsulated AITC; Ko et al. 2012).

2.6.4. Range of AITC Concentrations on Various Food Products with Acceptable or Unacceptable Sensory Quality Changes

Up to five percent mustard powder or 500 mg/kg pure AITC added to meat has no adverse effect on sensory quality (Saleemi et al. 1993, Nadaraja et al. 2005b, Chacon et al. 2006a). Produce has a range of acceptable limits depending on the plant. AITC vapor of 50 mg/L is acceptable on cabbage; levels above this cause adverse effect on flavor and aroma, whereas levels below this cause adverse effect on color (Banerjee et al. 2015). In kimchi, <1 g/kg liquid AITC is acceptable without adverse sensory effect (Ko et al. 2012). On tomatoes and spinach, under 30-40 mg/L AITC vapor should be used to prevent adverse color changes during storage (Yun et al. 2013). Lastly, AITC should not be used on grain products such as bread and rice since even though there was no significant difference in color after storage, they had unacceptable flavor and odor with only 1-2 mg/L AITC (Nielsen and Rios 2000; Kim et al. 2002).

2.7. Stability of AITC during Storage

The stability of AITC has been investigated to determine influences such as storage time and temperature, humidity and effect of medium or food matrix. Pure AITC (99.9%) is stable when stored alone. After 1 year of storage, almost 96% of the compound remained at refrigerated temperature, and surprisingly 88% remained at an elevated temperature of 60°C (Sekiyama et al. 1994). These same authors observed an increased stability when headspace was replaced with nitrogen and the sample was kept out of direct sunlight. In contrast, the half life of AITC in

aqueous solution was shortened to 31 d at room temperature, and was further decreased to 22 d when the pH of the aqueous solution was increased to 9 (Tsao et al. 2000). Others have observed even faster decomposition in water with an 87% decrease after 22 d at room temperature (Li et al. 2015). In broth, degradation was ten times faster with the same degradations after only 2 d (Olaimat and Holley 2013). This is because in aqueous solution, AITC can decompose due to the nucleophillic attack of water molecules and hydroxide ions on its isothiocyanate group (Cejpek et al. 2000). In comparison, AITC can be stabilized under the same storage conditions and time (room temperature, 21 d) with nanoparticles composed of zein and caseinate, where only a 20% decrease in AITC from original concentration was observed (Li et al. 2015). This prevented AITC degradation 67% when compared to storage in water alone. AITC is also miscible in ethanol and when stored together for 2 weeks at just above room temperature (28°C), it decreased by 10% from original concentration and therefore provided more stability than water. AITC is also fat soluble as it is a component of the essential oil of mustard. The stability of AITC for long-term storage was analyzed in two different oil-in-water emulsions, a saturated fat (medium chain triglyceride) and an unsaturated fat (soybean oil; Liu and Yang 2010). Increasing concentrations of oil (10-30%) further stabilized AITC and in addition, was more stable in saturated fat than unsaturated fat. This is because the latter is susceptible to oxidation, producing hydroperoxides and free radicals that can accelerate the rate of AITC decomposition (Liu and Yang 2010). Understanding what factors influence AITC degradation are important to prevent decomposition during intervention application and storage. Overall, AITC is therefore more stable in saturated fat emulsions than aqueous or ethanol solutions and in lower pH mediums; however, is most stable when stored alone at low temperature in nitrogen replaced headspace and out of direct sunlight.

Not surprisingly, AITC stability becomes more complicated in a food system. Since fat stabilizes AITC, it is not surprising that creamy wasabi (mayonnaise or tartar) or creamy horseradish sauces had significantly less AITC decomposition throughout storage than noncreamy, tomato-based sauce. A 2 and 11% loss was observed at 2 months for mayonnaise or tartar sauce, respectively, compared to 90% loss at 1 month for the tomato-based sauce (Sultana et al. 2009). Temperature also influences compound stability in creamy foods with 62% further degradation of AITC when stored at 18°C as compared to 2°C (Kosson et al. 2009). AITC stability in food during processes such as cooking has yet to be investigated. However, when pure AITC was subjected to temperatures of 160, 170 and 180°C, the compound decreased to 97.4%, 93.9% and 71.2%, respectively, after 16 h (Sekiyama et al. 1994). Though this was not conducted in food, it suggests that high temperatures possibly used in cooking or processing do not immediately or completely decompose AITC. Further research on the stability of AITC in different foods, and residual amounts remaining after processing or cooking is warranted.

2.8. Chemopreventive Properties and Health Benefits of AITC

Intake of cruciferous vegetables has been linked to multiple health benefits, with AITC identified as a compound that contributes to these benefits. One of the most researched health benefits of AITC is cancer prevention. There are meta-analyses available for anti-cancer effects of cruciferous vegetable intake, and *in vivo* animal model studies indicate the amount of AITC needed for this effect (Table 2.7). Meta- analyses suggest 4 or more servings of raw cruciferous vegetables per week can significantly reduce the risk of bladder (Liu et al. 2013a) and kidney cancer in humans (Liu et al. 2013b); however, the amount of AITC related to this intake for anti-cancer effect was not calculated and could be beneficial as a comparison to *in vivo* animal studies available on the anti-cancer effects of AITC. As 1 serving of vegetables is approximately ½ cup

or 75 g (Health Canada 2007), this information can be used to calculate the range of AITC provided by raw cruciferous vegetables in 4 servings (300 g) per week from the meta-analyses. It is important to note that the concentration of AITC's precursor compound, sinigrin, varies in different vegetables and moreover, that the subsequent release of AITC from sinigrin can also fluctuate and this makes it difficult to determine the actual amount of AITC available to the body from cruciferous vegetable consumption. AITC production depends on efficacy of myrosinase's ability to catalyze the hydrolysis of sinigrin upon mastication of the plant, as this is where the majority of AITC is released (pH of mouth 6.2-7.2). Furthermore, sinigrin not yet converted in the mouth can be catalyzed by gut by enzymes produced by the microbiota to produce AITC (Krul et al. 2002). AITC released from these methods has high bioavailability (90%) and is absorbed in the small intestine. From calculated sinigrin levels, the potential amount of AITC released from a variety of raw vegetables is as follows: Brussels sprouts 0.87 mg/g, cauliflower 0.92 mg/g, cabbage 0.77 mg/g, kale 1.03 mg/g, wasabi 2.9 mg/g, and in black and brown mustard up to 2.6 - 3.5 mg/g (Kushad et al. 1999; Olivier et al. 1999; Sultana et al. 2002). Therefore, a rough estimate of AITC through the consumption of 1 serving or 75 g of the aforementioned vegetables ranges from 56-263 mg AITC per g of vegetable; if consumed four times per week, an estimated 224 -1052 mg AITC could be provided from 4 servings of raw cruciferous vegetables. Therefore, this amount of AITC corresponds to a reduction in cancer risk from the meta-analyses. In addition, it also satisfies AITC levels administered in in vivo animal studies for anti-cancer effects (1 mg/kg/day). In comparison, 4 servings per week leads to an average range of 32-150 mg AITC/day and since CDC estimates that the average weight of a man and a woman in the US to be 89 kg and 75 kg (CDC 2012), respectively, this amount of AITC translates to an average range of 0.35-1.68 and 0.43-2 mg/kg/day for men and women,

respectively. This concentration of AITC also remains below amounts shown to have adverse effect in mice (EFSA 2010).

In vitro studies show a common mechanism of action of AITC against different types of cancer cells including brain, prostate, colorectal, liver, breast and bladder: cells arrest in G₂M phase and inducing apoptosis (Tsai et al. 2012; Bhattacharya et al. 2010;

Cancer	Concentration	Anti-cancer Effect	Reference					
Meta-analysis (human)								
Kidney	~ 4+ servings cruciferous vegetables/week	Significant decrease in renal cell carcinoma risk	Liu et al. 2013a					
Bladder	~ 4+ servings cruciferous vegetables/week	Significant decrease in bladder cancer risk	Liu et al. 2013b					
	In	vivo study (animal)						
Lung	1.1 mg/kg/day/10 d	Inhibited tumor formation, no effect on developed tumors	Manesh and Kuttan 2003					
Colorectal	1 mg/L, 3x per week/26 d	Reduced tumor volume and weight	Lau et al. 2010					
Prostate	1 mg/L, 3x per week/28 d	Inhibited tumor growth	Srivastava et al. 2003					
Bladder	1 mg/kg/day/21 d	Inhibited tumor formation and muscle invasion	Bhattachar ya et al. 2010					

Table 2.7. Studies Documenting Anti-Cancer Effect of AITC

Hwang and Lee 2006; Lau et al. 2010; Xiao et al. 2003; Chen et al. 2010). The range of AITC concentrations at which this has been observed is 0.1-10 mg/L AITC for 24 h. Interestingly, viability of healthy human prostate cells are minimally affected by levels of AITC that are highly

toxic to cancerous human prostate cells (10-40 μ M AITC), which makes AITC a promising anticancer agent (Xiao et al. 2003). In addition to anti-cancer effects (Manesh et al. 2003), other health benefits of AITC have been proposed including a significant reduction in angiogenesis in acute colitis (Davaatseren et al. 2014), inflammation (Wagner et al. 2012), hyperglycemia (Mori et al. 2013), improvement in immune system and neurological disorders (Xiang et al. 2012), and inhibition of platelet aggregation (Kumagai et al. 1994; Lee et al. 2014) as well as improvement of insulin resistance (Ahn et al. 2014).

2.9. Balancing Preservation, Sensory and Regulation of AITC on Food

AITC is a dose-dependent intervention; not surprisingly, higher AITC concentrations prove to have stronger antimicrobial activity against pathogens on food (Obaidat and Frank 2009a, 2009b). However, higher concentrations of AITC may also cause adverse effects to food's sensory quality. Therefore, a balance needs to be achieved between effective control of pathogens on food and acceptable sensory quality of food for the development of practical use of AITC as an intervention method.

In relation to MICs of foodborne pathogens, that ranges from 5 to upwards of 300 ppm, flavor threshold of AITC is 375 ppm. Therefore, it is possible to find a range of AITC concentrations that do not influence food flavor and are effective for pathogen control (Table 2.1; Belitz et al. 2004). However, as MICs are performed in buffer, some foods may require higher concentrations above the flavor threshold. When this is the case, it does not become a question of whether you can sense AITC in food, but rather if it is acceptable on the specified food product. AITC's flavor has been found acceptable in sausages and beef patties which is not surprising as mustard containing AITC is already used as a flavoring agent in these products (Chacon et al. 2006a; Nadaraja et al. 2005 b), in prepared cabbage dishes such as kimchi where this compound is already present in the cruciferous vegetable (Ko et al. 2012; Inatsu et al. 2005) but has been found not acceptable in products that do not normally use this compound as a flavoring agent and is not already present naturally, which includes grain products such as bread and rice (Kim et al. 2002; Nielsen and Rios 2000). On produce, concentrations of AITC required to reduce pathogens are lower than the flavor threshold and therefore may be used without adverse flavors (Table 2.2).

AITC intervention is effective against pathogens on produce at concentrations allowed on food for use as a preservative in the United States. However, in comminuted meat products, 10-100 times more AITC is required for effective control of pathogens although this concentration of AITC was found to have acceptable sensory quality, it is not in the range of AITC levels allowed for use as a preservative on food (FDA 2005, Chacon et al. 2006a; Nadaraja et al. 2005 b). Concentrations of AITC within FDA allowable levels have been successfully applied to the surface of intact or whole muscle meat products (Graumann and Holley 2009). Alternatively, mustard powder could be used as a natural source of AITC for preserving food. It would be a practical intervention in meat as it is already used as a flavoring agent in meat products. Moreover, mustard is not regulated as a preservative since AITC is in the form of its precursor sinigrin, which would render it in compliance with the regulatory authority. Overall, this makes mustard a more suitable candidate for intervention on meat than pure AITC. At 5% mustard powder, ground beef patties are acceptable in spiciness, color and texture while having effective lethal activity against pathogens (Nadaraja et al. 2005a).

On produce, concentrations of pure AITC in compliance with allowable levels are also able to control pathogens, as well as retain acceptable sensory quality. On cabbage, 50 ppm can be used for intervention while still remaining acceptable in sensory quality and also prevents

blackening of leaves. On spinach and tomatoes, <30 mg/L AITC is an effective intervention concentration that avoids adverse color change during storage which may occur on these foods with higher concentrations of AITC (Banjeree et al. 2015; Yun et al. 2013; Obaidat and Frank 2009b). AITC may not be suitable for grain products as only minimal levels (<1 mg/L) can be applied without adversely affecting sensory quality, but this level does not prevent fungal (3.5 mg/L) or pathogen growth (Table 2.2; Nielsen and Rios 2000).

AITC is a powerful antimicrobial that can control both Gram negative and Gram positive pathogens on a variety of food products at concentrations that do not affect sensory quality. However, AITC needs to be tailored to the food product as efficacy depends on storage time and temperature, microbial species targeted, AITC form and concentration, as well as food matrix, water activity and pH. More research is needed for AITC intervention on food at levels regulated by governing authorities. However, AITC used in combination with other intervention hurdles may increase antimicrobial effect while decreasing the amount of AITC applied, to be in compliance with allowed levels. Natural sources of AITC intervention are also an attractive alternative to pure AITC intervention, since they provide a clean, all natural label on food as opposed to a chemical preservative. However, if AITC produced from sinigrin hydrolysis from a natural plant source is to be used as intervention, one needs to master the art of releasing AITC from its precursor which may present another challenge in itself. In sum, AITC intervention has the potential to reduce the risk of foodborne illness and furthermore, AITC consumed in the diet from raw cruciferous vegetables can reduce the risk of one of the world's most devastating diseases, cancer.

3. Investigation Into A Novel Antimicrobial Intervention For The Control Of EHEC And *Listeria* On Spinach And Lettuce Using Volatile AITC From Mustard

3.1. Introduction

Plants of the family *Brassicaceae*, including mustard, cabbage, cauliflower and Brussels sprouts, contain the secondary plant metabolites glucosinolates that are as precursors to antimicrobial isothiocyanates (Shofran et al. 1998; Nielsen and Rios 2000). In brown mustard seed (Brassica juncea) the dominant glucosinolate is sinigrin, a stable precursor to volatile allyl isothiocyanate (AITC) (Zrybko et al. 1997; Zasada and Ferris 2004; Cools and Terry 2012, Brabban and Edwards 1994; Antonious et al. 2009; Delaguis and Mazza 1995). Sinigrin hydrolysis is catalyzed by the plant enzyme myrosinase. Disruption of the plant's tissues provides access of myrosinase to the substrate, resulting in sinigrin hydrolysis and release of AITC (Delaquis and Mazza 1995; Shofran et al. 1998). This reaction acts as the plant's defence system against invading insects and microorganisms, and may serve as natural antimicrobial in food protection. AITC has a broad antimicrobial spectrum and studies have shown that AITC can kill a variety of foodborne pathogens including E. coli O157:H7 and L. monocytogenes (Delaquis and Sholberg 1997; Rhee et al. 2003; Luciano and Holley 2009). AITC's antimicrobial action is due to the isothiocyanate group (-N=C=S), which binds to amino acids and proteins, leading to enzyme inhibition, cell membrane damage, and leakage of cell contents (Luciano and Holley 2009; Lin et al. 2000a; Turgis et al. 2009).

Pure volatilized AITC successfully inhibits the growth of pathogens on food (Park et al. 2000; Obaidat and Frank 2009a, 2009b; Piercey et al. 2012). However, AITC is unstable, toxic, and highly volatile, making it difficult to manage. Various forms of AITC may increase its manageability for use as an antimicrobial in food preservation, one such way is by use of

mustard meal. Within the meal, the antimicrobial remains in the form of its stable precursor sinigrin until water is present and it is released as a vapor to the surrounding headspace. Another added benefit of using sinigrin as a precursor to AITC release in a mustard meal intervention is that it allows for a clean label on food rather than listing it as a chemical preservative, as required with pure synthetic AITC (Khan and Abourashed 2009). Mustard meal is often used as a flavoring agent, binder or filler in meat products and has been successfully applied as an antimicrobial agent to reduce *E. coli* O157:H7 when added as an ingredient in dry fermented sausage batter and ground beef patties (Cordiero et al. 2014; Nadaraja et al. 2005a). To my knowledge, little has been researched on a system wherein AITC first remains in the form of sinigrin in mustard meal to be later released as a gaseous antimicrobial in headspace for the control of pathogens on food.

Consumption of contaminated fresh produce, including spinach and lettuce, is one of the leading causes of EHEC outbreaks and is also a cause of listeriosis outbreaks in recent years (CDC 2016). EHEC is an important pathogen as it has the ability to cause severe disease in humans at only 10 cells or less (Kiranmayi et al. 2010; Willshaw et al. 1994). Symptoms of EHEC infection include bloody diarrhoea, abdominal cramping, and in severe cases can lead to haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS) and in 0.5% of cases, death (Rangel et al. 2005). In comparison, *Listeria* is a foodborne pathogen with a higher infectious dose of 10⁶ cells, however it also has a much higher mortality rate of up to 21% of cases (PHAC 2012; Garner and Kathariou 2016). Symptoms of listeriosis include fever, muscle aches, and nausea which may be followed by meningitis encephalitis and/or septicaemia, either of which can cause death (CDC 2015c). New methods of intervention are essential to increase the safety of at-risk food products and protect consumers from potentially fatal outcomes due to infection from these pathogens.

Therefore, the objective of this study is to investigate a novel method of antimicrobial intervention to eliminate EHEC and *Listeria* on the surfaces of spinach and lettuce leaves by use of volatile AITC from mustard meal.

3.2. Material and Methods

3.2.1. Bacterial Strains and Inoculum

A 5 strain cocktail of shiga toxin negative *E. coli* O157:H7 (02-0628, 02-1840, 02-0304, 02-0627, 00-3581; Luciano et al. 2011) was prepared by growing individual strains overnight in Luria-Bertani broth (LB; Oxoid, Missisauga, Ontario, Canada) at 37°C and 250 rpm, and combining them the next day. *L. innocua* (ATCC 33090) was used as a model organism for the foodborne pathogen *L. monocytogenes* and prepared by growing the strain overnight in Tryptic Soy Broth (TSB; Oxoid) at 37°C. One hundred microlitres of each culture was spot inoculated onto separate surfaces of filter paper, spinach or lettuce leaves and dried for 30 min to allow for attachment of bacteria to surfaces.

3.2.2. Preparation of Filter Paper, Spinach and Lettuce

Bagged spinach leaves were purchased from a local grocery store in Edmonton, AB and stored at 4°C until use, within 24 h of purchase. Individual leaves were removed from the bag and cut into 2.0 ± 0.5 cm x 2.0 ± 0.5 cm squares using a sterile scalpel. Likewise, iceburg lettuce was purchased from a local grocery store in Edmonton, AB. The outer plastic was removed from the head of lettuce and outer leaves were removed and discarded. The interior leaves were cut into 2.0 ± 0.5 cm x 2.0 ± 0.5 cm squares using a sterile surgical knife. Leaf samples were used in 4°C temperature trials only since wilting was observed in elevated temperature trials and therefore was impractical to use. Filter paper (Whatmar; Sigma-Aldrich, Mississauga, Ontario,

Canada) was used in place of leaves in trials at elevated temperatures. Filter paper was autoclaved (120 min for 121°C) and cut to the same dimensions as leaves with a sterile scalpel.

3.2.3. Mustard Preparation

Brown mustard seed (*B. juncea*; Viterra, Lethbridge, Alberta, Canada) used for active AITC treatment was crushed by mortar and pestle into a meal. The mustard meal was weighed to 0.5 g meal per 50 mL of air of petri dish volume on an analytical scale, corresponding to10 g meal per litre of air (10g/L). Either canola meal or autoclaved brown mustard meal served as negative control; canola seed does not contain sinigrin as the dominant glucosinolate (Szmigielska et al. 2000) and the high temperature of the autoclave inactivated myrosinase, preventing the production of AITC from sinigrin. Canola meal (10 g/L) and autoclaved mustard meal (10 g/L) was prepared in the same manner as described above; however, before weighing autoclaved mustard, the dry meal was spread in a thin layer between two sheets of aluminum foil and autoclaved for 120 min at 121°C to inactivate myrosinase.

3.2.4. Sinigrin Extraction from Mustard and Quantification in HPLC

Sinigrin was extracted from mustard meal used in challenge trials (n=6 for 4°C trials; n=2 each for 15 & 30°C trials) with a simple extraction technique adapted from methods previously described (Cataldi et al. 2007). Briefly, mustard meal from challenge trials were each added to separate 15 mL centrifuge tubes, sealed, and placed in a water bath at 80°C for 10 min to inactivate myrosinase. Five mL of boiling water:methanol (90:10) was added to the tube and held for 20 min at 80°C, followed by centrifugation. A lower temperature was used to inactivate the enzyme than in section 3.2.3 (for the entire batch of autoclaved mustard meal) as the mustard meal was divided into smaller portions in tubes (0.5 g) from the challenge trials and wet heat was applied allowing for more efficient inactivation. Supernatant was kept and extraction was

repeated again with the pellet, and supernatants were combined and freeze dried. Glucotropaeolin (LGC, Manchester, New Hampshire, USA) was used as an internal standard to determine extraction efficiency (87%). Sinigrin was separated from crude extract, identified and quantified on a 1200 series high performance liquid chromatography unit (HPLC; Agilent Technologies, Palo Alto, California, USA) coupled to a 4000 QTRAP LC-MS/MS System (MDS SCIEX-Applied Biosystems, Streetsville, Ontario, Canada) adapted from methods previously described (Cataldi et al. 2007, Skutlarek et al. 2004). Sinigrin was separated on a Luna C18 RP-HPLC column (5 µm, 250 x 4.6 mm, Phenomenex, Torrance, California, USA) and eluted at 0.5 mL per min with mobile phases water (Eluent A) and methanol (Eluent B) both containing 15 mM ammonium formate. Mobile phases were run on a gradient of 1 min, 95% A; 12 min, 70% A; 18 min, 95% A. Sinigrin was identified and quantified with multiple reaction monitoring scan mode (MRM). LC-MS/MS was operated in negative ESI mode using manual optimization of parameters as follows: 358 mass-to-charge ratio (m/z; precursor ion) \rightarrow 97 & 195 m/z (product ions); Ion spray voltage, -4,500 V; Temperature, 550; Declustering potential DP, -70 V; Collision energy CE, -28 V; Collision cell exit potential CXP, -15 V, retention time, 6 min. A sinigrin standard (99% pure; Sigma-Aldrich) was used as a reference and to create a calibration curve within range of samples, and sinigrin in samples was quantified using Agilent Quantification Wizard software (Agilent Technologies). Sinigrin concentrations in mustard meal were quantified to determine the maximum amount of AITC released into the headspace of the petri dish during challenge trials, since sinigrin is a stable compound easily quantified in HPLC. Furthermore, AITC is the main compound produced at neutral pH from the hydrolysis of sinigrin and has antimicrobial activity, therefore lethal effect would be attributed to the release of this compound (Shofran et al. 1998).

3.2.5. Use of Mustard Meal to Control Microorganisms on Spinach, Lettuce and Filter Paper

A sterile 50 mL plastic petri dish was divided into 3 areas, wherein an inoculated paper or leaf was placed in one area, mustard treatment in a sterile weigh boat in a second, and a sterile cotton ball (moistened with 1 mL sterile Milli-Q water) in a third. All 3 sections were kept separated to avoid contact. Mustard treatments included 10 g/L mustard meal, 0 g/L mustard meal negative control and 10 g/L autoclaved mustard meal or canola meal negative control, with a sterile cheese cloth placed on top of meal in the weigh boat to prevent meal particles from escaping into the other sections of the petri dish. Petri dishes were sealed with parafilm to create a closed system. Samples were stored at 4, 15 and 30°C for up to 4 d. For spinach and lettuce trials, all samples were also plated on Plate Count Agar (PCA; Oxoid) for enumeration of total mesophilic microorganisms to determine natural microbial population on leafy greens before inoculation and to determine whether these microorganisms were also sensitive to mustard treatment. During 4 d storage, water from the cotton ball created humidity within the system as witnessed by condensation inside of the sealed petri dish.

3.2.6. Sampling and Microbiological Analysis of Filter Paper, Spinach and Lettuce

Filter paper and leaves were sampled and analyzed on 0, 2 or 4 d for all temperatures. Upon sampling, parafilm was removed from the petri dish surround, paper or leaf removed with a sterile tweezer, and placed in 2 mL 0.1 % peptone water (Difco, Becton-Dickinson, Sparks, Maryland, USA) in a 15 mL centrifuge tube. Samples were vortexed intermittently for 2 min, diluted and then plated using an automatic spiral plater (Don Whitley Scientific Ltd., West Yorkshire, UK). For spinach and lettuce EHEC challenge trials, Violet Red Bile agar (VRB; Oxoid) was used for enumeration of total coliforms and sorbitol maconkey agar with cefixime tellurite supplement (CTSMAC; Oxoid) for differentiation of *E. coli* O157:H7. In addition, plate count agar (PCA; Oxoid) was used for total aerobic mesophilic count. For EHEC challenge trials on sterile filter paper, LB agar was used for enumeration of *E. coli* O157:H7; for *Listeria* enumeration, tryptic soy agar (TSA; Oxoid) was used. All agars were incubated at 37°C for 18 hr followed by enumeration of colonies. After preliminary experimentation, 3 trials were performed on spinach and lettuce, respectively, and each trial done in technical repeat (2 repeats per sample). For filter paper trials, 2 trials were performed per experiment with technical repeat, with the exception of *Listeria* at 30°C wherein 4 trials were performed.

3.2.7. Data Analysis

Data was evaluated by two way analysis of variance followed by evaluation of pair-wise comparison of means from different treatment groups, by use of Statistical Analysis Systems (SAS Institute, Inc.). A probability (p) of <0.05 was considered statistically significant, with P between 0.05 and 0.01 was considered to be approaching statistical significance.

3.3. Results

3.3.1. Sinigrin Quantification in Mustard Meal from Challenge Trials over 4 d Storage at 4, 15 or 30°C

Concentration of sinigrin in mustard meal was measured using a sophisticated quantification technique as quantification of substrate was preferred over volatile product. A decrease of the gluconsinolate in enzyme active meal was observed throughout storage, though this was temperature dependent (Figure 3.1). Concentration of sinigrin in mustard meal did not decrease throughout 4 d storage at 4°C. However, at 15 and 30°C sinigrin was reduced by ~30 μ mol/g in 4 d (p<0.05). This decrease in sinigrin corresponds to a maximum release of ~30 mg/L air of AITC in petri dish headspace from 10 g/L mustard meal. No significant reduction of

sinigrin was observed in the autoclaved mustard meal control throughout 4 d storage at 4, 15 or 30° C (*p*>0.05; data not shown).

3.3.2. *E. coli* O157:H7 Recovered on LB and *L. innocua* Recovered on TSA From Filter Paper Exposed to Mustard Meal at 4, 15 or 30°C Over 4 d Storage

To show that sinigrin was converted to antimicrobial AITC at 15 and 30°C and not refrigerated temperature, mustard meal was added as a treatment against *E. coli* O157:H7 and *L. innocua* on filter paper to see if it would correlate to bacterial inactivation. In addition to no



Figure 3.1. Sinigrin quantified in 10 g/L mustard meal samples from challenge trials over 4 d storage at 4, 15 or 30°C. Values are means of μ mol/g sinigrin \pm standard deviation (SD), n=6 (4°C) or n=2 (15 & 30°C). Circle, 4°C; triangle, 15°C; square, 30°C. Values that do not share a common superscript differ significantly (p < 0.05).

mustard as negative control (0 g/L; data not shown), autoclaved mustard meal (10 g/L) was used as a second control since the myrosinase enzyme was inactivated by the autoclave's high temperature and pressure, thereby preventing AITC production from sinigrin. *E. coli* O157:H7 on filter paper was not reduced by 10 g/L mustard meal at any storage temperature over 4 d



Figure 3.2. (A) *E. coli* O157:H7 recovered on LB agar from filter paper exposed to 10 g/L mustard meal or 10 g/L autoclaved mustard meal over 4d at 4 or 30°C. Values are means of log CFU (N/N₀) \pm SD, n=2. (B) *L. innocua* recovered on TSA from filter paper exposed to mustard over 4 d at 4, 15 or 30°C. Values are means of log CFU (N/N₀) \pm SD, n=2 (4 & 15°C) or n=4 (30°C). Circle, 4°C; triangle, 15°C; square, 30°C; black, 10 g/L mustard meal; white, 10 g/L autoclaved mustard meal. A control without mustard meal (0 g/L) was also used during trials and results were similar to 10 g/L autoclaved mustard meal at 4, 15 and 30°C (data not included). *Significant reduction from control (15°C; *p*<0.05).

storage (Figure 3.2 A). Similarly in *L. innocua* challenge trials, 10g/L mustard meal did not reduce the microorganism on filter paper at 4°C over 4 d storage and was not different from 10 g/L autoclaved mustard control (Figure 3.2 B). However, at elevated storage temperatures of 15 and 30°C, *L. innocua* was sensitive to 10 g/L mustard meal and a 2.3 and 3.2 log CFU (N/N₀) reduction was observed by 4 d, respectively. No sensitivity of *L. innocua* was observed at 15°C to the enzyme inactive autoclaved mustard meal; both 10g/L autoclaved mustard control and 0 g/L negative control remained at initial inoculation counts throughout storage (0.3 and 0.2 log CFU (N/N₀), respectively). Reduction of *L. innocua* by 2 log CFU (N/N₀) from controls at 15°C with 10 g/L mustard meal was significant (p<0.05). However, at 30°C, *L. innocua* was reduced in all treatments over time; and a trend observed in both 10 g/L autoclaved mustard control and 0 g/L negative control with a reduction of ~1.5 log CFU (N/N₀) by 4 d, indicating that the microorganism does not survive as well at this higher temperature on filter paper. However, from the controls, *L. innocua* was further reduced by 1.6 log CFU (N/N₀) at 30°C with 10 g/L mustard meal, which was not significant but rather was approaching significance (p<0.1).

3.3.3. Total Coliforms and *E. coli* O157:H7 Recovered from Spinach and Lettuce After Exposure to Mustard Meal over 4 d at 4°C

To investigate inactivation of *E. coli* O157:H7 with high and low background microbiota, 1 or 10 g/L mustard meal was exposed to inoculated spinach and lettuce at refrigerated temperature over 4 d with negative controls of 0 g/L mustard meal and 10 g/L canola meal (Figure 3.3). Trials were also performed at 15 and 30°C, but rapid wilting prevented sampling. Furthermore, different bags of spinach leaves were used each trial (3 bags total), which explains high error bars. To detect effect of mustard meal on spoilage microorganisms, spinach was used directly from bags and not further washed. The natural microbial load on spinach was > 5 log CFU/cm² indicating that leaves were more highly contaminated than interior leaves of lettuce, which were below detection limit, but reasonably clean with early shelf life since natural contamination from aerobic mesophiles on spinach can reach over 8 log CFU/g (Valentin-Bon et al. 2008).



Figure 3.3. Total coliforms recovered on VRB agar (A) and total mesophilic microorganisms recovered on PCA (C) from spinach, and *E. coli* O157:H7 recovered on CTSMAC agar (B) and total mesophilic microorganisms recovered on PCA (D) from lettuce, exposed to mustard treatment over 4 d at 4°C. Values are means of log CFU/cm² \pm SD, n=3. White bars, uninoculated control; white hatched bars, inoculated control; grey bars, 1 g/L mustard meal; grey hatched bars, 10 g/L mustard meal; black bars, 10 g/L canola meal.

Background microbiota on spinach was reflected by uninoculated control counts recovered on VRB agar (A; total coliforms) and PCA (C; total aerobic mesophiles). After inoculation with a 5 strain *E. coli* O157:H7 cocktail and its subsequent attachment to spinach leaves, a ~2 log CFU/cm² increase was observed from initial uninoculated counts. No significant reduction (p>0.05) was observed for either total coliforms or total aerobic mesophiles on spinach over 4 d exposure to 1 or 10 g /L mustard meal. Mustard meal of 100 g/L was used as a treatment for EHEC on spinach at 4°C over 4 d storage, but met with similar results (data not shown). However, it was also noted that this volume of mustard meal was impractical and therefore not used further.

On the interior leaves of lettuce (B, D), uninoculated controls were very clean with no spoilage microorganisms recovered. This is not surprising as the interior leaves were protected by the outer leaves of the lettuce head from environmental microbial contamination. At day 0, *E. coli* O157:H7 inoculated samples were initially ~3.5 log CFU/cm², but by 4 d, the pathogen did not show sensitivity to the mustard treatment. No significant difference (p>0.05) was observed for reduction of *E. coli* O157:H7 recovered on CTSMAC agar (B) or total aerobic mesophiles on PCA (D) on lettuce with 10 g/L mustard at 4°C over 4 d storage. For PCA counts on lettuce, which mainly recovered the *E. coli* O157:H7 cocktail, counts decreased slowly over 4 d, though this was not significant (p>0.05).

3.4. Discussion

This study demonstrates that AITC gas from mustard can be used to control microorganisms but not at 4°C. This is most likely due to slow activity of mustard's endogenous myrosinase enzyme at this temperature, since the optimal temperature of mustard myrosinase is 60°C at neutral pH (Van Eylen et al. 2008). Previous research has confirmed that AITC release

from mustard meal is significantly lower at 5°C as compared to a higher temperature of 35°C (2 mg/g vs 17 mg/g; Dai and Lim 2014). With a decreased of sinigrin by 30 μ mol/g from 10 g/L mustard meal at 15 and 30°C, the concentration of AITC in headspace is never higher than 30 mg/L due to its reactive nature. Mustard meal of 10 g/L was selected for use in challenge trials as it was found to be an acceptable amount of mustard to apply in this intervention model; mustard meal at higher volumes than this (ie 100 g/L) were not practical. Mustard meal at 10 g/L had amounts of sinigrin which correlated to concentrations of volatile AITC (~60 mg/L) that were within ranges previously demonstrated to be lethal towards pathogens on food (Obaidat and Frank 2009a, 2009b). However, complete degradation of sinigrin was not observed throughout 4 d experimentation during our study. At 4°C storage, no degradation of sinigrin was observed whereas at 15 and 30°C storage, sinigrin decreased in mustard by ~ 50% of the total. AITC released throughout 4 d with 10 g/L mustard meal; however, was not enough to kill EHEC in challenge trials, though *L. innocua* did show reductions form controls that were either significant (2 log CFU (N/N₀) at 15°C) or approaching significance (1.6 log CFU (N/N₀) at 30°C).

Pure volatilized AITC is lethal against *E. coli* O157: H7, *L. monocytogenes* and spoilage microorganisms on produce at refrigerated temperature (Lin et al. 2000b, Obaidat and Frank 2009a, Piercey et al. 2012). A > 2.0 and > 3.0 log CFU decrease of *E. coli* O157:H7 on sliced tomatoes at 4 and 10°C, respectively, was observed with 17 mg/L pure volatilized AITC after 10 d (Obaidat and Frank 2009a). In addition, >4 log CFU reduction in *E. coli* O157:H7 on intact lettuce surfaces was observed with 4 mg/L pure volatilized AITC at 4°C in 4 days and at10°C, this reduction was observed in 2 days (Obaidat and Frank 2009b). Furthermore, a 7 log CFU decrease in *E. coli* O157:H7 was observed on iceburg lettuce with 88 μ L/L pure volatilized AITC at 4°C in 2 d (Lin et al. 2000b). In another investigation, 200 ppm of volatilized AITC

reduced *L. monocytogenes* by over 1.5 log CFU/g from controls on fresh cut onions at 5°C for 8 d (Piercey et al. 2012). AITC vapour is also effective against spoilage microorganisms; concentrations of 50-100 mg/L AITC inhibited the growth of total mesophilic microorganisms on minimally processed cabbage during storage at 10°C over 12 d (Banerjee et al. 2015), and inhibited both mesophile and coliform bacterial growth on lightly fermented cabbage during storage at 10°C for 4 d with 2 g/L AITC (Inatsu et al. 2005). These investigations show that pure AITC has antimicrobial activity, and can reduce or inhibit pathogen and spoilage microorganisms on produce, at low temperatures.

Since AITC is active at refrigerated temperature, absence of antimicrobial activity at 4°C in our study relates to inactivity of myrosinase in mustard meal since the endogenous enzyme is essential for AITC release from sinigrin. Moreover, the lack of antimicrobial activity at 4°C is supported by our finding that sinigrin was stable in mustard meal throughout 4 d storage at 4°C. This also corresponds to research by other authors (Dai and Lim 2014), who investigated the release rate of AITC from mustard: the myrosinase-glucosinolate reaction in mustard occurs at a faster rate, thereby producing a higher volume of AITC, at higher temperatures (35°C) versus at lower temperatures (5°C). Therefore, the intervention developed in the present study using mustard meal as a vector for AITC release to eliminate EHEC on leafy greens was ineffective, as this product requires refrigerated temperature during storage.

However, there are many benefits to using mustard meal for AITC as an intervention on food. The high volatility and instability of pure AITC has presented challenges for use; some authors have even noted this has prevented further experimentation with the compound in food or in packaging (Dussault et al. 2014; Martinez-Abad et al. 2013). Using mustard meal increases manageability since volatile AITC remains in the form of its stable precursor sinigrin until antimicrobial release directly into the system is facilitated by myrosinase and water. The use of mustard meal as an antimicrobial has been successfully applied in meat interventions; research has shown that adding mustard meal directly into dry fermented sausages and ground beef patties can kill foodborne pathogens such as *E. coli* O157:H7 (Cordiero et al. 2014; Nadaraja et al. 2005b). On the other hand, the application of AITC as a gas or fumigation agent is more ideal for non meat products that do not use mustard as a flavoring agent, and foods that are easily bruised or damaged. For example, Nielsen and Rios (2000) found that volatile AITC killed spoilage fungi in bread (*Penicillium commune*, *P. roqueforti*, *Aspergillus flavus*, *Endomyces fibuliger*) and increased product shelf life. Overall, mustard meal as an antimicrobial is a novel approach to food safety and the present research adds further insight into controlling pathogens on food by its use in a way that has not been done before.

To reduce the risk of foodborne illness, the development of new and innovative intervention methods are a necessity. The use of mustard meal is one such novel intervention. As AITC is highly unstable, mustard meal allows for controlled release of the antimicrobial by keeping it in the form of sinigrin until myrosinase catalyzes hydrolysis to produce AITC. However, our study showed that the effectiveness of this antimicrobial application is dependent on storage temperature. At refrigerated temperatures, no sinigrin decrease in mustard meal was observed over 4 d and no antimicrobial effect was observed for either *Listeria* or EHEC on spinach and lettuce or filter paper. However, at higher temperatures of 15 and 30°C, sinigrin decreased in mustard meal and a significant reduction of *Listeria* was observed but no such reduction was observed for EHEC. Therefore, this method could be useful for controlling some microorganisms on food stored at room temperatures.

4. Effect of sub-lethal heat treatment on growth and detection of *E. coli* O157:H7 single

cells

4.1. Introduction

Improved detection techniques are necessary to increase the safety of our food supply. Enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* (EHEC) is a pathogenic subgroup of *E. coli* with shiga-like toxins (stx) that can cause severe disease in humans (Lim et al. 2010). EHEC serotype O157:H7 causes an estimated 73,000 illnesses in the United States and 13,000 illnesses in Canada per year, with outbreaks linked to raw or undercooked meat and fresh produce (Rangel et al. 2005; Thomas et al. 2013). At-risk foods such as these require more accurate detection methods to decrease the prevalence of infection.

Conventional plating methods to detect pathogens on food are simple but time consuming and labor intensive. In comparison, molecular detection techniques such as quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) are more rapid and selective. However, qPCR comes with limitations; it is not able to detect low cell numbers in a sample or differentiate between live and dead cell DNA (Bae and Wuertz 2009). To overcome the former limitation, enrichment is required prior to qPCR detection to increase target cell number to a concentration at which it can be detected, in addition to resuscitating injured target cells and diluting food inhibitors, background flora and dead cell DNA (Ge and Meng 2009). Because of the necessity of a lengthy enrichment step, detection times in qPCR are increased from hours to days. However, enrichment is important for EHEC detection in food, as this pathogen can cause disease with only ten cells or fewer (Willshaw et al. 1994).

E. coli O157 is a prevalent EHEC serotype that can cause severe disease in humans and is frequently implicated in foodborne outbreaks (Thomas et al. 2013). While *E. coli* O157:H7 is

regulated in both Canada and the US, it remains difficult to control and detect on food. Common detection methods validated by Health Canada for shiga toxin-producing *E. coli* in ground beef and leafy greens are: VIDAS[®] UP method for selective capture of *E. coli* O157 with a solid phase receptacle coated with recombinant phage tail fiber protein and subsequent fluorescence detection, and qPCR methods including Assurance GDSTM method with immunomagnetic bead capture of *E. coli* with antibody specific coatings and BAX[®] method with a combination of primer and fluorescent dye, all of which require enrichment times prior to detection of between 7-24 h (Health Canada 2005, 2011, 2012b). Though these enrichment times for detection of injured *E. coli* cells, since extended lag phases increase time to detection. If current enrichment time provides more than sufficient time for this population of cells to be detected, minimizing enrichment times would be beneficial for faster detection of EHEC on food. On the other hand, it is possible that current enrichment times may be inadequate for injured cell detection, and thus further decreasing of enrichment time would result in false negative result.

Heat intervention causes disruption of cell membrane and irreversible protein denaturation and is an effective method for inactivation of microorganisms on food (Lee and Kaletunc 2002). Hot water or steam interventions are often used for carcass decontamination in meat packing plants; while a temperature of 85°C is used for pasteurization, the carcasses themselves are below 30°C and therefore microorganisms present are exposed to a range of temperatures up to 85°C once the hot water or steam hits the carcass (Gill and Bryant 2000; Yang et al. 2014). In addition, mild heat treatments can be applied to leafy greens such as spinach to increase the efficacy of organic acid intervention against *E. coli* O157:H7 (Huang and Chen 2011). Heat interventions can kill microorganisms present on food surfaces, but if they are subjected to a

lower, non-lethal temperature, they may be sub-lethal injured instead. Sub-lethally injured cells recover, but have extended lag phases before regaining ability to replicate. Heat stressed individual *Sacchomyces cerevisia* cells and heat injured single *Lactobacillus plantarum* cells, in addition to foodborne pathogens *Salmonella* Typhimurium, *Listeria monocytogenes* and *E. coli* O157:H7 cells, have previously been investigated for effect of injury on lag phase and show extended lag phase and detection with injury (Stephen et al. 1997; Tibayrenc et al. 2011; Guillier et al. 2005; Li et al. 2006).

Single cell detection is a suitable method to detect length of a cell's lag phase, as lag phases can be deduced from times for individual cells to reach an optical density threshold (Baranyi and Pin 1999; Smelt et al. 2002; Guillier and Augustin 2006). Stress applied to cells can cause variability of individual lag times, and furthermore, heat application is a good way to measure extended lag phases since heat treatment influences lag phases of individual cells more than other stresses such as acid (HCl, lactic acid), alkali (NaOH), chlorine, starvation and osmotic stress (Guillier et al. 2005). There is little information on the lag phases of sub-lethally injured E. *coli* lag phase and necessary time to detection. While Li et al. (2006) explored the lag phase of E. *coli* after a 50°C treatment, there is no research on the lag phase of *E. coli* after a lethal heat treatment has been applied to cells. Furthermore, while the previous authors measured lag phases at an incubation temperature of 37°C, injured cells are better resuscitated at 25°C (by up to 28%) which may have prevented detection of a percentage of the sample's injured cell population (Hara-Kudo et al. 2000). Lastly, there is a lack of information on the lag phase of sub-lethally injured E. coli extending over 24 h; this research would be invaluable in determining if current enrichment times are sufficient to detect injured cells (7-24 h) and to explore if these times can be further decreased for more rapid detection of *E. coli* in food.

4.2. Materials and Methods

4.2.1. Bacterial Strains and Media

One strain of *E. coli* O157:H7 (02:3581; Luciano et al. 2011) without stx was grown for 16 h in Luria-Bertani (LB; Oxoid, Missisauga, Ontario, Canada) broth at 37°C and 250 rpm and was used in further experimentation for both spectrophotometer and qPCR measurement. A second microorganism, stx-less *E. coli* O157:H7 (02:0627; Luciano et al. 2011), was grown in the same manner and used as a positive control (no treatment applied) in spectrophotometer measurement to confirm that under the conditions of the spectrophotometer, the microorganism would grow; these conditions included LB broth at 25°C, a temperature chosen for better resuscitation of injured cells (Hara-Kudo et al. 2000). For qPCR measurement, high and low cell density samples were grown at optimal temperature of 37°C in LB broth. For plating conditions, all samples were plated on LB agar and incubated at 30°C for 24 h.

4.2.2. Inflicting Sub-lethal Injury to *E. coli* O157:H7 Cells By Application of Heat Treatments

Four different treatment groups included untreated control, a cold treatment of 4°C for 24 h, and heat treatments of 66°C for 1 min 20 s or 58°C for 5 min 15 s. Heat treatments were chosen since they provided a 2 log reduction in cell numbers as determined from plating on LB and VRB agars (described in section 4.2.3; Figure 4.1). The original overnight culture was pipetted (500 μ L) into 2 mL Eppendorf tubes for each treatment in duplicate. For heat treatments, tubes were placed in a water bath for the specific temperature and holding time then removed and immediately placed on ice. For the cold treatment, tubes were placed in a refrigerator (4°C) for 24 h; this treatment was used to represent the requirement of samples to be held at 4°C before use, if not sampled immediately (Health Canada 2013, USDA 2015c).

4.2.3. Determination of Growth Curves in Spectrophotometer

For all treatment groups, ten-fold serial dilutions from original treated samples were prepared in LB broth, up to the point of cell exhaustion (10⁻¹⁰ log CFU/mL). Dilutions estimated to grow 30-300 colonies per plate were manually plated (100 µL) on LB and Violet Red Bile (VRB; Oxoid) agar, to confirm lethal reduction in viable cells as well as injury to viable cells (Figure 4.1). Plates were incubated at 30°C for 24 h and colonies were enumerated next day. Plating of samples was performed immediately prior to each measurement of optical density of each treatment. From the ten-fold serial dilutions prepared from original treated samples, the dilution containing an estimated 1-10 cells/mL was used as the first dilution on the microtiter plate and pipetted into the third column of a 96-well microtiter plate. From this column, subsequent two-fold dilutions with LB broth were performed across the microtiter plate to the point of sterility. In between the original dilution to cell exhaustion in LB broth, estimated single cell growth was detected on the microtiter plate. Columns one and two were reserved for controls; column one was positive control and column two was negative control (LB broth only). The microtiter plate was sealed with a clear optical adhesive film (MicroAmp, Applied Biosystems, Thermo Fischer Scientific, Burlington, Ontario, Canada) to prevent evaporation, loss of culture or contamination. The microtiter plate was then placed in a spectrophotometer (Multiskan Ascent 96/384 Plate Reader, Thermo Fischer Scientific) which monitored the turbidity of *E. coli* O157:H7 (A=600 nm) at 30 min intervals for up to 5 d at 25°C with Multiskan Ascent Software (Version 2.6, Thermo Fischer Scientific). This temperature was chosen since injured cells are better resuscitated at 25°C (Hara-Kudo et al. 2000). Detection times for the growth of E. coli O157:H7 were calculated as time elapsed until estimated single cells increased in optical density (OD) by 0.02 from baseline, the lowest OD measurement to

accurately detect growth in the spectrophotometer used. Authors Baranyi and Pin (1999) estimated the initial number of cells per well (x_0) on a microtiter plate by mathematical equation: $x_0 = rX_{det}$, where r = the sample's dilution ratio and $X_{det} =$ the detection limit of the spectrophotometer (10⁷ cells). Similarly in the present study, wells selected as single cells were those where growth was detected beside a column of sterile wells on the microtiter plate and where estimated single cells could be calculated from dilution used across the plate. The experiment was performed to obtain growth information from at least 50 estimated single cells per treatment. The number of estimated single cells per treatment group was: control, n=103; 4°C, n=70; 58°C, n=65; 66°C, n=58 (Figure 4.2).

4.2.4. Determination of Cell Density in Spectrophotometer

The lowest amount of growth, or increase in turbidity of a sample, that could accurately be detected in our spectrophotometer was an increase in OD by 0.02. When OD increased by this value from the baseline measurement, the sample's cell density is 10^6 . This was confirmed by growing *E. coli* O157:H7 overnight in LB at 37°C and 250 rpm, and preparing ten-fold serial dilutions (up to the point of cell extinction) in LB broth the next day. All dilutions were measured in spectrophotometer to provide an OD for each sample. Each dilution was also manually plated ($100 \ \mu$ L) on LB agar and incubated at 30° C for 24 h. Plates that had between 30-300 colonies on the plate were enumerated and compared to OD measurement. The lowest detected increase in OD in samples was from 0.089 ± 0.001 to 0.107 ± 0.010 (therefore, an increase in OD by 0.02), corresponding to enumeration data on LB agar from 5.38 ± 0.35 to $6.20 \pm 0.35 \log$ CFU/mL. The blank (LB broth without culture) or baseline measurement in spectrophotometer was OD 0.088 ± 0.001 , in addition to all other dilutions that corresponded to enumeration data of \leq 5 log CFU/mL. The experiment was performed 3 times to measure experimental variability (n=3).

4.2.5. Sampling of Heat or Cold Treated *E. coli* O157:H7 over 24 h for qPCR Analysis

E. coli O157:H7 strain 02:3581 was grown overnight in 20 mL LB broth at 37°C and 250 rpm. The selected treatment groups (heat treatment, 66°C for 1 min 30 s; cold treatment, 4°C for 24 h; untreated control) were prepared as described previously. These treated cultures were then serially diluted ten-fold until sterility (up to 10⁻¹⁰ CFU/mL) in LB broth and a range of these dilutions were manually plated (100 μ L) on LB agar that were estimated to provide 1 single colony on the plate. This range of dilutions was incubated at 37°C and 250 rpm and sampled at 12 and 24 h, and this temperature was used at it is optimal growth temperature for *E. coli* O157:H7 often used in enrichment technique for EHEC detection methods on food (Health Canada 2015b). The corresponding plates were incubated at 30°C for 24 h. Plates were enumerated next day and the dilutions that corresponded to 1 single colony on the plate were kept as 10-100 cell/mL estimated initial count. The dilution under this was kept as 1-10 cells/mL estimated initial count with no colony growth on the corresponding plate and if the broth remained clear with no growth for the subsequent dilution (ie, diluted to cell extinction). All other dilutions were discarded. For sampling at 12 and 24 h, 1 mL was removed per treatment group, transferred to a 2 mL Eppendorf tube, centrifuged at 8000 x g for 3 min and the supernatant was discarded while the pellet was stored at -20°C until DNA extraction step. The experiment was performed in 3 trials for each treatment with technical repeat (n=3).

4.2.6. DNA Extraction and Quantification in qPCR

DNA was extracted from pelleted samples using DNeasy blood and tissue kit (Qiagen, Mississauga, Ontario, Canada). Instructions were followed for Gram negative bacteria with the following exceptions: cells suspended in buffer ATL (supplemented with proteinase K) were incubated for 2 h instead of 1-3 h, and DNA was eluted from mini columns twice with 100 µL of butter AE, instead of once with 200 µL buffer AE. Primers were selected to target the E. coli's *uidA* gene (β-glucuronidase), with primers URL-301 (5'-TGT TAC GTC CTG TAG AAA GCC C-3') and URR-432 (5'-AAA ACT GCC TGG CAC AGC AAT T-3' (Sigma-Aldrich, Mississauga, Ontario, Canada; Bej et al. 1991). A stock solution of primers was prepared in sterile nuclease free water. qPCR master mix was prepared as follows (for 100 reactions): 1250 μL of SYBR green (Qiagen), 250 μL each of 10 μM forward and reverse primers, and 250 μL water; 20 µL of the master mix was used per reaction with 5 µL template DNA. A standard curve was created to quantify DNA in samples, in which the PCR product of E. coli O157:H7 DNA was purified (QIAquick PCR Purification Kit, Qiagen) and serial ten-fold dilutions were prepared from the purified product at a concentration range of 0.001 pg/ μ L to 100 pg/ μ L. A 7500 Fast Real-Time PCR system (Applied Biosystems) quantified samples by one initial denaturation of template DNA and activation of Taq DNA polymerase at 95°C for 10 min, followed by 40 cycles of denaturation at 95°C for 30 s, primer annealing at 60°C for 1 min and extension at 72°C for 1 min. After each qPCR run was finished, data was acquired from the 7500 Software (version 2.0.5, Applied Biosystems) and analyzed. Melt curves of final products were used to verify that non-specific products or primer dimers did not form. All DNA samples from three trials (n=3) with technical repeat were quantified in qPCR in duplicate reaction per plate.
4.3. Statistical Analysis

Statistical Analysis Systems (SAS Institute, Inc.) was used to analyze the data. Two way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and pair-wise comparison of means analyzed significant differences between treatment means, with a probability (p) of <0.05 considered statistically significant.

4.4. Results and Discussion

To achieve two lethal heat treatments that differed in intensity and reduced *E. coli* O157:H7 by 2 log CFU/mL, a heat treatment with a higher temperature and shorter holding time of 66°C for 1 min 30 s and a heat treatment with a lower temperature and a longer holding time of 58°C for 5 min 15 s were chosen (Figure 4.1). When *E. coli* O157:H7 was held at 4°C for 24 h plate counts were similar to untreated cells, indicating that holding samples at refrigerated temperature does not reduce or cause injury to cells.

Detection time includes lag phase followed by growth of cells to a concentration at which they can be detected. While cell growth rate remains constant, it is the lag phase that causes variation in detection times due to recovery of injured individual cells before growth. By collecting a population (>50 cells) of times for detection of single cells on spectrophotometer per treatment group, a population distribution of healthy and sub-lethally injured single *E. coli* O157:H7 cells was created. Next, this data was converted to percent cumulative frequency (# of cells detected per treatment group/total cells in treatment group*100%) over time at which cells were detected, to show the difference in detection time of heat treated cells in comparison to untreated (control) or cold treated cells (Figure 4.2).



Figure 4.1. Cell counts of heat treated *E. coli* O157:H7 prior to estimated single cell detection by OD readings in spectrophotometer, plated on LB and VRB. Values are means \pm SD. •, control (n=27); \diamond , 4°C (n=6); \triangle , 58°C (n=8); •, 66°C (n=8).

Non-injured single cells in untreated and cells held at 4°C had detection times between 10 - 16 h without an extended lag phase. Similarly, others found that cold stress, at an increased intensity of -25°C for 48 h, did not have a large influence on lag time of *L. monocytogenes* individual cells (Guillier et al. 2005). Heat injured single cells had a broader range of detection times due to extended lag phases, with detection times ranging from 11 to 118 h. The longest times to detection observed for each heat treatment was 67 h for 58°C and 118h for 66°C.



Figure 4.2. Percent cumulative frequency of estimated single *E. coli* O157:H7 cell detection in spectrophotometer every 30 min for 120 h at 25°C. Values are estimated single cells grown to detection of OD 0.02. •, control (n=103); \diamondsuit , 4°C (n=70); \triangle , 58°C (n=65); •, 66°C (n=58).

The detection limit of the spectrophotometer is high $(10^6 \text{ cells or } 20 \text{ generations})$ in comparison to qPCR's detection limit of $10^3 \text{ cells or } 10 \text{ generations}$. Generation time from single cell detection data in a spectrophotometer was 30 min at 25°C, which assumes no lag phase for the first time of detection (10 h). Therefore, subsequent times to detection were attributed to lag time. Since the first detection time of 10 h in the spectrophotometer has a cell density of 10^6 (section 4.2.5), to correspond this to the lower detection limit of qPCR (10^3 cells), half the spectrophotometer detection time would be required (a 5 h incubation time). While adjusting for the 5 h detection time difference, at 7 h qPCR or 12 h spectrophotometer detection, 80-90% of uninjured cells are detected whereas only 30% of injured cells are detected; at 24 h qPCR or 29 h spectrophotometer detection, at least 80% of all cells will grow to qPCR detection limit. Hence, by 24 h incubation the majority of all cells are detected but when this time is reduced, the risk of not detecting injured single cells is increased.



Figure 4.3. (A) Growth of 1-10 or (B) Growth of 10-100 *E. coli* O157:H7 cells/mL in LB broth after heat or cold treatment for 12 or 24 h and quantified by qPCR. Values are means \pm SD, n=3. Black bars, control; white bars, 66°C; grey bars, 4°C. Values that do not share a common superscript differ significantly within a group and between groups (*p*<0.05).

Figures 4.3 A and 4.3 B show qPCR quantification of sub-lethally injured cells compared to non injured cells with low initial cell counts of 1-10 cells/mL or 10-100 cells/mL, respectively, after 12 or 24 h incubation at 37°C in LB broth. While the gene copy numbers of the cells treated at 4°C and untreated cells were not different from each other with 10-100 initial cell count/mL samples, heat injured cells grew to significantly lower cell counts (p<0.05) at 12 h

measured by qPCR (corresponding to 17 h OD measurement in spectrophotometer). By 24 h, there was no significant difference across treatments with qPCR quantification (corresponding to 29 h OD measurement). In comparison, samples with lower initial cell counts (1-10 cells/mL) had significantly lower gene copy numbers of heat injured cells by 12 h incubation coupled with qPCR quantification, than both untreated cells and cells treated at $4^{\circ}C$ (p<0.001). In addition, untreated controls were also significantly lower than cells treated at 4°C at 12 h coupled with qPCR quantification, and although the difference was not as large as the former (p < 0.01), it indicates that in samples with a low initial cell count samples there is greater variability in detection time among treatments. This is also confirmed by previous research determining that there is greater variation in detection time with a decrease in inoculum size due to variation in individual cell lag phase (Baranyi and Pin 1999). By 24 h incubation followed by qPCR measurement, there was no significant difference between treatment groups of 1-10 initial cell count /mL samples. Therefore, with a higher initial cell density within a sample (10-100 cells/mL), the majority of cells in both uninjured and injured cell populations were detected by 12 h in qPCR: 90, 89 and 72% of untreated, cold treated and heat treated groups, respectively, as compared to 24 h recovery. However, with a lower initial cell count (1-10 cells/mL), only 38% of sub-lethally heat treated cells were detected at this time versus 49 and 53% of untreated and 4°C treated groups at 12 h, when compared to 24 h recovery. Therefore, with 1-10 cells/mL in initial samples coupled with 12 h incubation at 37°C and use qPCR detection method, all cells are detected but sub-lethally injured cells approach detection limit but further reduction of incubation time or extension of the cell lag phase will lead to false negative result. However, an increase in initial cell count in a sample reduces this distinction. By 24 h incubation coupled with qPCR quantification, all cells in different treatment groups are detected in 1-10 or 10-100 initial cell count/mL samples without risk of being undetected.

A population distribution of individual lag phases of E. coli O157:H7 cells after 24 h enrichment at 37°C showed that while most untreated cells were detected at 3 h, the majority of lag phases for heat stressed (50°C for 2 h) cells increased to 6 h (Li et al. 2006). In comparison, the present study applied higher heat treatments (over 50°C) and included a much longer incubation time (5 d). This is important since heat stress of \leq 50°C extended the lag phase of E. coli no more than 10 h (Li et al. 2006), while current work shows that lag phase of sub-lethally injured cells were extended to over 100 h. Furthermore, the present study also gives a more accurate description of lag phase distribution, with over ten times more individual E. coli cell measurements. Other researchers have also investigated the lag phase of individual cells treated with mild heat. Over a 48 h period, a broad distribution of lag phases and detection times were discovered for single cells of heat-injured Salmonella (53.5°C for 15 min), with the majority of injured cells detected with 20 h enrichment at 37°C (Stephens et al. 1997). Moreover, lag times of individual L. plantarum cells increased after heat treatment (51°C for 30 s); while all untreated cells grew by 112 h enrichment, the lag phase of heat-injured cells were up to 196 h at 15°C (Smelt et al. 2002). Likewise, heat treatment of 55°C for 5 min extended the lag phase and increased detection time of individual L. monocytogenes from 18.5 to 34 h (Guillier et al. 2005). Therefore, variation in lag time after injury is not only true for *E. coli* but for all other microorganisms as well.

Interventions that aim to eliminate pathogens on food products can sub-lethally injure cells. Heat injured single cells of *E. coli* O157:H7 have a longer lag phase and therefore take a longer time to grow to a level of detection. The range of current validated enrichment times (7-

24 h) may not be sufficient to detect all injured single cells in a sample; with 7 h sample enrichment coupled with qPCR (or 12 h OD) detection, there is a probability of not detecting 10 and 70 % of uninjured and heat injured cells, respectively, whereas at 24 h detection in qPCR (29 h OD), all uninjured cells are detected and there is only a 10 - 20 % chance that injured cells go undetected. Moreover, detection of EHEC in food samples is more complex than in media; this can also affect enrichment and time to detection. Overall, short enrichment times increase the probability of not detecting heat injured cells and as such, increase the risk of false negative detection while longer enrichment times increase the probability of detecting all cells within a sample, including the sub-lethally injured population.

5. Comparative Assessment of qPCR Methods to Distinguish between Live and Dead Enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* on Meat

5.1. Introduction

Molecular detection methods have become a mainstay in assessment of microbiological composition and activity within microbial ecosystems, including food safety, as they are faster and more selective than labor-intensive and time consuming conventional plating methods (Ge and Meng 2009). Quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) is one of the most used methods of gene quantification and is a validated method for pathogen detection on food (Wong and Medrano 2005; Health Canada 2015b). However, qPCR is limited in that it does not discriminate between DNA from live and dead cells in an enrichment of a food sample, which may lead to false positive result (Bae et al. 2009).

Monoazide DNA binding dyes can enter dead cells with compromised membranes, intercalate with DNA bases and form covalent bonds upon exposure to light (Taskin et al. 2011; Nocker and Camper 2006a). This results in DNA insolubility causing loss during extraction, as well as preventing its amplification in qPCR. Ethidium monoazide (EMA) has previously been investigated for this purpose, but was found to cause significant DNA loss from viable cells after extraction (Nocker et al. 2006; Flekna et al. 2007). A better alternative to EMA is propidium monoazide (PMA), as it can penetrate into cells with compromised membranes without affecting viable cells with intact membranes (Pan and Breidt 2007). However, PMA may be excluded from dead cells with intact membranes and therefore the overestimation of live cells in qPCR remains an issue (Løvdal et al. 2011; Pachelowicz et al. 2013; Nocker et al. 2007). To better select for live cells in qPCR, a sodium deoxycholate treatment prior to PMA application can enhance its penetration due to the emulsifier's ability to permeabilize intact membranes of dead

cells (Yang et al. 2011). While *E. coli* is highly tolerant to bile salts, the effect of deoxycholate on injured cells is unknown. Another solution is to quantify RNA in qPCR as an indicator of cell viability as it degrades upon cell death as compared to DNA, with mRNA degradation occurring more rapidly than rRNA degradation (Keer and Birch 2003). However, RNA quantification is more time consuming and due to its instability has a higher risk of sample loss as compared to DNA quantification, which makes DNA quantification more practical.

With cattle as a major reservoir of *E. coli* O157:H7, foodborne illness has been linked to the consumption of contaminated beef (Rangel et al. 2005; Blagojevic et al. 2012). Interventions implemented in beef packing plants to control EHEC on carcasses include lactic acid and peroxyacetic acid washes as well as hot water application (Bacon et al. 2000). *E. coli* O157 is regulated in Canada and the US and current methods of EHEC detection on food include enrichment in conjunction with qPCR. However, qPCR does not differentiate between live cells and cells killed by intervention. Improved methods for detection of live EHEC on beef are therefore necessary to reduce illness outbreaks. The objective of the current investigation is to compare five different detecting dead cells on beef steaks in qPCR after lactic acid, peroxyacetic acid and hot water intervention and includes conventional plating, mRNA and rRNA quantification in qPCR.

5.2. Materials and Methods

5.2.1. Preparation of Inoculum

Five shiga toxin (stx) negative *E. coli* O157:H7 (02-0628, 02-1840, 02-0304, 02-0627, 00-3581; Luciano et al. 2011) were grown individually overnight in Luria-Bertani broth (LB; Oxoid, Missisauga, Ontario, Canada) at 37°C and 250 rpm. Each strain was centrifuged and resuspended pellet was washed in 0.1% (w/v) peptone water (Difco, Becton-Dickinson, Sparks, Maryland, USA) next day and combined to create a 5 strain cocktail of *E. coli* O157:H7.

5.2.2. Primers

For quantification of DNA in qPCR, primers URL-301 (5'-TGT TAC GTC CTG TAG AAA GCC C-3') and URR-432 (5'-AAA ACT GCC TGG CAC AGC AAT T-3') that target β-glucuronidase activity of *E. coli* were selected as they have previously been confirmed to be able to target *E. coli* O157:H7 (Bej et al. 1991; Sigma-Aldrich). For quantification of rRNA in reverse transcription qPCR (RT-qPCR) primers targeting partial 16S rRNA, HDAf (5'-ACT CCT ACG GGA GGC AGC AGT-3') and HDAr (5'-GTA TTA CCG CGG CTG CTG GCA C-3') were used (Walter et al. 2000, Wang et al. 2013b; Sigma-Aldrich). For quantification of mRNA in RT-qPCR, primers targeting glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase were selected: gapAf (5'-GTT GAC CTG ACC GTT CGT CT-3') and gapAr (5'-ACG TCA TCT TCG GTG TAG CC-3'; Sigma-Aldrich). While the latter two primers were not species specific, they were chosen because they were able to amplify *E. coli* O157:H7 and since the steaks were clean, quantification was attributed to the microorganism.

5.2.3. Preparation of Beef Steaks for Intervention and Control Samples

For each trial, fresh beef (eye of round) was purchased from a local grocery store. It was then boiled in water for 2 min to decontaminate surface, the cooked outer layer (2 mm) was removed with a sterile knife, and the beef cut was sliced into 2 cm thick steaks with surface area of 88 cm². This provided clean steaks for experimentation. One mL of the 5 strain cocktail of *E. coli* O157:H7 was inoculated onto beef steak surfaces in a biosafety cabinet and dried for 30 min to allow for attachment. Three trials were performed per intervention and for each trial, eight steaks were inoculated with the 5 strain *E. coli* O157:H7 cocktail: four for application of interventions (2 x 0 min and 2 x 30 min sampling) and four for inoculated control (no application of intervention; 2 x 0 min and 2 x 30 min sampling). One steak was left uninoculated as a control sample per trial to confirm steak was clean, where no intervention was applied but rather it was immediately placed in 99 mL PBS buffer in a stomacher bag, manually massaged for 2 min and suspension plated on LB and VRB (100 μ L per plate; incubated at 30°C for 24 h; enumeration yielded below detection limit (BDL)) and also 3 x 1 mL samples were kept for DNA qPCR analysis (section 5.2.9); similar to plating, quantification yielded negative result denoted by either amplification at or above 35 Ct with species specific primers (*uidA*) for DNA qPCR or 10 Ct above last sample's Ct value for non specific primers (HDA, gapA) used in both RNA RTqPCR experiments.

5.2.4. Lactic Acid or Peroxyacetic Acid Intervention

Prior to application of interventions, inoculated and control steaks were placed in separate aluminum trays (23 x 15 x 1.5 cm). A 5% (w/v) lactic acid (Sigma-Aldrich, Mississauga, Ontario, Canada) or 200 mg/l peroxyacetic acid (Inspexx, Ecolab Inc., St. Paul, Minnesota, USA) solution was prepared and connected to equipment; the equipment used for application of antimicrobials has been previously described in detail (Youssef et al. 2012). The aluminum trays containing steaks were placed on the stainless steel conveyor belt that carried trays under a spray nozzle, exposing steaks to a 5% lactic acid spray or 200 mg/l peroxyacetic acid spray at a volume of 0.4 mL of fluid per cm² steak surface. The steaks were sampled immediately (0 min) or after 30 min of holding at room temperature.

5.2.5. Hot Water Intervention

A 4 L beaker was filled with 2.5 L of sterile water and brought to 80°C on a hot plate. Once the target temperature was reached, steaks were submerged individually for 10 s using sterile stainless steel tongs and immediately removed and sampled at 0 or 30 min.

5.2.6. Sampling of Steaks after Intervention

Upon sampling, each steak was placed in a sterile stomacher bag (VWR International, Radnor, Pennsylvania, United States) with 100 mL buffer. Either 100 mM PBS (includes buffering agents monopotassium phosphate and disodium phosphate) was used to neutralize pH for lactic acid or hot water intervention samples, or neutralizing buffer (includes buffering agent monopotassium phosphate and reducing agent sodium thiosulfate) was used for peroxyacetic acid intervention samples to neutralize pH as well as quench oxidation. Steaks in buffer were then massaged manually in stomacher bags for 2 min. From sample suspension, 15 x 1 mL aliquots were transferred to separate 2 mL transparent Eppendorf tubes. Tubes were centrifuged at 10,000 x g for 5 min, supernatant discarded, cells washed in 1 mL peptone water, centrifuged and resuspended in 300 μ L peptone water. Each tube was designated to one of 5 different sampling groups for subsequent treatment application, in triplicate: DNA extraction (control; no PMA and deoxycholate), PMA treatment and DNA extraction, PMA with deoxycholate treatment and DNA extraction, RNA extraction, plating (Figure 5.1). Samples for RNA extraction were further washed with RNAprotect Bacteria Reagent (Qiagen) according to the manual to stabilize and protect RNA from degradation, and the pellet was kept frozen (-20°C) until use.



Note: Leave 1 steak uninoculated for quality control purposes. Do not apply intervention; place in buffer, massage and only sample for control plating and control DNA/qPCR analysis.

Figure 5.1. Experimental Flow Chart For Each Trial

5.2.7. PMA and Deoxycholate Treatment

For PMA treatment of samples, a 20 mM stock solution of PMA (Biotium, Inc. Hayward, California, USA) was prepared and stored at 4°C until use. For each sample suspension (300 μ L) in 2 mL Eppendorf tubes, 1.5 μ L of 20 mM PMA was added and vortexed thoroughly. Tubes were placed on ice horizontally in the dark for 5 min followed by exposure to a 650-W halogen lamp for 2 min, held 20 cm above the tubes, while slowly rocking samples back and forth to ensure uniform exposure. Samples were then removed from light, centrifuged at 8,000 *x g* for 3 min, the supernatant was discarded, and the cells were washed with peptone water. The cell pellet was stored at -20°C until further analysis.

For samples treated with both PMA and deoxycholate, deoxycholate was applied to samples before PMA treatment. A 1% (w/v) solution of deoxycholate (Sigma-Aldrich) previously optimized (Yang et al. 2011) was prepared and stored at -20°C until use. Sample suspensions (300 μ L) in 2 mL Eppendorf tubes were centrifuged at 8,000 *x g* for 3 min, and the supernatant was discarded. The pellet was resuspended with 300 μ L 1% deoxycholate and incubated in a rocking water bath at 37°C for 30 min. After incubation, the suspension was treated with PMA as described above.

5.2.8. Enumeration of E. coli O157:H7 on Beef Steaks

On the same day as experimentation, samples were plated. Ten fold dilutions were prepared in sterile 0.1% peptone water from original sample suspensions of beef steaks in stomacher bags with buffer, and 100 μ L of dilutions estimated to provide 30-300 colonies per plate was used to manually plate onto LB and Violet Red Bile (VRB; Oxoid) agar. Plates were incubated at 30°C for 24 h and enumerated next day. The number of uninjured cells were enumerated on VRB agar and the numbers of uninjured and injured but viable cells were enumerated on LB agar.

5.2.9. DNA Extraction and Quantification in qPCR

DNA was extracted from samples (DNeasy blood and tissue kit; Qiagen, Mississauga, Ontario, Canada) following instructions for Gram negative bacteria with exceptions. Cells suspended in buffer ATL (supplemented with proteinase K) were incubated for 2 hr, and DNA was eluted from mini columns twice with 100 μ L of butter AE. For quantification in qPCR, primers URL-301 and URR-432 were used to target *uidA* gene (Sigma-Aldrich). qPCR master mix was prepared as follows per reaction: 12.5 μ L of SYBR green (Qiagen), 2.5 μ L each forward and reverse primer, and 2.5 μ L nuclease free water, with 5 μ L template DNA added to 20 μ L of master mix for a total volume of 25 μ L per reaction. A standard curve was prepared

from purified PCR product of *E. coli* O157:H7 (00-3581) DNA (QIAquick PCR Purification Kit; Qiagen), which was diluted to 100 mg/l and then further diluted in serial ten fold dilutions to 10¹⁰. From here, six dilutions were used as points on the standard curve in range of DNA concentration within samples, 10³ to 10⁸. Nuclease free water served as negative control to ensure no contamination within master mix and uninoculated steak served as negative control for any native *E. coli* that may be already present on steak, as described previously (section 5.2.3). A 7500 Fast Real-Time PCR system (Applied Biosystems) was used for absolute quantification of DNA by one initial denaturation of template DNA and activation of Taq DNA polymerase at 95°C for 10 min, followed by 40 cycles of denaturation at 95°C for 30 s, primer annealing at 60°C for 1 min, extension at 72°C for 1 min. Quantification data was acquired from 7500 Software (version 2.0.5, Applied Biosystems) and analyzed. Melt curves of final products verified no formation of non-specific product or primer dimers. Each sample was quantified in duplicate per qPCR plate.

5.2.10. RNA Extraction and Quantification in RTqPCR

RNA was extracted from samples according to protocol (RNeasy Mini Kit; Qiagen), reverse transcribed to cDNA following the kit's manual (QuantiTect Reverse Transcription Kit; Qiagen). Two sets of primers were selected for RNA analysis, one targeting partial 16S rRNA (rRNA quantification; HDAf and HDAr; Sigma-Aldrich) and the second targeting the glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) (mRNA quantification; gapAf and gapAr; Sigma-Aldrich). Stocks were prepared of each primer set with sterile nuclease free water. Master mix recipe per reaction was prepared as follows: 12.5 μ L SYBR green (Qiagen), 0.5 μ L each forward and reverse primers, 10.5 μ L nuclease free water, and 1 μ L sample cDNA. A standard curve was developed by extracting genomic DNA from an overnight culture of *E. coli* O157:H7 (00-3581)

using Wizard Genomic DNA purification kit (Promega) as specified. Extracted genomic DNA was run in qPCR with respective primers (HDA or *gapA*) and the PCR product was purified according to purification kit instructions (QIAquick PCR Purification Kit, Qiagen) and diluted to 100 mg/l. For each primer set, this concentration was further diluted ten fold (up to 10⁻⁸) with dilutions chosen for final standard curve of 10⁻³ to 10⁻⁸. Standard curves analyzed by qPCR with samples for absolute quantification. Negative controls included nuclease free water and samples after genomic DNA Wipeout step in reverse transcription protocol (Qiagen) without supplementation of reverse transcriptase, to ensure no contamination of gDNA. The Reverse Transcription qPCR (RTqPCR) method was one initial denaturation of template DNA and activation of Taq DNA polymerase at 95°C for 5 min, followed by 40 cycles of denaturation at 95°C for 30 s, primer annealing at 60°C for 30 s, extension at 72°C for 30 s. Data was acquired from 7500 software (version 2.0.5, Applied Biosystems) and analyzed. Melt curves of final products were used to verify that non-specific products or primer dimers did not form. Samples were run in triplicate reaction per plate.

5.2.11. Statistical Analysis

Statistical Analysis Systems (SAS Institute, Inc.) was used to evaluate data by two way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by pair-wise comparison of means from different treatment groups with Bonferroni adjustment. A probability (p) of <0.05 was considered statistically significant. Three trials were performed for each intervention application, with triplicate sampling.

5.3. Results

5.3.1. Quantification of *E. coli* O157:H7 on Beef by qPCR After Lactic Acid Intervention

To determine the most accurate method to quantify viable EHEC on beef steak after lactic acid intervention, five different detection methods were compared. Figures 5.2 A and B correlate quantification of *E. coli* O157:H7 on beef after lactic acid intervention by enumeration on LB agar as compared to the quantification of DNA or RNA by qPCR or RTqPCR, respectively. At 0 and 30 min, detection methods by plating, PMA with qPCR and rRNA and mRNA with RTqPCR determined that viable cells were not significantly reduced by lactic acid intervention. Interestingly, only in samples treated with PMA combined with deoxycholate was there significant reduction in the log gene copy $\#/cm^2$ of *E. coli* O157:H7 determined by qPCR. However, reductions observed at 0 and 30 min indicate that the combination treatment not only prevented all dead cell amplification, but it also prevented the amplification of sub-lethally injured cells when compared to plate count data which explains why reductions were significant as compared to plating.

5.3.2. Quantification of *E. coli* O157:H7 on Beef by qPCR After Peroxyacetic Acid Intervention

Similarly, after peroxyacetic acid intervention on steaks inoculated with *E. coli* O157:H7, five different detection methods were compared to determine the most accurate method to quantify viable cells. Figures 5.2 A and B correlate quantification of *E. coli* O157:H7 on beef after peroxyacetic acid intervention by means of enumeration on LB agar as compared to DNA or RNA quantification in qPCR or RTqPCR, respectively. After peroxyacetic acid intervention, plate counts, PMA qPCR and rRNA and mRNA RTqPCR detection methods determined viable



Figure 5.2. (**A**) Correlation of cell counts on LB agar & qPCR DNA quantification of *E. coli* O157:H7 recovered from beef after lactic acid (LA) intervention & PMA or PMA + deoxycholate (DC) treatment. Circle, control; triangle, PMA; square, PMA + DC; black, control 0 min; white, LA 0 min; dark grey, control 30 min; light grey, LA 30 min. Treatments plotted at log CFU/cm² of respective control or LA sample at 0 or 30 min. Values are means of three trials with technical repeat (n=3), standard error of means of LB \leq 0.32; DNA \leq 0.72. †Significantly different log gene copy #/cm² from Control at 0 & 30 min (p<0.05) *Significantly different log gene copy #/cm² from Control + PMA, Control + PMA + DC and LA at both 0 & 30 min (p<0.05) (**B**) Correlation of cell counts on LB agar & RTqPCR RNA quantification of *E. coli* O157:H7 recovered from beef after LA intervention. Diamond, rRNA; triangle, mRNA; black, control 0 min; white, LA 0 min; dark grey, control 30 min; light grey, LA 30 min. Treatments plotted at log CFU/cm² of respective control or LA sample at 0 or 30 min (p<0.05) (**B**) Correlation of cell counts on LB agar & RTqPCR RNA quantification of *E. coli* O157:H7 recovered from beef after LA intervention. Diamond, rRNA; triangle, mRNA; black, control 0 min; white, LA 0 min; dark grey, control 30 min; light grey, LA 30 min. Treatments plotted at log CFU/cm² of respective control or LA sample at 0 or 30 min. Values are means of three trials (n=3) with technical repeat, standard error of means of rRNA \leq 0.68; mRNA \leq 0.65.



Figure 5.3. (**A**) Correlation of cell counts on LB agar & qPCR DNA quantification of *E. coli* O157:H7 recovered from beef after peroxyacetic acid (PA) intervention and PMA or PMA with deoxycholate treatment. Circle, control; triangle, PMA; square, PMA with deoxycholate; black, control 0 min; white, PA 0 min; dark grey, control 30 min; light grey, PA 30 min. Treatments plotted at log CFU/cm² of respective control or PA sample at 0 or 30 min. Values are means of three trials with technical repeat (n=3), standard error of means of LB \leq 0.39; DNA \leq 0.68. (**B**) Correlation of cell counts on LB agar & RTqPCR RNA quantification of *E. coli* O157:H7 recovered from beef after PA intervention. Diamond, rRNA; triangle, mRNA; black, control 0 min; white, PA 0 min; dark grey, control 30 min; light grey, PA 30 min. Treatments plotted at log CFU/cm² of respective control or PA sample at 0 or 30 min. Values are means of three trials with technical negative end to be agar & RTqPCR RNA quantification of *E. coli* O157:H7 recovered from beef after PA intervention. Diamond, rRNA; triangle, mRNA; black, control 0 min; white, PA 0 min; dark grey, control 30 min; light grey, PA 30 min. Treatments plotted at log CFU/cm² of respective control or PA sample at 0 or 30 min. Values are means of three trials with technical repeat (n=3), standard error of means of rRNA \leq 0.35; mRNA \leq 1.12.

cells not significantly reduced at either 0 and 30 min sampling times and in addition, the combination treatment of PMA with deoxycholate was also not significant, likely because this intervention did not cause the same degree of sub-lethal injury as the other two interventions. Also, results indicate the combination treatment prevented not only all amplification of dead cells but also the injured cell population when compared to cell counts by plating.

5.3.3. Quantification of *E. coli* O157:H7 on Beef by qPCR After Hot Water Intervention

The same five different detection methods were compared to determine the most accurate method to quantify live cells after hot water intervention on beef steaks inoculated with *E. coli* O157:H7. The correlation of quantification of *E. coli* O157:H7 on beef after hot water intervention by means of enumeration on LB agar as compared to DNA or RNA quantification in qPCR or RTqPCR is presented in Figures 5.3 A and B, respectively. Enumeration by plating, PMA qPCR quantification and rRNA and mRNA RTqPCR quantification determined that the number of viable *E. coli* O157:H7 on steaks at both 0 and 30 min were not significantly reduced by hot water intervention. However, PMA with deoxycholate treatment and qPCR quantification determined there was a significant reduction in log gene copy #/cm² at 0 and 30 min. The significant reduction is likely attributed the degree of sub-lethal injury that the intervention caused, and that this population of cells was sensitive to the combination of PMA with deoxycholate treatment, which then lead to the prevention of amplification in qPCR.



5.3.4 *E. coli* O157:H7 Recovered on LB and VRB from Beef Steaks at 30 min after Intervention and after Treatment of Cells with PMA or PMA with Deoxycholate

qPCR quantification indicated that the combination of PMA and deoxycholate treatment caused sensitivity to viable EHEC cells after intervention when compared to control and cell count enumeration data by plating. Therefore, samples that were subjected to PMA and

Table 5.1. Enumeration of *E. coli* O157:H7 (Log CFU/cm²) Recovered on LB and VRB agars from Beef Steaks held for 30 min after Interventions of Lactic Acid (LA), Peroxyacetic Acid (PA) and Hot Water (HW) and after Treatment of cells with PMA or PMA with Deoxycholate deoxycholate treatment in addition to intervention were also enumerated on LB and VRB at 0

	Intervention					
Sample	Lactic Acid		Peroxyacetic Acid		Hot Water	
	LB	VRB	LB	VRB	LB	VRB
Control	7.24 ± 0.08	6.85 ± 0.27	7.00 ± 0.40	6.70 ± 0.70	$7.35\pm0.09^{\text{a}}$	$7.03\pm0.18^{\rm a}$
Control + PMA	6.65 ± 0.30	6.45 ± 0.17	6.98 ± 0.45	6.63 ± 0.79	7.57 ± 0.16^a	7.11 ± 0.46^{a}
Control + PMA + DC	6.57 ± 0.09	6.15 ± 0.70	6.41 ± 0.16	6.22 ± 0.25	6.46 ± 0.22^{ab}	6.09 ± 0.48^{ab}
Intervention	6.41 ± 0.14	5.27 ± 0.69	6.48 ± 0.13	6.08 ± 0.57	6.19 ± 0.54^{ab}	5.65 ± 0.62^{ab}
Intervention + PMA	5.91 ± 0.54	5.44 ± 0.45	6.29 ± 0.61	5.75 ± 1.17	6.16 ± 0.64^{ab}	5.88 ± 0.77^{ab}
Intervention + PMA + DC	5.58 ± 0.47	4.85 ± 0.94	5.70 ± 0.41	5.62 ± 0.31	5.20 ± 0.72^{b}	$4.85\pm0.68^{\text{b}}$

Values are means \pm SD, n=3. Values with superscripts are significantly different among values in the same column; those that do not share a common superscript are significantly different (p<0.05).

(data not shown) and 30 min to confirm this result (Table 5.1). This data showed that viability of cells is not affected in all interventions after treatment of samples with PMA. Following the combined treatment of both PMA and deoxycholate, a trend was observed of a reduction in viable cell count after all interventions, indicating that injured cells were killed by treatment. However, only hot water intervention in addition to the combined treatment of PMA with deoxycholate had a significant reduction in viable cell counts from the control.

5.4 Discussion

This is the first study comparing the five different detection methods for the quantification of viable EHEC on beef after intervention. An advantage of this study is that it was practical: it used a real food system and interventions used in the meat industry today. However, a limitation of this study is that cell count reductions were within the same order of magnitude as error bars and this made the meaning of the results more difficult to determine. Detection methods mRNA and rRNA RTqPCR, DNA qPCR and plate count methods quantified EHEC within 1 log or so of each other. Overall, enumeration by plating on LB agar was similar to rRNA RTqPCR quantification, but generally yielded higher viable cell counts than DNA qPCR and mRNA RTqPCR quantification. However, the correlation of results from DNA qPCR and plate counts decreased as dead cell concentration within the sample increased; this is because qPCR does not discriminate between viable and dead cells, whereas plating does (Sidari et al. 2011). The variability between DNA and RNA quantification can be attributed to amplification of different target genes in qPCR or RTqPCR as well as different sample preparation protocols (Keer and Birch 2003). Furthermore, rRNA provided more robust result to mRNA as mRNA is present as a lower percentage of total RNA within cells and that mRNA is more susceptible to degradation as compared to rRNA (Kushner 2002).

The application of lactic acid, peroxyacetic acid and hot water interventions to beef steaks inoculated with a five strain cocktail of E. coli O157:H7 created a heterogeneous population of viable, sub-lethally injured, and dead cells which created a suitable sample suspension to test detection methods for live cell discrimination. For controls in all three interventions at 0 and 30 min, mean viable cell count of inoculated EHEC on beef steaks was 7.27 log CFU/cm² on LB with an average injured population of $0.33 \log \text{CFU/cm}^2$. After intervention, there was an increase in injured cell count on steaks treated with lactic acid and hot water to an average of ~ 0.9 and 0.6 log CFU/cm² over 0 and 30 min, respectively, which suggests these treatments resulted in sub-lethally injury of cells. The average cell injury from peroxyacetic acid treatment of 0.40 log CFU/cm² was within range of control samples. Furthermore, comparison of intervention counts to the control data also indicated that the percentage of dead cells within samples was 68%, 45% and 90% for lactic acid, peroxyacetic acid and hot water, respectively. This determined that lactic acid and hot water interventions were more lethal to EHEC on beef than peroxyacetic acid, and this result is consistent with previous research indicating that lactic acid and hot water are more effective interventions on meat surface than peroxyacetic acid (Gill and Bryant 2000; Youssef et al. 2012; Castillo et al. 1998; Ellebracht et al. 2005; King et al. 2005). However, no intervention alone caused significant reduction of viable EHEC cells on beef from controls.

Interestingly, at 0 min sampling there was more variation among viable cell quantification methods for respective interventions than at 30 min sampling. With lactic acid, there was no reduction at 0 min for either rRNA or mRNA RTqPCR but with peroxyacetic acid or hot water intervention, reduction of both rRNA and mRNA in RTqPCR was observed. This may be due to the time required for lactic acid to enter into cytoplasm and kill cells, since the antimicrobial

effect specifically includes penetration of cells in an undissociated form and lowering intercellular pH (Alakomi et al. 2000). However, with peroxyacetic acid and hot water treatments instantaneous reduction of EHEC after application was observed; this is likely due to immediate oxidizing effect of H₂O₂ with peroxyacetic acid intervention since mechanisms of action include oxidization of sulphur bonds in cell membrane, enzymes and proteins and in addition, immediate membrane disruption and irreversible denaturation of protein occurs with hot water intervention (Finnegan et al. 2010; Lee and Kaletunc 2002). At 30 min sampling, lactic acid and peroxyacetic acid were not different using RNA RTqPCR quantification methods, which averaged 0.64 log reverse transcript/cm²; however, plating indicated that lactic acid was more lethal than peroxyacetic acid. This indicates that conventional plating is a more sensitive indicator of viable cells than RTqPCR RNA. Moreover, compared to both acid interventions hot water had greater reduction in not only plate counts but over double log reverse transcript/cm² for both RNA RTqPCR quantification methods, indicating that this intervention was the most lethal for *E. coli* O157:H7 on beef steaks.

PMA treatment does not affect viability of cells (Yang et al. 2011; Elizaquivel et al. 2012; Nocker et al. 2006). PMA qPCR quantification prevented some, but not all, amplification of DNA from dead cells in sample suspensions as it was found to be excluded by up to 87% of dead cells when correlated to LB plate count reductions from control after intervention. The reduction in DNA amplification that was observed with PMA qPCR did not reflect variation in reduction from severity of intervention as the higher kill of hot water intervention was not reflected by PMA treatment. This is likely due to a high initial cell concentration in samples and the increased dead cell concentration that can interfere with viable cell quantification in PMA qPCR and decrease the correlation of plate count enumeration and PMA qPCR quantification of live

cells (Yañez et al. 2011; Løvdal et al. 2011; Pan and Breidt 2007; Wagner et al. 2008). This could be because with a high initial cell density containing a high concentration of dead cells, PMA crosslinking during light activation can be inhibited (Løvdal et al. 2011). Others have also suggested that incubation of samples for a longer period of time and at higher temperatures will increase PMA penetration into cells (Nkuipou-Kenfack et al. 2013). Løvdal et al. (2011) used PMA qPCR in an attempt to discriminate between live and dead L. innocua cells in media after applying a severe lethal heat treatment of 80°C for 15 min; in comparison to plate counts, large discrepancies were observed between these methods as plate counts were below detection limit whereas PMA gPCR quantified 8 log cells/mL. Furthermore, in a food system correlation of live cell detection methods can vary depending on food matrix, amount of microbial contamination and severity of interventions applied. Pachelowicz et al. (2013) found that viable Campylobacter cell counts on raw chicken carcasses were not in accordance between PMA gPCR and conventional plate count method wherein PMA was excluded from dead cells and especially in higher cell density samples, whereas Josefson et al. (2010) found that viable *Campylobacter* cell counts on raw chicken carcasses were highly correlated between qPCR PMA and conventional plating.

A recent study also compared different methods for detection of live *E. coli* O157:H7 on lettuce: culture based method (plating) as compared to more rapid molecular detection techniques of gene transcript (mRNA) quantification in RTqPCR and qPCR with PMA (Ju et al. 2016). As the surface of lettuce leaves do not provide sufficient nutrition for survival, enumeration by plating determined that *E. coli* O157:H7 declined by 10^7 in 96 h in low relative humidity conditions. Molecular methods determined there was no reduction of *E. coli* O157:H7 in qPCR quantification alone and only a 10^2 and 10^3 reduction by the viable detection methods assessed: mRNA RTqPCR and PMA qPCR quantification, respectively. Much like our study, their results indicate that PMA qPCR leads to false positive result and they determined that this is likely due to the presence of a high concentration of dead cells within a sample. Also, they determined that mRNA RTqPCR amplified transcripts from dead cells, and therefore this method could also lead to false positive result. In comparison, our study also confirms that PMA qPCR and mRNA RTqPCR quantification do not provide accurate estimates of bacterial viability in comparison to culture based methods. The other viable cell detection method assessed in the present study, that was not included in work by Ju et al. (2016), was qPCR quantification after PMA with deoxycholate treatment.

Interestingly, this work indicates that combination treatment of PMA with deoxycholate does affect the viability of cells. The use of deoxycholate prior to PMA treatment to increase cell membrane permeability is a relatively new area of research and what has been investigated is not within food systems. In suspensions where *E. coli* cells were killed after heat treatment with no viable cells remaining, treatment with PMA prior to qPCR analysis resulted in a difference in the mean cycle threshold (Ct) values of -1.5 cycles from controls whereas treatment with PMA with deoxycholate resulted in much higher Ct values with a mean increase of 7.30, indicating that PMA with deoxycholate significantly decreases amplification of dead cells in qPCR as compared to PMA alone (Yang et al. 2014). Yang et al. (2011) found that *E. coli* cells that were killed by under 72°C heat treatment were permeable to PMA and while the majority of cells killed by under 72°C heat treatment were not, the addition of 1% deoxycholate treatment rendered a large portion of these cells permeable to the dye. Furthermore, Wang et al. (2014) found that after lactic acid intervention, membranes of dead and injured *E. coli* cells that were impermeable to PMA were rendered permeable to the dye after treatment with 1% deoxycholate treatment and in

this study, the injured cells were resuscitated in nutrient rich broth for 2 h prior to deoxycholate treatment which restored injured cell membrane barrier properties. This could be a possible solution to injured cell sensitivity to PMA with deoxycholate treatment but since our study was performed in a more complex system rather than in broth or buffer, this could prove to be more complicated and warrants further investigation. In the present investigation, the comparison of 3 different interventions on E. coli O157:H7 inoculated beef steaks with PMA and deoxycholate treatment consistently resulted in reduced log gene $copy \#/cm^2$, which was significant in two of three interventions. Therefore, our results indicate that if PMA with deoxycholate treatment with qPCR is used for pathogen detection in meat, it could kill injured cells present in samples and lead to false negative detection. Since the inability to discriminate between DNA in live and dead cells in qPCR is a problem that extends beyond EHEC in meat, this combination treatment could be a solution in these other areas of research. This includes determination of viable probiotics in the gut or viable lactic acid bacteria or bifidobacteria in fermented foods (Tabasco et al. 2014; Villarreal et al. 2013; Cocolin et al. 2011; Rantsiou and Cocolin 2006). However, it is important to note that concentration of treatment should be adjusted to target microorganism, as Gram positive microorganisms have different resistance to deoxycholate than Gram negative microorganisms (Nkuipou-Kenfack et al. 2013).

This study compared five different methods to determine most accurate quantification of viable *E. coli* O157:H7 detection on beef steaks after intervention. PMA treatment with qPCR did not prevent all dead cell amplification in samples after intervention and therefore this treatment does not resolve the issue of false positive result in qPCR; however, it does prevent amplification of some dead cell DNA and therefore increases the accuracy of viable cell quantification compared to qPCR alone. In contrast, treatment of cells with PMA with

deoxycholate did prevent all dead cell DNA amplification; however, it does so at the cost of sublethally injured cells as deoxycholate supported PMA penetration into injured cells which may have otherwise recovered; this makes DNA inaccessible for qPCR quantification and would lead to false negative result. Both rRNA and mRNA quantification in qPCR had more variability and was not as sensitive for quantifying viable cells as plate counts. While PMA with deoxycholate may not be suitable for pathogen detection in food, it could be used in other areas of research that aim to exclude all dead cells at the expense of injured cells. On the other hand, if research aims to amplify all viable cells including the injured cell population at the cost of also amplifying some dead cell DNA, PMA or rRNA with qPCR detection methods could be used. Overall, conventional plating provided most sensitive and reliable detection of viable *E. coli* O157:H7 on beef.

6. Conclusions and Future Directions

6.1. General Discussion

EHEC's ability to cause severe disease in humans with only 10 cells or fewer makes it an important foodborne pathogen (Willshaw et al. 1994). Since there is no treatment for EHEC infection, control and detection on food are the only means currently available to prevent sickness. Illness outbreaks are linked to the consumption of foods such as spinach and beef (Rangel et al. 2005). Therefore, these at risk foods were chosen as food models for projects in this thesis on EHEC control and detection. Novel intervention methods for controlling EHEC on food, and improved EHEC detection methods on food, are necessary to increase the safety of our food supply and decrease the risk of foodborne illness. However, it is important that new control and detection methods are also tested within a food system to ensure that they are effective and compatible with food matrix and composition as well as the required food storage conditions, so that they may be practically used in an industry setting.

6.1.1. Control

A novel method of controlling EHEC on food is the use of antimicrobial allyl isothiocyanate (AITC), a compound that is naturally found in high levels in mustard seed in the form of its precursor compound sinigrin (Antonious et al. 2009; Delaquis and Mazza 1995; Lin et al 2000b). While AITC is versatile as an intervention in that it can be applied in various forms, the use of mustard powder as a vector for AITC release is particularly interesting. The AITC molecule is highly volatile which presents challenges use, as it can cause irritation to exposed workers and rapid decomposition (Dussault et al. 2014; Martinez-Abad et al. 2013). However, use in the form of mustard meal could help manage the antimicrobial; volatile AITC remains in the form of stable sinigrin until water is added and mustard's endogenous enzyme myrosinase catalyzes release of the antimicrobial from its precursor (Graumann and Holley 2009; Shofran et al. 1998). Another limitation is that the sensory quality of food can be affected by AITCs pungent odor and spicy flavor but, concentrations of mustard meal added to foods such as ground beef patties have also corresponded to acceptable taste, smell and color of food by panelists, and these concentrations have corresponded to lethal effect on pathogens (Chacon et al. 2006a). Furthermore, while pure AITC concentrations required for lethal effect on produce are within compliance of allowed levels in food by regulatory authority, on meat, these levels are not within allowable levels as higher amounts are required due to interaction with proteins in meat matrix (USDA 2014). The use of mustard meal; however, is not regulated in food and therefore could be used to deliver AITC to food in concentrations that cause lethal effect and retain sensory quality (Chacon et al. 2006a; Nadaraja et al. 2005b). Furthermore, use of a natural source of AITC such as mustard on at-risk foods would be beneficial since it would provide a clean food label rather than require listing as a synthetic chemical preservative (Khan and Abourashed 2009).

To explore mustard AITC intervention in a way that has not been done before, one study of this thesis involved the investigation on the use of AITC gas released from mustard meal to eliminate *E. coli* O157:H7 and *L. innocua* on spinach and lettuce. After HPLC analysis, it was discovered that sinigrin was stable at 4°C throughout 4 d storage, and therefore AITC could not be released and not surprisingly, mustard meal did not reduce *E. coli* O157:H7 or *L. innocua* on spinach, lettuce or filter paper at this temperature during 4 d storage. However, since AITC remains a potent antimicrobial at refrigerated temperature (Lin et al. 2000a; Piercey et al. 2012), absence of activity at 4°C was attributed to inactivity of myrosinase enzyme in mustard meal at this temperature, thereby preventing AITC release into headspace. At 15 and 30°C, sinigrin was significantly reduced over 4 d which corresponded to a maximum concentration of AITC in

headspace of 30 mg/L; this amount of AITC has been found effective in reducing *E. coli* O157:H7 on spinach, lettuce and tomatoes at 4°C (Obaidat et al. 2009a, 2009b). However, in this project *E. coli* O157:H7 was not killed at elevated temperature, but at the same time, these temperatures were not practical to use for intervention on these products due requirement of storage at 4°C. Therefore, I reject my hypothesis that mustard meal could be used to control EHEC on spinach and lettuce at refrigerated temperature. Rather, mustard meal AITC could possibly be used as a preservation method to reduce other microorganisms, such as spoilage microbiota, on foods stored at room temperature.

6.1.2. Detection

Current validated enrichment times for methods of *E. coli* O157:H7 detection on beef and leafy greens are 7-24 h, inclusive (Health Canada 2011). This thesis also involved investigation into enrichment times to determine if they were sufficient to detect all cells within a sample, with focus on sub-lethally injured cells with extended lag phases. Enrichment is still a required step that is used in conjunction with various types of detection methods, including conventional plating and molecular detection methods, as it increases target microorganism to a concentration at which it can be detected as well as resuscitates injured cells. However, enrichment poses a problem by increasing overall detection time; even with rapid molecular methods of detection such as qPCR, time is increased from hours to days when coupled with enrichment (Ge and Meng 2009; Brehm-Strecher et al. 2009). Therefore, decreasing enrichment times would be beneficial as this would allow for more rapid pathogen detection.

Lag phases of microorganisms are extended after sub-lethal injury or stress to cells, and this can affect time to detection (Stephens et al. 1997, Smelt et al. 2002, Li et al. 2006). To determine necessary EHEC enrichment times, the current work in this thesis involved the

assessment of individual E. coli O157:H7 cell lag phases of uninjured and sub-lethally heat injured cells with spectrophotometer measurement (with a high detection limit of 10^6 cells) as well as correlation to aPCR measurement (with a lower detection limit of 10^3 cells). It was found that while the majority of uninjured cells are detected within current validated enrichment times with both detection methods, it is the cells sub-lethally injured by heat intervention, causing longer lag phases, which pose a problem for decreasing enrichment times. For spectrophotometer detection at 24 h, up to 39% of heat injured cells were not detected and in qPCR, up to 27% heat injured cells would go undetected at this time. As sub-lethally injured cells can recover and grow, it is important that they are detected on food since EHEC has a low infectious dose (Kiranmayi et al. 2010). As another means to assess necessary enrichment time, the present work also quantified low initial E. coli O157:H7 cell count samples (an estimated 1-10 cells/mL and 10-100 cells/mL per sample) in qPCR after incubation of 12 or 24 h at 37°C in LB broth with or without sub-lethal heat treatment. While at 24 h, there was no significant difference between uninjured and injured cell growth in either sampling group, with reduced incubation time of 12 h, sub-lethally injured cells were significantly lower compared to uninjured cells in both sampling groups. Furthermore, with a lower initial cell count (1-10 cells/mL), heat injured cells reach concentrations near detection limit of qPCR at 12 h sampling. Therefore, it was found that longer enrichment times should be used as opposed to shorter enrichment times to increase the probability of detecting sub-lethally injured cells. Further decreasing enrichment times from current validated methods increases the probability of not detecting sub-lethally injured cells which could lead to false negative result, therefore, the hypothesis that EHEC enrichment times can be decreased is rejected.

The required lengthy enrichment step prior to qPCR analysis was the first major limitation of qPCR detection explored. The second major limitation of qPCR detection, the inability to differentiate between live and dead cell DNA in a sample, was also investigated in the work of this thesis. Moreover, this research was the first to compare five different viable EHEC detection methods in a food model system; PMA or PMA with deoxycholate in conjunction with qPCR, in comparison to qPCR mRNA and rRNA quantification and conventional plate count enumeration. While the photo-inducible DNA binding dye, PMA, prevented some dead cell amplification in qPCR, it did not prevent all; this was also found by others (Patcholewicz et al. 2013, Løvedal et al. 2011). PMA in combination with membrane emulsifying deoxycholate has been previously proposed to enhance PMA penetration into dead cells with intact membranes and therefore provide a more accurate quantification of viable cells in qPCR (Yang et al. 2011). These authors found that this method was successful to prevent dead E. coli cell DNA amplification in qPCR in broth and the current work in a food system also confirmed this result but also found other complications. While PMA with deoxycholate prevented all dead EHEC cell amplification in qPCR on beef steaks after interventions of lactic acid, peroxyacetic acid and hot water wash, the combination treatment also killed the sublethally injured cells within sample suspensions; this treatment was more complex within a food system. Moreover, instead of preventing false positive result, this treatment could cause false negative result since this population of sub-lethally injured cells may have otherwise recovered. Further optimization of this method is warranted, including the adjustment of deoxycholate concentration to target microorganism (Nkuipou-Kenfack et al. 2013), providing an injured cell resuscitation step prior to treatment (Wang et al. 2014) and testing treatment within different food systems and after a representative intervention application has been applied. In comparison,

RNA analysis provided viable cell quantification but was more time consuming, labor-intensive and was subject to sample degradation than DNA quantification. While PMA alone used as a pre-treatment could provide some improved accuracy of live cell DNA quantification in qPCR, overall it was the conventional plating method that was the most reproducible of the five methods assessed for viable EHEC cell quantification on beef steak after intervention. The hypothesis that PMA with deoxycholate could increase the accuracy of live cell detection in qPCR for pathogen detection on food is rejected.

6.1.3. Importance of Testing Intervention Models in Food Systems under Practical Storage Conditions

The majority of microbial experimentation is performed in media and while this allows for control of variables such as pH, nutrient composition, water activity and temperature, it does not reflect microbial behaviour in the relevant food matrix since media is far less complex than food systems (Smith et al. 2005). Interventions may appear effective in theory and prove to be successful in broth or buffer; however, it is important that they are tested in a food system since efficacy of intervention can be influenced by food matrix. Firstly, food matrix can have a protective effect on microorganisms as cells can hide in cracks or crevices of food and be physically protected from intervention application (FDA 2014b). Secondly, food matrix composition can also protect cells, as food constituents within the matrix can interact with bacteria and influence their resistance to lethal interventions. For example, bactericidal effect of high pressure on foodborne pathogens such as *E. coli* O157:H7, *Salmonella* spp., and *Campylobacter jejuni* is highly dependent on food matrices and therefore an evaluation of intervention against target microorganisms on the specified food is necessary to determine efficacy (Gänzle and Liu 2015; Huang et al. 2013; Liu et al. 2012; Morales et al. 2008). For

instance, pathogens are more resistant to high pressure processing when in ground beef as opposed to peptone water (Baccus-Taylor et al. 2015). This may be attributed to constituents within the meat matrix such as calcium and magnesium ions, which can stabilize the outer membrane of the cell (Garcia-Hernandez 2015) as well as the concentration and type of fat, although influence of fat on efficacy of high pressure intervention is not well understood (Escriu and Mor-Mur 2009). Lastly, food composition can also protect cells by interacting with antimicrobial that are applied directly to food, rendering them ineffective against the target microorganism. This is observed with non-specific antimicrobials which are beneficial in that they can target a wide range of microorganisms, but also because of this, they can also react with constituents of the food matrix. Chlorine is one such non-specific antimicrobial, and while effective on hard surfaces or buffer, its efficacy is reduced in the presence of organic matter since it readily reacts with unsaturated fatty acids and is neutralized (Rahman 2007; Fukayama 1986; FDA 2014b). Moreover, natural plant essential oils are another good example; a reduction of antimicrobial activity of cinnamon, clove, oregano or thyme oil against pathogens in foods with increased fat content as opposed to their lower fat content counterparts, including milk, cheeses and hot dogs (Cava et al. 2007; Smith-Palmer et al. 2001; Singh et al. 2004), a reduction in oregano and thyme oil activity against forborne pathogens due to increased complex carbohydrate (potato starch) content whereas simple carbohydrate (sugar) did not interfere with antimicrobial efficacy of essential oils (Gutierrez et al. 2008; Gutierrez et al. 2009) and with allyl isothiocyanate from mustard essential oil, a reduction in activity was observed due to interaction with proteins and amino acids, leading to the requirement of at least ten times more AITC for an observed antimicrobial effect in meat such as ground beef as compared to produce (Luciano et al. 2008; Nadaraja et al. 2005b). Overall, the components of a food's matrix create a complex
system that can greatly influence intervention efficacy against target pathogens due to interactions with various food components.

Furthermore, in addition to influencing cell survival during intervention, the complexity of food matrix can also affect sampling and detection in methods such as qPCR quantification. Food samples may contain various inhibitors and native microflora that are not present in broth or buffer samples (Wang et al. 2013a; Smith 2005). There are a wide range of qPCR inhibitors that can be found in food samples, including carbohydrates (di- and polysaccharides), proteins (collagen, haemoglobin, and proteinases) as well as minerals such as salt and calcium (Rossen et al. 1992; Schrader et al. 2012). The conditions in which food products are stored is also an important factor to consider in the development of new antimicrobial interventions. In the current work, AITC release from sinigrin in mustard meal is significant at higher temperatures of 15 and 30°C; however, at refrigerated temperature, little AITC was released over 4 d storage due to low enzyme activity; this renders mustard meal intervention impractical for spinach and lettuce decontamination, since produce requires storage at refrigerated temperature. Therefore, testing of new preservation methods on the intended food product and under required storage conditions is essential before it should be considered by industry, and in addition, potential food matrix inhibitors that may interfere with pathogen detection should be determined so that methods can be developed to eliminate or minimize their impact and increase accuracy of detection.

In summary, the current projects provided insight into control and detection of EHEC on food. Use of mustard meal as a vector for AITC gas release can be beneficial for foods stored at room temperature; however, for successful use this method must be optimized and food composition, storage time and temperature should be considered. Secondly, current validated enrichment times used prior to EHEC detection methods were insufficient for detection of all

95

sub-lethally injured single cells. Longer enrichment times would increase the probability that all viable cells will be detected in a sample, whereas shortening enrichment times increases the risk of not detecting all viable cells within a sample, especially the sub-lethally injured cell population, which could lead to a false negative result. Lastly, the issue of a false positive result due to dead cell amplification in qPCR remains an issue; treatment of PMA with deoxycholate prior to detection killed injured cells and therefore was counter-productive, while PMA alone did not prevent amplification of all dead cells and of the 5 detection methods it was conventional plating that provided the most reproducible, reliable and accurate quantification of viable EHEC on food.

6.2. Future Directions

This thesis provided insight on the use of mustard meal as an intervention to release volatile AITC from sinigrin; mustard meal should not be used at refrigerated temperature since myrosinase is inactive and rather should be used at elevated temperature. Preservation of food from spoilage organisms at room temperature by use of mustard meal could be a useful intervention and further research is warranted.

This thesis proposed that enrichment time should not be decreased from current validated methods as this would increase the probability of not detecting the sub-lethally injured population that have extended lag phase. Current enrichment times should be explored in food systems to determine if food matrix further complicates the enrichment of such cells.

This thesis provided insight into the use of PMA with deoxycholate treatment prior to qPCR quantification to increase the accuracy of live cell detection. EHEC on beef steaks injured by intervention were killed by the combination treatment however, and requires further

optimization in a food system if it is to be considered to prevent dead cell amplification and increase accuracy of viable pathogen detection in qPCR.

References

- Ahn J, Lee H, Im SW, Jung CH, Ha TY, 2014. Allyl isothiocyanate ameliorates insulin resistance through the regulation of mitochondrial function. J Nutr Biochem. 25:1026–1034.
- Al-Delaimy K, Barakat M, 1971. Antimicrobial and preservative activity of garlic on fresh ground camel meat. I. Effect of fresh ground garlic segments. J Sci Food Agric. 22:96-98.
- Alakomi H, Skyttä E, Saarela M, Helander IM, 2000. Lactic acid permeabilizes Gram-negative bacteria by disrupting the outer membrane. Appl Environ Microbiol. 66:2000–2005.
- Antonious GF, Bomford M, Vincelli P, 2009. Screening *Brassica* species for glucosinolate content. J Environ Sci Heal Part B. 44:311–316.
- Avery LM, Williams AP, Killham K, Jones DL, 2008. Survival of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in waters from lakes, rivers, puddles and animal-drinking troughs. Sci Total Environ. 389:378–385.
- Bach SJ, McAllister TA, Veira DM, Gannon VPJ, Holley RA, 2002. Transmission and control of *Escherichia coli* O157 : H7 A review. Can J Anim Sci. 82:475–490.
- Bacon RT, Belk KE, Sofos JN, Clayton RP, Reagan JO, Smith GC, 2000. Microbial populations on animal hides and beef carcasses at different stages of slaughter in plants employing multiple-sequential interventions for decontamination. J Food Prot. 63: 1080-1086.
- Bae S, Wuertz S, 2009. Discrimination of viable and dead fecal bacteroidales bacteria by quantitative PCR with propidium monoazide. Appl Environ Microbiol. 75:2940–2944.
- Banerjee A, Penna S, Variyar PS, 2015. Allyl isothiocyanate enhances shelf life of minimally processed shredded cabbage. Food Chem. 183:265–272.
- Banerjee S, 2009. Hemolytic uremic syndrome. Indian Pediatr. 46:1075–1084.
- Baranyi J, Pin C, 1999. Estimating bacterial growth parameters by means of detection times. Appl Environ Microbiol. 65:732–736.
- Belitz H, Grosch W, Schieberle P, 2004. Food Chemistry. 3rd ed. Germany: Springer. Chapter 17, Vegetables and their products; p. 791.
- Bettelheim K, Beutin L, 2003. A REVIEW Rapid laboratory identification and characterization of verocytotoxigenic (shiga toxin producing) *Escherichia coli* (VTEC/STEC). J Appl Microbiol.205–217.
- Bhattacharya A, Tang L, Li Y, Geng F, Paonessa JD, Chen S, Wong M, Zhang y, 2010. Inhibition of bladder cancer development by allyl isothiocyanate. Carcinogenesis. 31:281–6.

Blagojevic B, Antic D, Ducic M, Buncic S, 2012. Visual cleanliness scores of cattle at slaughter

and microbial loads on the hides and the carcases. Vet Rec. 170:563-563.

- Borges A, Abreu AC, Ferreira C, Saavedra MJ, Simões LC, Simões M, 2015. Antibacterial activity and mode of action of selected glucosinolate hydrolysis products against bacterial pathogens. J Food Sci Technol. 52:4737–4748.
- Brabban AD, Edwards C, 1994. Isolation of glucosinolate degrading microorganisms and their potential for reducing the glucosinolate content of rapemeal. FEMS Microbiol Lett. 119:83– 88.
- Brandi G, Amagliani G, Schiavano GF, De Santi M, Sisti M, 2006. Activity of *Brassica oleracea* leaf juice on foodborne pathogenic bacteria. J Food Prot. 69:2274–2279.
- Brandt JR, Fouser LA, Watkins SL, Zelikovic I, Tarr PI, Nazar-Stewart V, Avner ED, 1994. *Escherichia coli* O157:H7-associated hemolytic-uremic syndrome after ingestions of contaminated hamburgers. J Pediatr. 125:519-26.
- Brehm-Stecher B, Young C, Jaykus LA, Tortorello ML, 2009. Sample preparation: the forgotten beginning. J Food Prot. 72:1774–1789.
- Brooks JT, Sowers EG, Wells JG, Greene KD, Griffin PM, Hoekstra R, Strockbine N, 2005. Non-O157 shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* infections in the United States, 1983-2002. J Infect Dis. 192:1422–9.
- Brown C, Harmon BG, Zhao T, Doyle MP, 1997. Experimental *Escherichia coli* O157 : H7 carriage in calves. Appl Environ Microbiol. 63:27–32.
- Buchanan R, Doyle M, 1997. Foodborne disease significance of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and other Enterohemorragic *E. coli*. Food Technol. 51: 69-76.
- Caprioli A, Morabito S, Brugere H, Oswald E, 2005. Enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli*: emerging issues on virulence and modes of transmission. Vet Res. 36: 289-311.
- Carlson B, Ruby J, Smith GC, Sofos JN, Bellinger GR, Warren-Serna W, Centrella B, Bowling R, Belk K, 2008. Comparison of antimicrobial efficacy of multiple beef hide decontamination strategies to reduce levels of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and *Salmonella*. J Food Prot. 71:2223–2227.

Castillo A, Lucia LM, Goodson KJ, Savell JW, Acuff GR. 1998. Use of hot water for beef carcass decontamination. J Food Prot. 61: 19-25.

Cataldi TRI, Rubino A, Lelario F, Bufo SA, 2007. Naturally occurring glucosinolates in plant extracts of rocket salad (*Eruca sativa L*.) identified by liquid chromatography coupled with negative ion electrospray ionization and quadrupole ion-trap mass spectrometry. Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom. 21:2374–2388.

- Cava R, Nowak E, Taboada A, 2007. Antimicrobial activity of clove and cinnamon essential oils against *Listeria monocytogenes* in pasteurized milk. J Food Protect. 70:2757–2763.
- Cejpek K, Valusek J, Velisek J, 2000. Reactions of allyl isothiocyanate with alanine, glycine, and several peptides in model systems. J Agric Food Chem. 48:3560–3565.
- [CDC] Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2009. Guideline for disinfection and sterilization in healthcare facilities; [accessed on 2015 Nov 1]. http://www.cdc.gov/hicpac/Disinfection_Sterilization/4_0efficacyDS.html
- [CDC] Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2012. Body measurements; [Accessed 2015 Sept 20]. <u>http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/fastats/body-measurements.htm</u>
- [CDC] Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2015a. *E. coli*; [Accessed 2015 Sept 20]. http://www.cdc.gov/ecoli/general/
- [CDC] Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2015b. The National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health – Allyl isothiocyanate; [Accessed 2015 Sept 20]. <u>http://www.cdc.gov/niosh/ipcsneng/neng0372.html</u>
- [CDC] Centers for Disease Control and Protection. 2015c. *Listeria*. [Accessed 2015 July 3]. http://www.cdc.gov/listeria/definition.html
- [CDC] Centers for Disease Control and Protection. 2016. List of selected multistate foodborne outbreak investigations; [Accessed 2016 March 17]. http://www.cdc.gov/foodsafety/outbreaks/multistate-outbreaks/outbreaks-list.html
- Chacon P, Muthukumarasamy P, Holley R, 2006a. Elimination of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 from fermented dry sausages at an organoleptically acceptable level of microencapsulated allyl isothiocyanate. Appl Environ Microbiol. 72:3096–102.
- Chacon P, Buffo R, Holley R, 2006b. Inhibitory effects of microencapsulated allyl isothiocyanate (AIT) against *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in refrigerated, nitrogen packed, finely chopped beef. Int J Food Microbiol. 107:231–237.
- Chen J, Brody AL, 2013. Use of active packaging structures to control the microbial quality of a ready-to-eat meat product. Food Control. 30:306–310.
- Chen W, Jin TZ, Gurtler JB, Geveke DJ, Fan X, 2012. Inactivation of *Salmonella* on whole cantaloupe by application of an antimicrobial coating containing chitosan and allyl isothiocyanate. Int J Food Microbiol. 155:165–170.
- Cleveland J, Montville T, Nes I, Chikindas M, 2001. Bacteriocins: safe, natural antimicrobials for food preservation. Int J Food Microbiol. 71:1-20.
- Cocolin L, Dolci P, Rantsiou K, 2011. Biodiversity and dynamics of meat fermentations: The

contribution of molecular methods for a better comprehension of a complex ecosystem. Meat Sci. 89:296–302.

- Cools K, Terry LA, 2012. Comparative study between extraction techniques and column separation for the quantification of sinigrin and total isothiocyanates in mustard seed. J Chromatogr B. 901:115–118.
- Cordeiro RP, Wu C, Holley RA, 2014. Contribution of endogenous plant myrosinase to the antimicrobial activity of deodorized mustard against *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in fermented dry sausage. Int J Food Microbiol. 189:132–138.
- Dai R, Lim L-T, 2014. Release of allyl isothiocyanate from mustard seed meal powder. J Food Sci. 79:E47–53.
- Davaatseren M, Hwang J-T, Park JH, Kim M-S, Wang S, Sung M, 2014. Allyl isothiocyanate ameliorates angiogenesis and inflammation in dextran sulfate sodium-induced acute colitis. PLoS One. 9:e102975.
- Deisingh AK, Thompson M, 2004. Strategies for the detection of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in foods. J Appl Microbiol. 96:419–429.
- Delahay RM, Frankel G, Knutton S, 2001. Intimate interactions of enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* at the host cell surface. Curr Opin Infect Dis. 14:559–565.
- Delaquis P, Mazza G, 1995. Antimicrobial properties of isothiocyanates in food preservation. Food Technol. 49:73-84.
- Delaquis P, Sholberg P. 1997. Antimicrobial activity of gaseous allyl isothiocyanate. J Food Protect. 60: 943-947.
- Dias M, Soares N, Borges S, de Sousa M, Nunes C, de Oliveira N, Medeiros E, 2013. Use of allyl isothiocyanate and carbon nanotubes in an antimicrobial film to package shredded, cooked chicken meat. Food Chem. 141:3160–3166.
- Doane C, Pangloli P, Richards H, 2007. Occurrence of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in diverse farm environments. J Food Protect. 70: 6-10.
- Dufour V, Alazzam B, Ermel G, Thepaut M, Rossero A, Tresse O, Baysse C, 2012. Antimicrobial Activities of Isothiocyanates Against *Campylobacter jejuni* Isolates. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. 2:1–13.
- Dussault D, Vu KD, Lacroix M, 2014. In vitro evaluation of antimicrobial activities of various commercial essential oils, oleoresin and pure compounds against food pathogens and application in ham. Meat Sci. 96:514–520.

Dwivedi HP, Jaykus LA, 2011. Detection of pathogens in foods: the current state-of-the-art and

future directions. Crit Rev Microbiol. 37:40-63.

- [EFSA] European Food Safety Authority. 2007. Opinion of the Scientific Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies on a request from the Commission related to a notification from IFF on mustard seed oil pursuant to Article 6, paragraph 11 of Directive 2000/13/EC;
 [Accessed 2015 Sept 20].
 <u>http://www.efsa.europa.eu/sites/default/files/scientific_output/files/main_documents/nda_op</u> ej481 mustard seed oil iff en.pdf,3.pdf
- [EFSA] European Food Safety Authority. 2010. Scientific opinion on the safety of allyl isothiocyanate as a food additive; [Accessed 2015 Sept 21]. <u>http://www.efsa.europa.eu/sites/default/files/scientific_output/files/main_documents/1943.p</u> <u>df</u>
- Elizaquível P, Sánchez G, Aznar R, 2012. Quantitative detection of viable foodborne *E* . *coli* O157 : H7 , *Listeria monocytogenes* and *Salmonella* in fresh-cut vegetables combining propidium monoazide and real-time PCR. Food Control. 25:704–708.
- Ellebracht JW, King DA, Castillo A, Lucia LM, Acuff GR, Harris K, Savell J, 2005. Evaluation of peroxyacetic acid as a potential pre-grinding treatment for control of *Escherichia coli* O157 : H7 and *Salmonella* Typhimurium on beef trimmings. Meat Sci. 70:197–203.
- Escriu R, Mor-Mur M, 2009. Role of quantity and quality of fat in meat models inoculated with *Listeria innocua* or *Salmonella* Typhimurium treated by high pressure and refrigerated stored. Food Microbiol. 26:834–840.
- Ferens W, Hovde CJ, 2011. *Escherichia coli* O157:H7: animal reservoir and sources of human infection. Foodborne Pathog Dis. 8:465–87.
- Finnegan M, Linley E, Denyer SP, McDonnell G, Simons C, Maillard J, 2010. Mode of action of hydrogen peroxide and other oxidizing agents: differences between liquid and gas forms. J Antimicrob Chemother. 65:2108–2115.
- Flekna G, Polonca S, Smulders FJM, Mo SS, Hein I, 2007. Insufficient differentiation of live and dead *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Listeria monocytogenes* cells by ethidium monoazide (EMA) compromises EMA / real-time PCR. Res Microbiol.158:405–412.
- [FAO/WHO] Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations/World Health Organization. 2006. Summary of evaluations performed by the joint Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations/World Health Organization Expert Committee on Food Additives. Allyl isothiocyanate; [Accessed 2015 Sept 25]. <u>http://www.inchem.org/documents/jecfa/jeceval/jec_71.htm</u>
- [FDA] The US Food and Drug Administration. 2005. GRAS NOTICE Allyl isothiocyanate in a food shelf life extension and anti-spoilage system; [Accessed 2015 Nov 1].

http://www.fda.gov/downloads/Food/IngredientsPackagingLabeling/GRAS/NoticeInventory /UCM268886

- [FDA] The US Food and Drug Administration. 2012. Bacteriological analyticalmanual chapter 4A: Diarrheagenic *Escherichia coli*; [Accessed 2015 Nov 1]. <u>http://www.fda.gov/Food/FoodScienceResearch/LaboratoryMethods/ucm070080.htm</u>
- [FDA] The US Food and Drug Administration. 2013. FDA statement on Foodborne E. coli O157:H7 Outbreak in Spinach; [Accessed 2015 Sept 20] <u>http://www.fda.gov/NewsEvents/Newsroom/PressAnnouncements/2006/ucm108761.htm</u>
- [FDA] The US Food and Drug Administration. 2014a. Agency Response Letter GRAS notice; [Accessed on 2015 Sept 20]. http://www.fda.gov/Food/IngredientsPackagingLabeling/GRAS/NoticeInventory/ucm15462 9.htm
- [FDA] The US Food and Drug Administration. 2014b. Chapter V. Methods to reduce/eliminate pathogens from produce and fresh cut produce; [Accessed on 2015 Nov 20]. http://www.fda.gov/Food/FoodScienceResearch/SafePracticesforFoodProcesses/ucm091363 .htm
- [FDA] The US Food and Drug Administration. 2015a. Select Committee on GRAS substances Opinion: Mustard and Oil of Mustard (Brown and Yellow); [Accessed 2015 Sept 20]. http://www.fda.gov/food/ingredientspackaginglabeling/gras/scogs/ucm260906.htm
- [FDA] The US Food and Drug Administration. 2015b. Code of Federal Regulations Title 21; [Accessed 2015 Sept 20]. http://www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/cdrh/cfdocs/cfcfr/cfrsearch.cfm?cfrpart=172&showfr =1&subpartnode=21:3.0.1.1.3.6
- Franzen P, Drake A, Angulo F. 2005. Economic cost of illness due to *Escherichia coli* O157 infections in the United States. J Food Prot. 68: 2623-30.
- Fukayama MY, Tan H, Wheeler WB, Wei C, 1986. Reactions of aqueous chlorine and chlorine dioxide with model food compounds. Environ Health Persp. 69:267–274
- Gänzle M, Liu Y, 2015. Mechanisms of pressure-mediated cell death and injury in *Escherichia coli* : from fundamentals to food. Front Food Microbiol. 6:1–10.
- Garcia-Hernandez, 2015. PhD Thesis, Unpublished.
- Garner D, Kathariou S, 2016. Fresh produce-associated listeriosis outbreaks, sources of concern, teachable moments, and insights. J Food Protect. 79:337-344.
- Ge B, Meng J, 2009. Advanced technologies for pathogen and toxin detection in foods: current

applications and future directions. J Assoc Lab Autom. 14:235–241.

- Gill C, Bryant J, 2000. The effects on product of a hot water pasteurizing treatment applied routinely in a commercial beef carcass dressing process. Food Microbiol. 17:495–504.
- Gill C, Landers C, 2003. Microbiological effects of carcass decontaminating treatments at four beef packing plants. Meat Sci. 65:1005–1011.
- Graumann GH, Holley R, 2009. Survival of *E. coli* O157:H7 during manufacture of dry-cured Westphalian ham surface-treated with allyl isothiocyanate or hot mustard powder. J Sci Food Agric. 89:617–624.
- Guillier L, Augustin J, 2006. Modelling the individual cell lag time distributions of *Listeria monocytogenes* as a function of the physiological state and the growth conditions. Int J Food Microbiol. 111:241–251.
- Guillier L, Pardon P, Augustin J, 2005. Influence of stress on individual lag time distributions of *Listeria monocytogenes*. Appl Environ Microbiol. 71: 2940-2948.
- Guo M, Jin TZ, Scullen OJ, Sommers CH, 2013a. Effects of Antimicrobial Coatings and Cryogenic Freezing on Survival and Growth of *Listeria innocua* on Frozen Ready-to-Eat Shrimp during Thawing. J Food Sci. 78:M1195–M1200.
- Guo M, Jin TZ, Yang R, Antenucci R, Mills B, Cassidy J, Scullen O, Sites J, Rajkowski K, Sommers C, 2013b. Inactivation of natural microflora and inoculated *Listeria innocua* on whole raw shrimp by ozonated water, antimicrobial coatings, and cryogenic freezing. Food Control. 34:24–30.
- Guo M, Jin TZ, Yadav MP, Yang R, 2015. Antimicrobial property and microstructure of microemulsion edible composite films against *Listeria*. Int J Food Microbiol. 208:58–64.
- Gurtler JB, Rivera RB, Zhang HQ, Sommers CH, 2010. Behavior of avirulent *Yersinia pestis* in liquid whole egg as affected by storage temperature, antimicrobials and thermal pasteurization. J Food Saf. 30:537–557.
- Gutierrez J, Barry-Ryan C, Bourke P, 2008. The antimicrobial efficacy of plant essential oil combinations and interactions with food ingredients. Int J Food Microbiol. 124:91–97.
- Gutierrez J, Barry-Ryan C, Bourke P, 2009. Antimicrobial activity of plant essential oils using food model media : Efficacy , synergistic potential and interactions with food components. Food Microbiol. 26:142–150.
- Hamanaka D, Izumi H, 2008. Combined effect of mustard and hop extract agents with emulsifier on microbial quality and physiology of fresh-cut vegetables. Food Sci Technol Res. 14:565– 572.

- Hara-Kudo Y, Ikedo M, Kodaka H, Nakagawa H, Goto K, Masuda T, Konuma H, Kojima T, Kumagai S, 2000. Selective enrichment with a resuscitation step for isolation of freezeinjured *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 from foods. Appl Environ Microbiol. 66: 2866-2872.
- Hasegawa N, Matsumoto Y, Hoshino A, Iwashita K, 1999. Comparison of effects of *Wasabia japonica* and allyl isothiocyanate on the growth of four strains of *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* in lean and fatty tuna meat suspensions. Int J Food Microbiol. 49:27–34.
- Health Canada, 2005. Laboratory Procedures for the Microbiological Analysis of Food, MFLP 16; [Accessed 2015 Nov 1]. http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/fn-an/res-rech/analy-meth/microbio/volume3-eng.php
- Health Canada, 2007. What is a food guide serving; [Accessed 2015 Sept 21]. <u>http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/fn-an/food-guide-aliment/basics-base/serving-portion-eng.php</u>
- Health Canada, 2011. Laboratory Procedures for the Microbiological Analysis of Food, MFLP 98; [Accessed 2015 Nov 1]. http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/fn-an/res-rech/analy-meth/microbio/volume3-eng.php
- Health Canada, 2012a. Mustard one of the ten priority food allergens; [accessed 2016 Mar 22]. http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/fn-an/pubs/securit/2012-allergen_mustard-moutarde/index-eng.php
- Health Canada, 2012b. Laboratory Procedures for the Microbiological Analysis of Food, MFLP 30; [Accessed 2015 Nov 1]. http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/fn-an/res-rech/analy-meth/microbio/volume3-eng.php
- Health Canada, 2014. Cosmetic ingredient hotlist; [Accessed 2015 Sept 25]. <u>http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/cps-spc/cosmet-person/hot-list-critique/hotlist-liste-eng.php</u>
- Health Canada, 2015a. *E. coli* O157:H7 control in beef production; [Accessed 2015 Nov 1]. http://www.inspection.gc.ca/food/information-for-consumers/fact-sheets/specific-productsand-risks/meat-and-poultry-products/e-coli-o157-h7-control-in-beefproduction/eng/1361299193616/1361299285959
- Health Canada, 2015b. Laboratory procedures for the microbiological analysis of food; [Accessed 2015 Sept 22]. http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/fn-an/res-rech/analymeth/microbio/volume3-eng.php
- Health Canada, 2015c. Chemical substance allyl isothiocyanate; [Accessed 2015 Sept 25]. http://webprod.hc-sc.gc.ca/nhpid-bdipsn/ingredReq.do?id=1903&lang=eng
- Heath H, 1981. Source book of flavours. Westport (CT): AVI publishing Co. Chapter 1, The flavor industry; p. 5.
- Herzallah S, Holley R, 2015. Use of a nanoparticulate carboxymethyl cellulose film containing sinigrin as an antimicrobial precursor to kill *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 on fresh beef. Lett

Appl Microbiol. 61:139–145.

- Huang Y, Chen H, 2011. Effect of organic acids , hydrogen peroxide and mild heat on inactivation of *Escherichia coli* O157 : H7 on baby spinach. Food Control. 22:1178–1183.
- Huang Y, Ye M, Chen H, 2012. Efficacy of washing with hydrogen peroxide followed by aerosolized antimicrobials as a novel sanitizing process to inactivate *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 on baby spinach. Int J Food Microbiol. 153:306–313.
- Huang Y, Ye M, Chen H, 2013. Inactivation of Escherichia coli O157 : H7 and Salmonella spp . in strawberry puree by high hydrostatic pressure with / without subsequent frozen storage. int J Food Microbiol. 160:337–343.
- Hwang E, Lee HJ, 2006. Experimental Biology and Medicine Allyl Isothiocyanate and Its N-Acetylcysteine Conjugate Suppress Metastasis via Inhibition of Invasion, Migration, and Matrix Metalloproteinase-2 / -9 Activities in SK-Hep1 Human. Exp Biol Med. 231:421– 430.
- Inatsu Y, Bari ML, Kawasaki S, Kawamoto S, 2005. Effectiveness of some natural antimicrobial compounds in controlling pathogen or spoilage bacteria in lightly fermented Chinese cabbage. J Food Sci. 70:M393–M397.
- Jacewicz MS, Acheson DWK, Binion DG, West G, Lincicome LL, Fiocchi C, Keusch G, 1999. Responses of human intestinal microvascular endothelial cells to shiga toxins 1 and 2 and pathogenesis of hemorrhagic colitis. Infect Immun. 67:1439–1444.
- Jin T, Gurtler JB, 2011. Inactivation of *Salmonella* in liquid egg albumen by antimicrobial bottle coatings infused with allyl isothiocyanate, nisin and zinc oxide nanoparticles. J Appl Microbiol. 110:704–712.
- Jin TZ, Gurtler JB, Li S-Q, 2013. Development of antimicrobial coatings for improving the microbiological safety and quality of shell eggs. J Food Prot. 76:779–785.
- Josefsen MH, Lo C, Hansen TB, Christensen LS, Olsen JE, Hoorfar J, 2010. Rapid Quantification of viable *Campylobacter* bacteria on chicken carcasses , using real-time PCR and propidium monoazide treatment , as a tool for quantitative risk assessment. Appl Environ Microbiol. 76:5097–5104.
- Ju W, Moyne A, Marco M, 2016. RNA-based detection does not accurately enumerate living *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 cells on plants. Front Microbiol. 7:223.
- Kaper JB, Nataro JP, Mobley HLT, 2004. Pathogenic *Escherichia coli*. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2:123–140.
- Karpman D, Hakansson A, Perez MT, Isaksson C, Carlemalm E, Caprioli A, Svanborg C, 1998. Apoptosis of renal cortical cells in the hemolytic-uremic syndrome: in vivo and in vitro

studies. Infect Immun. 66:636–644.

- Keer JT, Birch L, 2003. Molecular methods for the assessment of bacterial viability. J Microbiol Meth. 53:175–183.
- Khan I, Abourashed E, 2009. Leung's encyclopedia of common natural ingredients: used in food, drugs and cosmetics. 3rd ed. Hoboken (NJ): Wiley. Mustard; p. 21.
- Kim Y, Ahn E, Shin D, 2002. Extension of shelf life by treatment with allyl isothiocyanate in combination with acetic acid on cooked rice. J Food Sci. 67: 274-279.
- King DA, Lucia LM, Castillo A, Acuff GR, Harris KB, Savell J, 2005. Evaluation of peroxyacetic acid as a post-chilling intervention for control of *Escherichia coli* O157 : H7 and *Salmonella* Typhimurium on beef carcass surfaces. Meat Sci. 69:401–407.
- Kiranmayi CB, Krishnaiah N, Mallika EN, 2010. *Escherichia coli* O157 : H7 An Emerging Pathogen in foods of Animal Origin. Rev Lit Arts Am. 3:382–389.
- Ko J, Kim WY, Park HJ, 2012. Effects of microencapsulated allyl isothiocyanate (AITC) on the extension of the shelf-life of Kimchi. Int J Food Microbiol. 153:92–98.
- Kosson R, Horbowicz M, 2009. Some quality characteristics including isothiocyanates content of horseradish cream as affected by storage period. Veg Crop Res Bull. 71:123–132.
- Krul C, Humblot C, Philippe C, Vermeulen M, van Nuenen M, Havenaar R, Rabot S, 2002. Metabolism of sinigrin (2-propenyl glucosinolate) by the human colonic microflora in a dynamic in vitro large-intestinal model. Carcinogenesis. 23:1009–1016.
- Kumagai H, Kashima N, Seki T, Sakurai H, Ishi K, Ariga T, 1994. Analysis of volatile components in essential oil of upland Wasabi and their inhibitory effects on platelet aggregation. Biosci Biotech Biochem. 58:2131–2135.
- Kushad MM, Brown AF, Kurilich AC, Juvik J, Klein BP, Wallig M, Jeffery E, 1999. Variation of glucosinolates in vegetable crops of *Brassica oleracea*. J Agric Food Chem. 47:1541–1548.
- Kushner S, 2002. mRNA decay in Escherichia coli comes of age. J Bacteriol. 184:4658-4665.
- Kyung KH, Fleming HP, 1997. Antimicrobial activity of sulfur compounds derived from cabbage. J Food Prot. 60:67–71.
- Lara-Lledó M, Olaimat A, Holley R, 2012. Inhibition of *Listeria monocytogenes* on bologna sausages by an antimicrobial film containing mustard extract or sinigrin. Int J Food Microbiol. 156:25–31.
- Lee D, Kim T, Jung Y, 2014. Inhibitory effect of allyl isothiocyanate on platelet aggregation. J Agric Food Chem. 62:7131-7139.

- Lee J, Kaletunc G, 2002. Evaluation of the heat inactivation of *Escherichia coli* and *Lactobacillus plantarum* by differential scanning calorimetry. Appl Environ Microbiol. 68:5379–5386.
- Lerbaek A, Rastogi S, Menne T, 2004. Allergic contact dermatitis from allyl isothiocyanate in a danish cohort of 259 selected patients. Contact Dermatitis. 54: 79-83.
- Li Y, Odumeru J, Griffiths M, McKellar RC, 2006. Effect of environmental stresses on the mean and distribution of individual cell lag times of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. Int J Food Microbiol. 110:278–285.
- Li Y, Teng Z, Chen P, Song Y, Luo Y, Wang Q, 2015. Enhancement of aqueous stability of allyl isothiocyanate using nanoemulsions prepared by an emulsion inversion point method. J Colloid Interface Sci. 438:130–137.
- Lim JY, Li J, Sheng H, Besser TE, Potter K, Hovde C, 2007. *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 colonization at the rectoanal junction of long-duration culture-positive cattle. Appl Environ Microbiol. 73:1380–2.
- Lim JY, Yoon J, Hovde CJ, 2010. A brief overview of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and its plasmid O157. J Microbiol Biotechnol. 20:5–14.
- Lin C, Preston J, Wei C. 2000a. Antibacterial mechanism of allyl isothiocyanate. J Food Prot. 63:727-34.
- Lin C, Kim J, Du W, Wei C. 2000b. Bactericidal activity of isothiocyanate against pathogens on fresh produce. J Food Prot. 63:25-30.
- Liu T-T, Yang T, 2010. Stability and antimicrobial activity of allyl isothiocyanate during long-term storage in an oil-in-water emulsion. J Food Sci. 75:C445–C451.
- Liu Y, Betti M, Gänzle MG, 2012. High pressure inactivation of *Escherichia coli*, *Campylobacter jejuni*, and spoilage microbiota on poultry meat. J Food Protect.75:497–503.
- Liu B, Mao Q, Lin Y, Zhou F, Xie L, 2013a. The association of cruciferous vegetables intake and risk of bladder cancer: a meta-analysis. World J Urol. 31:127–33.
- Liu B, Mao Q, Wang X, Zhou F, Luo J, Wang C, Lin Y, Zheng X, Xie L, 2013b. Cruciferous vegetables consumption and risk of renal cell carcinoma: a meta-analysis. Nutr Cancer. 65:668–676.
- Liu Y, Mustapha A, 2014. Detection of viable *Escherichia coli* O157 : H7 in ground beef by propidium monoazide real-time PCR. Int J Food Microbiol. 170:48–54.
- Løvdal T, Befring M, Björkblom B, Møller SG, 2011. Propidium monoazide combined with real-time quantitative PCR underestimates heat-killed *Listeria innocua*. J Microbiol

Methods. 85:164-169.

- Lucera A, Costa C, Conte A, Del Nobile M, 2012. Food applications of natural antimicrobial compounds. Front Microbiol. 3:1-13.
- Luciano FB, Belland J, Holley R, 2011. Microbial and chemical origins of the bactericidal activity of thermally treated yellow mustard powder toward *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 during dry sausage ripening. Int J Food Microbiol. 145:69–76.
- Luciano FB, Holley R, 2009. Enzymatic inhibition by allyl isothiocyanate and factors affecting its antimicrobial action against *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. Int J Food Microbiol. 131:240–245.
- Luciano FB, Hosseinian FS, Beta T, Holley R, 2008. Effect of free-SH containing compounds on allyl isothiocyanate antimicrobial activity against *Escherichia coli* O157 : H7. J Food Sci. 73:M214–M220.
- Manesh C, Kuttan G, 2003. Effect of naturally occurring allyl and phenyl isothiocyanates in the inhibition of experimental pulmonary metastasis induced by B16F-10 melanoma cells. Fitoterapia. 74:355–363.
- Martínez-Abad A, Sánchez G, Fuster V, Lagaron JM, Ocio MJ, 2013. Antibacterial performance of solvent cast polycaprolactone (PCL) films containing essential oils. Food Control. 34:214–220.
- Maule A, 2000. Survival of verocytotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* 0157 in soil, water and on surfaces. J Appl Microbiol Symp Suppl. 88:71s–78s.
- Mayer CL, Leibowitz CS, Kurosawa S, Stearns-Kurosawa DJ, 2012. Shiga toxins and the pathophysiology of hemolytic uremic syndrome in humans and animals. Toxins. 4:1261–1287.
- McDonnell G, Russell D, 1999. Antiseptics and disinfectants : activity , action , and resistance. Clin Microbiol Rev. 12:147–179.
- Mele C, Remuzzi G, Noris M, 2014. Hemolytic uremic syndrome. Semin Immunopathol. 36:399–420.
- Miyague L, Macedo REF, Meca G, Holley R, Luciano FB, 2015. Combination of phenolic acids and essential oils against *Listeria monocytogenes*. LWT Food Sci Technol. 64:333–336.
- Morales P, Calzada J, Avila M, Nunez M, 2008. Inactivation of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in ground beef by single-cycle and multiple-cycle high-pressure treatments. J Food Protect. 71: 811-815.
- Mori N, Kurata M, Yamazaki H, Hosokawa H, Nadamoto T, Inoue K, Fushiki T, 2013.

Intragastric administration of allyl isothiocyanate reduces hyperglycemia in intraperitoneal glucose tolerance test (IPGTT) by enhancing blood glucose consumption in mice. J Nutr Sci Vitaminol. 59:56–63.

- Muthukumarasamy P, Han J, Holley R. 2003. Bactericidal effects of *Lactobacillus reuteri* and allyl isothiocyanate on *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in refrigerated ground beef. J Food Protect. 66: 2038-2044.
- Nadarajah D, Han JH, Holley R, 2005a. Inactivation of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in packaged ground beef by allyl isothiocyanate. Int J Food Microbiol. 99:269–279.
- Nadarajah D, Han JH, Holley R, 2005b. Use of mustard flour to inactivate *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in ground beef under nitrogen flushed packaging. Int J Food Microbiol. 99:257–267.
- Naylor SW, Low JC, Besser TE, Mahajan A, Gunn GJ, Pearce M, McKendrick I, Smith D, Gally D, 2003. Lymphoid follicle-dense mucosa at the terminal rectum is the principal site of colonization of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in the bovine host. Infect Immun. 71:1505–12.
- Nielsen P, Rios R, 2000. Inhibition of fungal growth on bread by volatile components from spices and herbs, and the possible application in active packaging, with special emphasis on mustard essential oil. Int J Food Microbiol. 60:219–229.
- Nkuipou-kenfack E, Engel H, Fakih S, Nocker A, 2013. Improving efficiency of viability-PCR for selective detection of live cells. J Microbiol Methods. 93:20–24.
- Nocker A, Camper AK, 2006. Selective removal of DNA from dead cells of mixed bacterial communities by use of ethidium monoazide. Appl Environ Microbiol. 72:1997–2004.
- Nocker A, Cheung C, Camper AK, 2006. Comparison of propidium monoazide with ethidium monoazide for differentiation of live vs . dead bacteria by selective removal of DNA from dead cells. J Microbiol Meth. 67:310–320.
- Nocker A, Sossa KE, Camper AK, 2007. Molecular monitoring of disinfection efficacy using propidium monoazide in combination with quantitative PCR. J Microbiol Meth. 70:252–260.
- Nocker A, Camper AK, 2009. Novel approaches toward preferential detection of viable cells using nucleic acid amplification techniques. FEMS Microbiol Lett. 291:137–142.
- Obaidat MM, Frank JF, 2009a. Inactivation of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 on the intact and damaged portions of lettuce and spinach leaves by using allyl isothiocyanate, carvacrol, and cinnamaldehyde in vapor phase. J Food Prot. 72:2046–2055.

Obaidat MM, Frank JF, 2009b. Inactivation of Salmonella and Escherichia coli O157:H7 on

sliced and whole tomatoes by allyl isothiocyanate, carvacrol, and cinnamaldehyde in vapor phase. J Food Prot. 72:315–24.

- Obrig T, Karpman D, 2012. Shiga toxin pathogenesis: kidney complications and renal failure. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol. 357:105-136.
- Ogden ID, Fenlon DR, Vinten AJ, Lewis D, 2001. The fate of *Escherichia coli* O157 in soil and its potential to contaminate drinking water. Int J Food Microbiol. 66:111–117.
- Olaimat AN, Fang Y, Holley R, 2014. Inhibition of *Campylobacter jejuni* on fresh chicken breasts by κ-carrageenan/chitosan-based coatings containing allyl isothiocyanate or deodorized oriental mustard extract. Int J Food Microbiol. 187:77–82.
- Olaimat AN, Holley R, 2013. Effects of changes in pH and temperature on the inhibition of *Salmonella* and *Listeria monocytogenes* by allyl isothiocyanate. Food Control. 34:414–419.
- Olaimat AN, Holley R, 2014. Inhibition of *Listeria monocytogenes* and *Salmonella* by Combinations of Oriental Mustard, Malic Acid, and EDTA. J Food Sci. 79:M614–M621.
- Olivier C, Vaughn SF, Mizubuti ESG, Loria R, 1999. Variation in allyl isothiocyanate production within *Brassica* species and correlation with fungicidal activity. J Chem Ecol. 25:2687–2701.
- Olsen S, Miller G, Breuer T, Kennedy M, Higgins C, Walford J, McKee G, Fox K, Bibb W, Mead P. 2002. A waterborne outbreak of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infections and hemolytic uremic syndrome: implications for rural water systems. Emerg Infect Dis. 8: 370-375.
- Pacholewicz E, Swart A, Lipman LJ, Wagenaar J, Havelaar AH, Duim B, 2013. Propidium monoazide does not fully inhibit the detection of dead Campylobacter on broiler chicken carcasses by qPCR. J Microbiol Methods. 95:32–38.
- Palaniappan K, Holley R, 2010. Use of natural antimicrobials to increase antibiotic susceptibility of drug resistant bacteria. Int J Food Microbiol. 140:164–168.
- Pan Y, Breidt F, 2007. Enumeration of viable *Listeria monocytogenes* cells by real-time PCR with propidium monoazide and ethidium monoazide in the presence of dead cells. Appl Environ Microbiol. 73:8028–8031.
- Pang Y-H, Zhang L, Zhou S, Yam KL, Liu L, Sheen S, 2015. Growth behavior prediction of fresh catfish fillet with *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* under stresses of allyl isothiocyanate, temperature and modified atmosphere. Food Control. 47:326–333.
- Park CM, Taormina PJ, Beuchat LR, 2000. Efficacy of allyl isothiocyanate in killing enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 on alfalfa seeds. Int J Food Microbiol. 56:13– 20.

- Perricone M, Arace E, Corbo M, Sinigalia M, Bevilacqua A, 2015. Bioactivity of essential oils: a review on their interaction with food components. Front Food Microbiol. 6:1-7.
- Piercey MJ, Mazzanti G, Budge SM, Delaquis PJ, Paulson AT, Hansen L, 2012. Antimicrobial activity of cyclodextrin entrapped allyl isothiocyanate in a model system and packaged fresh-cut onions. Food Microbiol. 30:213–218.
- [PHAC] Public Health Agency of Canada. 2012. *Listeria monocytogenes*; [accessed 2016 March 10]. http://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/lab-bio/res/psds-ftss/listeria-monocytogenes-eng.php
- Rahman M, 2007. Handbook of Food Preservation. 2nd Ed. CRC Press: Boca Raton FL. Chapter 7, Postharvest handling of red meat; p.181.
- Rangel JM, Sparling PH, Crowe C, Griffin PM, Swerdlow DL, 2005. Epidemiology of *Escherichia coli* Outbreaks, United States, 1982 2002. Emerg Infect Disease. 11, 603-609.
- Rantsiou K, Cocolin L, 2006. New developments in the study of the microbiota of naturally fermented sausages as determined by molecular methods: A review. Int J Food Microbiol. 108:255–267.
- Raouche S, Mauricio-Iglesias M, Peyron S, Guillard V, Gontard N, 2011. Combined effect of high pressure treatment and anti-microbial bio-sourced materials on microorganisms' growth in model food during storage. Innov Food Sci Emerg Technol. 12:426–434.
- Rhee M, Lee S, Dougherty RH, Kang D, 2003. Antimicrobial effects of mustard flour and acetic acid against *Escherichia coli* O157: H7, *Listeria monocytogenes*, and *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium. Appl Environm Microbiol. 69:2959–2963.
- Rossen L, Norskov P, Hoimstrom K, Rasmussen OF, 1992. Inhibition of PCR by components of food samples , microbial diagnostic assays and DNA-extraction solutions. Int J Food Microbiol. 17:37-45.
- Saleemi ZO, Janitha PK, Wanasundara PD, Shahidi F, 1993. Effects of low-pungency ground mustard seed on oxidative stability, cooking yield, and color characteristics of comminuted Pork. J Agric Food Chem. 41:641–643.
- Schirmer BC, Langsrud S, 2010. Evaluation of natural antimicrobials on typical meat spoilage bacteria *in vitro* and in vacuum-packed pork meat. J Food Sci. 75:M98–M102.
- Schrader C, Schielke A, Ellerbroek L, Johne R, 2012. PCR inhibitors occurrence, properties and removal. J Appl Microbiol. 113: 1014-1026.
- Sekiyama Y, Mizukami Y, Takada A, Numata S. 1994. Vapor pressure and stability of allyl isothiocyanate. J Food Hyg Soc Japan. 35: 365-70.
- Seo HS, Bang J, Kim H, Beuchat LR, Cho SY, Ryu J, 2012. Development of an antimicrobial

sachet containing encapsulated allyl isothiocyanate to inactivate *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 on spinach leaves. Int J Food Microbiol. 159:136–143.

- Shin IS, Han JS, Choi K-D, Chung DH, Choi GP, Ahn J, 2010a. Effect of isothiocyanates from horseradish (*Armoracia rusticana*) on the quality and shelf life of tofu. Food Control. 21:1081–1086.
- Shin J, Harte B, Ryser E, Selke S, 2010b. Active packaging of fresh chicken breast, with allyl isothiocyanate (AITC) in combination with modified atmosphere packaging (MAP) to control the growth of pathogens. J Food Sci. 75:M65–M71.
- Shofran BG, Purrington ST, Breidt F, Fleming HP, 1998. Antimicrobial properties of sinigrin and its hydrolysis products. J Food Sci. 63:1996–1999.
- Siahaan EA, Meillisa A, Woo HC, Lee CW, Han JH, Chun BS, 2013. Controlled release of allyl isothiocyanate from brown algae *Laminaria japonica* and mesoporous silica MCM-41 for inhibiting food-borne bacteria. Food Sci Biotechnol. 22:19–24.
- Siahaan EA, Pendleton P, Woo HC, Chun BS, 2014. Brown seaweed (*Saccharina japonica*) as an edible natural delivery matrix for allyl isothiocyanate inhibiting food-borne bacteria. Food Chem. 152:11–17.
- Sidari R, Caridi A, 2011. Methods for detecting enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* in Food. Food Rev Int. 27:134–153.
- Simons C, Carstens M, Carstens E, 2003. Oral irritation by mustard oil: self-desensitization and cross-desensitization with capsaicin. Chem Senses. 28: 459-465.
- Singh A, Singh R, Bhunia A, Singh N, 2003. Efficacy of plant essential oils as antimicrobial agents against *Listeria monocytogenes* in hotdogs. Lebensm Wiss Technol. 36:787-794.
- Skutlarek D, Färber H, Lippert F, Ulbrich A, Wawrzun A, Buning-Pfaue H, 2004. Determination of glucosinolate profiles in Chinese vegetables by precursor ion scan and multiple reaction monitoring scan mode (LC-MS / MS). Eur Food Res Technol. 219:643–649.
- Sloan A, 2014. The top ten functional food trends. Food Technol. 68: 22-45.
- Smelt JPPM, Otten GD, Bos AP, 2002. Modelling the effect of sublethal injury on the distribution of the lag times of individual cells of Lactobacillus plantarum. Int J Food Microbiol. 73:207–212.
- Smith T, Lund E, Clarke R, Bennett R, Johnson I, 2005. Effects of Brussels sprout juice on the cell cycle and adhesion of human colorectal carcinoma cells (HT29) in vitro. J Agric Food Chem. 53: 3895-3901.
- Smith-Palmer A, Stewart J, Fyfe L, 2001. The potential application of plant essential oils as

natural food preservatives in soft cheese. Food Microbiol. 18:463-470.

- Sockett P, Goebel SE, Varela NP, Guthrie A, Wilson J, Guilbault L, Clark W, 2014. Verotoxigenic *Escherichia coli*: costs of illness in canada, including long-term health outcomes. J Food Prot. 77:216–226.
- Srivastava SK, 2003. Allyl isothiocyanate, a' constituent of cruciferous vegetables, inhibits growth of PC-3 human prostate cancer xenografts in vivo. Carcinogenesis. 24:1665–1670.
- Stephens PJ, Joynson J, Davies KW, Holbrook R, Lappin-Scott HM, Humphrey T, 1997. The use of an automated growth analyser to measure recovery times of single heat-injured *Salmonella* cells. J Appl Microbiol. 83:445–455.
- Sultana T, Savage GP, McNeil DL, Porter NG, Martin RJ, Deo B, 2002. Effects of fertilisation on the allyl isothiocyanate profile of above-ground tissues of New Zealand-grown wasabi. J Sci Food Agric. 82:1477–1482.
- Sultana T, Savage GP, Porter NG, Mcneil DL, Sedcole JR, 2009. Shelf life studies of three wasabi flavoured sauces. Bangladesh J Sci Ind Res. 44:147–156.
- Szmigielska AM, Schoenau JJ, Levers V, 2000. Determination of glucosinolates in canola seeds using anion exchange membrane extraction combined with the high-pressure liquid chromatography detection. J Agric Food Chem. 48:4487–4491.
- Szych J, Wolkowicz T, La Ragione R, Madajczak G. 2014. Impact of antibiotics on the intestinal microbiota and on the treatment of shiga-toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella* infections. Curr Pharm Des. 20: 4535-48.
- Tabasco R, Pela C, Requena T, 2009. Simultaneous detection and enumeration of viable lactic acid bacteria and bifidobacteria in fermented milk by using propidium monoazide and real-time PCRs. Int Dairy J. 19:405–409.
- Tarr PI, 1995. *Escherichia coli* O157: H7 : Clinical, Diagnostic, and Epidemiological Aspects of Human Infection. Clin Infect Dis. 20:1–10.
- Taskin B, Gozen AG, Duran M, 2011. Selective quantification of viable *Escherichia coli* bacteria in biosolids by quantitative PCR with propidium monoazide modification. Appl Environ Microbiol. 77:4329–4335.
- Thomas MK, Murray R, Flockhart L, Pintar K, Pollari F, Fazil A, Nesbitt A, Marshall B, 2013. Estimates of the burden of foodborne illness in Canada for 30 specified pathogens and unspecified agents, circa 2006. Foodborne Pathog Dis. 10:639–48.
- Tibayrenc P, Preziosi-Belloy L, Ghommidh C, 2011. Single-cell analysis of *S-cerevisiae* growth recovery after a sublethal heat-stress applied during an alcoholic fermentation. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol. 38: 687-696.

- Tiwari B, Valdramitis V, O'Donnell C, Muthukumarappan K, Bourke P, Cullen P, 2009. Application of Natural Antimicrobials for Food Preservation. J Agric Food Chem. 57: 5987-6000.
- Tsai S, Huang WW, Huang WC, Lu C, Chiang J, Peng S, Chung J, Lin Y, Hsu Y, Amagaya S, Yang JS, 2012. ERK-modulated intrinsic signaling and G2/M phase arrest contribute to the induction of apoptotic death by allyl isothiocyanate in MDA-MB-468 human breast adenocarcinoma cells. Int J Oncol. 2:2065–2072.
- Tsao R, Yu Q, Friesen I, Potter J, Chiba M, 2000. Factors affecting the dissolution and degradation of oriental mustard-derived sinigrin and allyl isothiocyanate in aqueous media. J Agric Food Chem. 48:1898–1902.
- Turgis M, Han J, Caillet S, Lacroix M, 2009. Antimicrobial activity of mustard essential oil against *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and *Salmonella* typhi. Food Control. 20:1073–1079.
- Tuttle J, Gomez T, Doyle MP, Wells G, Zhao T, Tauxe RV, Griffin PM, 1999. Lessons from a large outbreak of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infections: insights into the infectious dose and method of widespread contamination of hamburger patties. Epidemiol Infect. 122:185-192.
- [USDA] The United States Department of Agriculture, 2012. Shiga toxinproducing *Escherichia coli* in certain raw beef products. Federal Register, Volume 77, pp. 31975–31981. [Accessed on 2015 Sept 20]. <u>http://www.fsis.usda.gov/OPPDE/rdad/FRPubs/2010-0023FRN.pdf</u>
- [USDA] The United States Department of Agriculture, 2014. Agency Response Letter GRAS notice; [Accessed on 2015 Sept 20]. <u>http://www.fda.gov/Food/IngredientsPackagingLabeling/GRAS/NoticeInventory/ucm15462</u> <u>9.htm</u>
- [USDA] The United States Department of Agriculture, 2015a. Microbiology laboratory guidebook; [Accessed 2015 Nov 1]. <u>http://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/portal/fsis/topics/science/laboratories-andprocedures/guidebooks-and-methods/microbiology-laboratory-guidebook/microbiologylaboratory-guidebook</u>
- [USDA] The United States Department of Agriculture, 2015b. Safe and suitable ingredients used in the production of meat, poultry and egg products; [Accessed 2015 Nov 1]. http://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/wcm/connect/bab10e09-aefa-483b-8be8-809a1f051d4c/7120.1.pdf?MOD=AJPERES
- [USDA] The United States Department of Agriculture, 2015c. Sampling Requirements to Demonstrate Process Control in Slaughter Operations 2/18/2015 Inspection Methods 25-1 Sampling Requirements to Demonstrate Process Control in Slaughter Operations; [Accessed on 2015 Sept 19]. <u>http://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/wcm/connect/0b0fb57d-c23d-4b26-913e-499dd99aca86/26 IM PR Generic Ecoli.pdf?MOD=AJPERES</u>

- Valentin-bon I, Jacobson A, Monday SR, Feng PC, 2008. Microbiological quality of bagged cut spinach and lettuce mixes. Appl Environ Microbiol. 74:1240–1242.
- Van Eylen D, Oey I, Hendrickx M, Van Loey A, 2008. Behavior of mustard seed (Sinapis alba L.) myrosinase during temperature/pressure treatments: a case study on enzyme activity and stability. Eur Food Res Technol. 226: 545-553.
- Villarreal M, Padilha M, Diogo A, Vieira S, Franco B, Martinez R, Saad S, 2013. Advantageous direct quantification of viable closely related probiotics in petit-suisse cheeses under in vitro gastrointestinal conditions by propidium monoazide qPCR. PLoS ONE. 8:e82102.
- Wagner AO, Malin C, Knapp BA, Illmer P, 2008. Removal of free extracellular DNA from environmental samples by ethedium monoazide and propidium monoazide. Appl Environ Microbiol. 74:2537–2539.
- Wagner AE, Boesch-Saadatmandi C, Dose J, Schultheiss G, Rimbach G, 2012. Antiinflammatory potential of allyl-isothiocyanate - role of Nrf2, NF-κB and microRNA-155. J Cell Mol Med. 16:836–843.
- Walter J, Tannock G, Timisjarvi A, Rodtong S, Loach D, Munro K, Alatossava T, 2000. Detection and identification of gastrointestinal *Lactobacillus* species by using denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis and species-specific PCR primers. Appl Environ Microbiol. 66: 297-303.
- Wang F, Yang Q, Kase J, Meng J, Clotide L, Lin A, Ge B, 2013a. Current trends in detection non-O157 shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* in Food. Foodborne Pathog Dis. 10:665-677.
- Wang Y, Ametaj B, Ambrose D, Gänzle M, 2013b. Characterisation of the bacterial microbiota of the vagina of dairy cows and isolation of pediocin-producing *Pediococcus acidilactici*. BMC Microbiol. 13:19.
- Wang H, Gill CO, Yang X, 2014. Development of a real-time PCR procedure for quantification of viable *Escherichia coli* in populations of *E*. *coli* exposed to lactic acid, and the acid tolerance of verotoxigenic *E*. *coli* (VTEC) from cattle hides. Food Control. 43:104–109.
- Ward SM, Delaquis PJ, Holley R, Mazza G, 1998. Inhibition of spoilage and pathogenic bacteria on agar and pre-cooked roast beef by volatile horseradish distillates. Food Res Int. 31:19–26.
- Weissinger W, McWatters K, Beuchat L, 2001. Evaluation of volatile chemical treatments for lethality to *Salmonella* on alfalfa seeds and sprouts. J Food Protect. 64: 442-450.
- [WHO] World Health Organization, 2006. Safety evaluation of certain food additives, WHO

food additive series 56. Alden Group, Oxfordshire, Europe. p.243.

- [WHO] World Health Organization, 2015. Enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli*; [Accessed 2015 Nov 1]. <u>http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs125/en/</u>
- Willshaw G, Thirlwell J, Jones P, Parry S, Salmon RL, Hickey M, 1994. Vero cytotoxinproducing *Escherichia coli* O157 in beefburgers linked to an outbreak of diarrhoea, haemorrhagic colitis and haemolytic uraemic syndrome in Britain. Lett Appl Microbiol. 19:304–307.
- Winther M, Nielsen PV, 2006. Active packaging of cheese with allyl isothiocyanate, an alternative to modified atmosphere packaging. J Food Prot. 69:2430–5.
- Wong ML, Medrano JF, 2005. Real-time PCR for mRNA quantitation. Biotechniques. 39:1-11.
- Wong YS, 2010. Allyl isothiocyanate induces G2/M arrest in human colorectal adenocarcinoma SW620 cells through down-regulation of Cdc25B and Cdc25C. Mol Med Rep.1023–1030.
- Wu SY, Hulme J, An SS, 2015. Recent trends in the detection of pathogenic *Escherichia coli* O157 : H7. BioChip J. 9:173–181.
- Xiang J, Alesi GN, Zhou N, Keep RF, 2012. Protective effects of isothiocyanates on blood-CSF barrier disruption induced by oxidative stress. AJP Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 303:R1–R7.
- Xiao D, Srivastava S, Lew K, Zeng Y, Hershberger P, Johnson C, Trump D, Singh S, 2003. Allyl isothiocyanate, a constituent of cruciferous vegetables, inhibits proliferation of human prostate cancer cells by causing G2/M arrest and inducing apoptosis. Carcinogenesis. 24:891–897.
- Yáñez MA, Nocker A, Soria-soria E, Múrtula R, Martínez L, Catalan V, 2011. Quantification of viable *Legionella pneumophila* cells using propidium monoazide combined with quantitative PCR. J Microbiol Methods. 85:124–130.
- Yang X, Badoni M, Gill CO, 2011. Use of propidium monoazide and quantitative PCR for differentiation of viable *Escherichia coli* from *E* . *coli* killed by mild or pasteurizing heat treatments. Food Microbiol. 28:1478–1482.
- Yang X, Badoni M, Wang H, Gill CO, 2014. Effects of mild and pasteurizing heat treatments on survival of generic and verotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* from beef enrichment cultures. Food Control. 39:100–104.
- Yeung R, Morris J, 2001. Food Safety Risk: Consumer perception and purchase behavior. British Food Journal. 103: 170-186.
- Youssef MK, Yang X, Badoni M, Gill CO, 2012. Effects of spray volume, type of surface tissue and inoculum level on the survival of *Escherichia coli* on beef sprayed with 5% lactic acid.

Food Control. 25:717–722.

- Yun J, Fan X, Li X, 2013. Inactivation of *Salmonella enterica* serovar typhimurium and quality maintenance of cherry tomatoes treated with gaseous essential oils. J Food Sci. 78:458–464.
- Zasada IA, Ferris H, 2004. Nematode suppression with brassicaceous amendments : application based upon glucosinolate profiles. Soil Biol Biochem. 36:1017–1024.
- Zrybko CL, Fukuda E, Rosen R, 1997. Determination of glucosinolates in domestic and wild mustard by high-performance liquid chromatography with confirmation by electrospray mass spectrometry and photodiode-array detection. 767:43–52.